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Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated is the largest independent Coca-Cola
bottler in the United States. We are a leader in manufacturing, marketing
and distribution of soft drinks. With corporate offices in Charlotte, N.C.,
we have operations in 11 states, primarily in the Southeast. The Company

has one of the highest per capita soft drink consumption rates in the world
and manages bottling territories with a consumer base of approximately

20 million people. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated is listed on the

NASDAQ Stock Market (Global Select Market) under the symbol COKE.

[e] o o [e] o o

o o / o
o o (o] o o o
[ [°] o [ [*] o
o o o o o o

(Y
<Y,

This annual report is
7o printed on recycled paper.



ear Shareholders,

Since our founding in 1902, Coca-Cola
Bottling Co. Consolidated has focused
on building strong relationships that
have helped us grow and thrive through
the years. These associations are the
foundation of our continued success and
led to another solid performance in 2011.

Our key relationships include:

e Our Shareholders

e Our Customers and Consumers
e Our Employees

e Our Communities

e Qur Business Partners

OUR SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to creating
long-term value for its shareholders. Our
operating results for 2011 reflect another
strong year in the face of significant
challenges, including a slowly recovering
economy, increases and volatility in key
raw material costs, and consumers who
are struggling economically and therefore

seeking greater value.

The Company reported net income of
$28.6 million, or basic net income per
share of $3.11, compared to net income
of $36.1 million, or basic net income per
share of $3.93, in 2010. Several unusual
items impacted the comparability of
earnings between 2011 and 2010. Our
2011 results include non-cash losses on
our hedging programs of $4.1 million
net of tax, or $0.45 per share, and net

unfavorable adjustments to income tax
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expense of $0.6 million, or $0.06 per
share. Our 2010 results included non-
cash losses on our hedging programs
of $3.2 million net of tax, or $0.35 per
share; an after-tax gain from the impact
of the Nashville flood of $0.6 million,
or $0.06 per share; and favorable

adjustments to income tax expense of
$1.0 million, or $0.11 per share. Excluding
these unusual items, net income and
basic net income per share for 2011 were
$33.3 million and $3.62 compared to
$37.7 million and $4.11 for 2010.

In 2011, the Company continued
its focus on key areas that drive our

business, including product innovation,

our distribution system, productivity and
expense management. We had positive
volume growth and solid performances
across our primary channels, particularly
the value channel, which is consistent
with the current value orientation of
consumer sentiment. We boosted 2011
sales in home market channels with
innovative packaging such as the new

1.25-liter bottle, four-pack cans and the

reintroduction of six-pack cans. We also
evolved our immediate consumption
strategy in convenience stores to a three-

package offering.

The Company experienced significant

increases in the cost of key raw materials
in 2011, including sweetener, fuel and

resin for our bottles. A combination of

price increases and operating efficiency Dedicated employees

improvements helped offset the majority and new packaging

. . contributed to a solid
of these increases. We operate in a
2011 performance.

highly competitive consumer segment

in which passing along increased costs is
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CCBCC is focused on
innovation, consumer

preferences and

customer service.

extremely challenging. This magnifies the
importance of continuing innovation to
improve our supply chain and produce
and deliver our products more efficiently.
During 2011, we continued our process
of consolidating distribution facilities

to drive additional economies of scale.
We further leveraged our transportation
fleet, increasing utilization by expanding

the scope of work we do for third parties.

The Company experienced very positive
results in 2011 from its proprietary
branded Tum-E Yummies product.

This vitamin-enhanced drink now has
distribution in approximately 95 percent
of the U.S. — primarily through other
Coca-Cola bottlers — and is ranked
second in its category in the convenience

retail channel.

Another key element in driving value for
our shareholders has been strengthening
the Company'’s financial position.

The Company has benefited through

the years from strategic investments,
including the acquisition of additional
Coca-Cola distribution rights, and we
generated $29 million of free cash flow
in 2011. The Company has focused on
reducing its long-term debt in the past
decade and is now well-positioned to
take advantage of strategic opportunities
that may arise. In the past 10 years, we
have reduced our long-term debt, net of

cash, by approximately $500 million.

OUR CUSTOMERS AND
CONSUMERS

We are most fortunate to sell the
greatest brands in the world. However,
we are very aware that consumer

tastes and preferences evolve, so it is

imperative that we continue to innovate
and deliver products that our customers

and consumers want.

During the economic downturn,
consumers have become increasingly
value-conscious. We responded with new
packaging and price points, such as the
three-package strategy in our immediate
consumption channel. The three-package
strategy includes our new 12.5-ounce
package at an $0.89 price point, along
with our 16- and 24-ounce packages.
Similar to the consumer reaction when
we introduced the 16-ounce in 2008, the
new 12.5-ounce package has generated
incremental sales and important trial

from consumers.

The Company has focused
on reducing its long-term
debt in the past decade
and is now well-positioned
to take advantage of
strategic opportunities

that may arise.

We also unveiled the 1.25-liter as a

new value package in the home market
channel. This package has generally been
priced at $0.99 and has proven very
popular with our customers as a way to
provide our shared consumers with a new

product at an attractive price.

Consistent with this value approach, we
offered four-pack cans with retail pricing
from $0.99 — $1.19 as an in-and-out



promotional item for the convenience
store channel. And, we began selling
six-pack cans in conjunction with 12-
pack cans on an everyday basis in
convenience stores — again giving the
consumer more choices and a lower

price point.

What our customers think is very
important to us. A couple years ago, we
implemented our Right Execution Daily
(RED) program to measure in-outlet
execution and customer service. Our

customer service execution is evaluated

by company management, and customer
service satisfaction is determined by
customers’ survey responses. Our 2011
results showed continuous improvement
in our in-outlet execution, and more than
98 percent of the time our customers are
satisfied or very satisfied with our sales
and delivery service. We believe the
work we are doing to elevate the quality
of our in-outlet execution, and to better
communicate with our customers and
understand their needs, has contributed
to our strong financial performance

in 2011.
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Our community involvement

takes many forms.

OUR EMPLOYEES

The Company currently has more than
6,100 full- and part-time employees
concentrated mainly in 11 states across
the southeastern U.S. A highly motivated
and well-trained workforce is essential to
our ongoing success. We are fortunate
to have many long-serving employees
who have a wealth of knowledge and
capability relating to our customers and
consumers, as well as our operations. We
also continue to recruit new people to
ensure we have a broad array of talent

with current and relevant skill sets.

Annually, our employees volunteer
thousands of hours, and we support
and encourage them to be active in
our communities. We also manage and
coordinate many community service
activities through Coke Cares — our
stewardship program that encourages
employees to share their time, talents

and treasures.

OUR COMMUNITIES

The Company is active in the
communities in which our employees live
and serve. We believe that giving back
is part of our mission to serve others.
Community involvement takes many
forms including recycling, conservation
and sustainability, in addition to
supporting people and organizations.

As a Company, we provide ongoing
support to many nonprofit organizations

within our territory.

An important part of our Purpose
Statement is to help meet the physical,
emotional and spiritual needs of the
communities where we live and do
business and beyond. Our goal is

to assist nonprofit organizations by
providing resources enabling them to

meet diverse needs.

Our Company has always had a strong

commitment to operate as efficiently



as possible, including our use of natural
resources such as water, energy and
packaging materials. Our sustainability
initiatives extend throughout our entire
Company. We are a leader in several
sustainability categories in the Coca-Cola

system, including using the least amount

Annually, our employees
volunteer thousands
of hours, and we
support and encourage
them to be active in

our communities.

of water to produce each liter of product.

And in 2011, we reduced the amount of
waste sent to landfills by approximately

50 percent.

OUR BUSINESS PARTNERS

A major contributor to our ongoing
success has been the relationships
with our many great business partners.
We work closely with The Coca-Cola
Company in all aspects of our business
including product development,
marketing and customer relationships.
Our relationship with The Coca-Cola
Company dates back to our founding
in 1902 and is critical to our ability to
continue bringing the best products

in the world to our customers and
consumers. We also have a close
relationship with the other Coca-Cola
bottlers in the U.S. and with other
beverage companies, including

Dr Pepper and Monster, whose
products we distribute in certain parts

of our franchise territory.

In closing, we are pleased with our 2011
performance, which reflects the hard

work of many and the strength of our

\
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Sustainability initiatives
extend throughout CCBCC.
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— aforementioned relationships. We look world, we will continue to innovate, deliver

s forward to 2012 and the opportunity to value for our customers and consumers,
continue building on these relationships and operate more efficiently — all while
and growing shareholder value. Many serving our important constituencies.

of the same issues we faced in 2011

will continue in 2012, including slow We remain committed to our Purpose
economic recovery, higher prices for key Statement and its primary goals of

raw materials, a highly competitive retail honoring God in all we do, serving
environment and consumers who are others, pursuing excellence and growing
very value-oriented. We believe we are profitably. We believe that we achieved all
well-prepared for these challenges. As these goals during 2011 and will strive to
stewards of the greatest brands in the do so each and every year.

Y Al (b Bo_

J. Frank Harrison, lll William B. Elmore
Chairman of the Board and President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Operating Officer

We strive to offer

consumers more products
and various price points.
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PART I

Item 1. Business
Introduction

Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated, a Del asre corporation (together wthits najoritsyomed subsidiaries,
t he Conpany, produces, narkets and distributes nonal coholic beverages, prinarilyproducts of The Coca-Col a
ConpanyAtlanta, Georgia (The Coca-Col a Conpany, hi ch i ncl ude sone of the nost recogni ezd and popul ar
beverage brands in the orld. The Conpanyhich ss incorporated in 1980, and its predecessors have been in
the nonal coholic beverage manufacturing and distribution business since 1902. The Conpanyis the largest
independent Coca-Colabottler inthe Lhited States.

As of Januaryl, 2012, The Coca-Cola Conpanyhad a 34.8% interest in the Conpany outstanding
Common St ock, representing 5.1% of the total voting powr of the Conpany Common Stock and Class B
Common St ock voting together as a single class. The Coca-Col a Conpanydoes not owanyshares of Class B
Common Stock of the ConpanyJ. Frank Harrison, III, the Conpany Chairnan of the Board and Chief
Ercutive Officer, currentlyoms or controls approknatel y85% of the conbined voting powr of the Conpany
out st andi ng Common St ock and Cl ass B Common St ock.

General
Nonal cohol i c beverage product s can be broken dowinto twcategories:

» Sparkling beverages -beverages it h carbonation, i ncl udi ng ener gydrinks; and

*Still beverages —beverages wthout carbonation, including bottled mter, tea, readsto-drink coffee,
enhanced ster, juices and sports drinks.

Sales of sparkling beverages wre approknmatel y83%, 83% and 84% of total net sales for fiscal 2011
(2011, fiscal 2010 (2010Y and fiscal 2009 (2009), respectivel ySales of still beverages sre approknately
17%, 17% and 16% of total net sales for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel y

The Conpanyhol ds Col a Beverage Agreenents and Allied Beverage Agreenents under kich it produces,
distributes and markets, in certain regions, sparkling beverage products of The Coca-Cola Conpany The
Conpanyal so holds Still Beverage Agreenents under Wich it distributes and nmarkets in certain regions still
beverages of The Coca-Cola Conpanysuch as POWERade, vitam nster and Mnute Mid Juices To G and
produces, distributes and narkets Dasani ster products.

The Conpanyhol ds agreenents to produce, distribute and narket Dr Pepper in sone of its regions. The
Conpanyal so distributes and markets various ot her products, i ncludi ng Mnster Ener gyproduct s and Sundrop, in
one or nore of the Conpany regions under agreenents wth the conpanies that hold and license the use of their
trademarks for these beverages. In addition, the Conpanyproduces beverages for other Coca-Cola bottlers. In
sone instances, the Conpanyi stributes beverages ithout a mitten agreenent.

The Conpany principal sparkling beverage is Coca-Cola. In each of the last three fiscal gars, sales of
products bearing the Coca-Cola”or Coke”tradenark have accounted for nore than half of the Conpany
bottle/can volune toretail custoners. Intotal, products of The Coca-Col a Conpanyaccount ed for approknatel y
88% of the Conpany bottle/can volune toretail custoners during 2011, 2010 and 2009.

The Conpanyffers a range of flavors designedto neet the denands of the Conpany consuners. The nain
packaging materials for the Conpany beverages are plastic bottles and al unmi numcans. I'n addi tion, the Conpany
provides restaurants and other immediate consunption outlets ith fountain products (Post-ni ¥ Fountain
products are dispensed through equi pnent that mi&s the fountain syup ith carbonated or still smter, enabling
fountainretailers tosell finished products toconsuners incups or glasses.

Over the last five and a hal f yars, the Conpanyhas devel oped and begun to market and distribute certain
products hich it oms. These products include CountryBreee tea, TumE Yunmies, a vitam n-C enhanced
flavored drink, Bean & Bodyoffee beverage and Fuel in a Bottle posr shots. The Conpanynarkets and sells
these products nationally



The Coca-Col a Conpanyacquired Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc. (CCEY on Gctober 2, 2010. In connection
wh the transaction, CCE changed its nane to Coca-Cola Refreshnents USA, Inc. (CCRy and transferred its
beverage operations outside of North Anerica to an independent third partyAs a result of the transaction, the
North Arerican operations of CCE are nowncluded in CCR CCE began distributing TumE Yurmies in the
first quarter of 2010 and CCRis continuingto dosonationallyCertainother Coca-Cola franchise bottlers are also
distributing the TumE Yunmi es product. References to CCRTefer to CCRand CCE as it eksted prior to the
acqui sition bylhe Coca-Col a Conpany

The followng table sets forth sone of the Conpany nost inportant products, including both products that
The Coca-Cola Conpanyand other beverage conpanies have licensed to the Conpanyand products that the
Conpanyoms .
The Coca-Cola Company

Sparkling Beverages

Products Licensed

(including Energy by Other Beverage Company Owned
Products) Still Beverages Companies Products

Coca-Col a glacéu smartster Dr Pepper TumE Yommi es
Diet Coke glacéu vitam nat er Diet Dr Pepper CountryBreee tea
Coca-Col a Zero Dasani Sundr op Bean & Body
Sprite Dasani Flavors Mnster Ener gy Fuel ina Bottle
Fanta Fl avors POVERade product s
Sprite Zero POVERade Zero
Mllo Yello Mnute Mid Adul t
CherryCoke Refreshnent s

Seagrans G nger Ale
CherryCoke Zero
Diet Coke Spl enda
Fresca

Pibb Xra

Bargs Root Beer
TAB

Mnute Mid Juices

To G
Nestea
Gl dPeak tea
FWE
V8 juice products
fromCanpbel 1

Full Throttle
NS ®

Beverage Agreements

The Conpanyhol ds contracts ith The Coca-Col a Conpanyhi ch entitle the Conpanyto produce, market
anddistributeinits exlusive territorylhe Coca-Col a Conpany nonal coholic beverages inbottles, cans and five
gallon pressuried pre-m xcontainers. The Conpanyhas simlar arrangenents wh Dr Pepper Snapple G oup,

Inc. and ot her beverage conpanies.

Cola and Allied Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

The Conpanypur chases concentrates fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyand produces, narkets and distributes its
principal sparkling beverage products wthinits territories under twbasic forns of beverage agreenents ith The
Coca-Col a Conpany (i ) beverage agreenents that cover sparkling beverages bearing the trademark Coca-Col a’or
Coke”(the Coca-Col a Trademark Beverages”and Cola Beverage Agreenents), and (ii) beverage agreenents
that cover other sparkling beverages of The Coca-Cola Conpany(the Allied Beverages”and Allied Beverage
Agreenents) (referred to collectivelyin this report as the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents), al though in
sone instances the Conpanydi stributes sparkling beverages it hout a mitten agreenent. The Conpanyi s a partto
Col a Beverage Agreenents and Allied Beverage Agreenents for various specifiedterritories.

Cola Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

Exclusivity. 'The Col a Beverage Agreenent s provide that the Conpanyil I purchaseits entire requirenents
of concentrates or syups for Coca-Col a Trademark Beverages fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyat prices, terns of

2



payent, and other terns and conditions of suppl ydeterm ned fromtine-to-tine bylhe Coca-Col a Conpanyat

its sole discretion. The Conpanymaynot produce, distribute, or handle cola products other than those of The
Coca-Col a Conpany The Conpanyhas the exlusi ve right to manufacture and distribute Coca-Cola Tradenark
Beverages for sale in authoried containers wthinits territories. The Coca-Col a Conpanymaydetermne, at its
sole discretion, hat tpes of containers are authoried for use wth products of The Coca-Cola Conpany The
Conpanymaynot sell Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages outsideits territories.

Company Obligations. 'The Conpanyis obligatedto:

emintain such plant and equipnent, staff and distribution and vending facilities that are capable of
manufacturing, packaging, and distributing Coca-Col a Trademark Beverages in accordance wth the Col a
Beverage Agreenents and in sufficient quantities to satisfyfullythe denand for these beverages inits
territories;

e undertake adequate qualitycontrol neasures and maintain sanitation standards prescribed byThe Coca-
Col a Conpany

e devel op, stimul ate and satisfyullthe denand for Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages inits territories;

euse all approved neans and spend such funds on advertising and other forns of nmarketing as nmaybe
reasonabl yequired to satisfythat objective; and

e maintain such sound financial capacityas maybe reasonabl ynecessaryto ensure its performance of its
obligations to The Coca-Col a Conpany

The Conpanyis required to neet annuallyith The Coca-Cola Conpanyto present its narketing,
managenent, and advertising plans for the Coca-Cola Tradenark Beverages for the upcoming yar, including
financial plans shoing that the Conpanyhas the consolidated financial capacityto performits duties and
obligations to The Coca-Cola Conpany The Coca-Col a Conpanymaynot unreasonabl yit hhold approval of
such plans. If the Conpanycarries out its plans in all material respects, the Conpanyirl 1 be deened to have
satisfied its obligations to develop, stimilate, and satisfyfullythe demand for the Coca-Cola Trademark
Beverages and to maintain the requisite financial capacityFailure to carryut such plans inall material respects
wuld constitute an event of default that if not cured wthin 120 day of mitten notice of the failure wuld give
The Coca-Col a Conpanyt he right totermnate the Cola Beverage Agreenents. If the Conpanyat anytine, fails
tocarryut aplaninall material respects in anygeographic segnent of its territoryas defined bylhe Coca-Col a
Conpany and if such failure is not cured whin sixmonths of mitten notice of the failure, The Coca-Col a
Conpanymayreduce the territorycovered bythat Cola Beverage Agreenent byelimi nating the portion of the
territoryinkichsuchfailure has occurred.

The Coca-Cola Conpanyhas no obligation under the Cola Beverage Agreenents to participate Wth the
Conpanyin ependitures for advertising and marketing. As it has in the past, The Coca-Cola Conpanynay
contribute tosuch ependitures and undert ake i ndependent advertising and marketingactivities,as sll as advertising
and sales promotion prograns ki ch require mitual cooperation and financial support of the ConpanyThe future
levels of marketing funding support and promotional funds provided byThe Coca-Cola Conpanynayvary
materiallyromthe levels providedduringthe periods covered by he i nfornationincludedinthis report.

Acquisition of Other Bottlers. 1f the Conpanyacquires control, directlyor indirectlyof anybottler of
Coca-Cola Trademark Beverages, or anypartycontrolling a bottler of Coca-Cola Trademark Beverages, the
Conpanynust cause the acquired bottler to anend its agreenent for the Coca-Cola Tradenark Beverages to
conformtothe terns of the Cola Beverage Agreenents.

Term and Termination. The Col a Beverage Agreenents are perpetual, but theyare subject to termnation
bylhe Coca-Col a Conpanyupon the occurrence of an event of default bythe ConpanyEvents of default ith
respect toeach Col a Beverage Agreenent include:

e production, sale or omershipinanyentityhich produces or sells anyol a product not authoried bylhe
Coca-Col a Conpanyor a cola product that m ght be confused iwth or is animtation of the trade dress,
tradenark, tradenane or authoried container of a cola product of The Coca-Col a Conpany
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e insol vencybankrupt cydi ssol ution, recei vership, or the 1ike;

e anydi sposition bythe Conpanyof anyvoting securities of anybottling conpanysubsi diaryist hout the
consent of The Coca-Col a Conpanyand

e anymaterial breach of anyf its obligations under that Cola Beverage Agreenent that renains unresol ved
for 120 day after witten notice bylhe Coca-Col a Conpany

If anyCol a Beverage Agreenent is termnated because of an event of default, The Coca-Col a Conpanyhas
theright totermnate all other Col a Beverage Agreenents the Conpanghol ds.

No Assignments. The Conpanyis prohibited fromassigning, transferring or pledging its Cola Beverage
Agreenents or anyinterest therein, lether voluntaril yor byoperation of 1ayithout the prior consent of The
Coca-Col a Conpany

Allied Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

The Allied Beverages are beverages of The Coca-Cola Conpanyor its subsidiaries that are sparkling
beverages, but not Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages. The Allied Beverage Agreenents contain provisions that are
simlar to those of the Cola Beverage Agreements ith respect to the sale of beverages outside its territories,
authoried containers, planning, qualitycontrol, transfer restrictions, and related matters but have certain
significant differences fromthe Cola Beverage Agreenents.

Exclusivity. Tlhder the Allied Beverage Agreenents, the Conpanyhas ezlusive rights to distribute the
Allied Beverages in authoried containers in specified territories. Like the Cola Beverage Agreenents, the
Conpanghas advertising, marketing, and pronotional obligations, but it hout restriction for nost brands as to the
marketing of products wthsimlar flavors, as long as there is no nanufacturing or handling of other products that
wuld initate, infringe upon, or cause confusion wth, the products of The Coca-Col a ConpanyThe Coca-Col a
Conpanyhas the right to discontinue anyor all Allied Beverages, and the Conpanyhas a right, but not an
obligation, under the Allied Beverage Agreenents to elect to narket anyneweverage introduced bylhe Coca-

Col a Conpanynder the trademarks covered bythe respective Allied Beverage Agreenents.

Term and Termination. Allied Beverage Agreenents have a termof 10 gars and are reneabl e byt he
Conpanyfor an additional 10 gars at the end of each term Renesl is at the Conpany option. The Conpany
currentlyintends torenewubstantiallyll of the Allied Beverage Agreenents as theypire. The Allied Beverage
Agreenents are subject to termination in the event of default bythe ConpanyThe Coca-Col a Conpanynay
terminate an Allied Beverage Agreenent inthe event of:

* insol vencybankrupt cydi ssol ution, recei vership, or the like;
e termnation of a Cola Beverage Agreenent byither partyor anyeason; or
e anymaterial breach of anyof the Conpany obligations under that Allied Beverage Agreenent that
renains unresol ved for 120 day after required prior w tten notice bylhe Coca-Col a Conpany
Supplementary Agreement Relating to Cola and Allied Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

The Conpanyand The Coca-Cola Conpanyare also parties to a Letter Agreenent (the Supplenentary
Agreenent) that nodifies some of the provisions of the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents. The
Suppl enent ar yAgreenent provides that The Coca-Col a Conpanyil 1 :

eerrcise good faith and fair dealing in its relationship wh the Conpanyunder the Cola and Allied
Beverage Agreenents;

e of fer marketing funding support and exrcise its rights under the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents in
a manner consistent whits dealings iwth conparable bottlers;

e offer to the Conpanyanymitten anendnent to the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreements (exept
anendnent s dealing wth transfer of omership)michit offers toanyther bottler inthe lhited States; and
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esubject tocertainlinited exeptions, sell syups and concentrates to the Conpanyat prices no greater than
those charged to other bottlers hich are parties to contracts substantiallysimlar to the Cola and Allied
Beverage Agreenents.

The Supplenent aryAgreenent permits transfers of the Conpany capital stock that suld otherise be
limtedbyhe Colaand Allied Beverage Agreenents.

Pricing of Coca-Cola Trademark Beverages and Allied Beverages.

Pursuant to the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents, egept as provided in the Suppl enent ar yAgr eenent
and the Incidence Pricing Agreenent (described bel oy The Coca-Col a Conpanyest ablishes the prices charged
to the Conpanyfor concentrates of Coca-Cola Tradenmark Beverages and Allied Beverages. The Coca-Col a
Conpanghas no ri ghts under the beverage agreenents toestablishthe resale prices at hich the Conpanyellsits
products.

The Conpanyentered into an agreenent (the I'ncidence Pricing Agreenent Y it h The Coca-Col a Conpany
totest anincidence-based concentrate pricing nodel for 2008 for all Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages and Allied
Beverages for hich the Conpanypurchases concentrate fromThe Coca-Col a ConpanyDuring the termof the
Incidence Pricing Agreenent, the pricing of the concentrates for the Coca-Cola Trademark Beverages and Allied
Beverages is governed byt he Incidence Pricing Agreenent rather than the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents.
The concentrate price The Coca-Col a Conpanychar ges under the Incidence Pricing Agreenent is inpacted bya
nunber of factors including the Conpany pricing of finished products, the channels in hich the finished
products are sold and package m xThe Coca-Col a Conpanynust give the Conpanyat least 90 day mitten
notice before changing the price the Conpanypay for the concentrate. The Inci dence Pricing Agreenent has been
ekended t hr ough Decenber 31, 2013 under the sane terns that swre ineffect for 2009 t hrough 2011.

Still Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

The Conpanypurchases and distributes certain still beverages such as sports drinks and juice drinks from
The Coca-Cola Conpanyor its designees or joint ventures, and produces, markets and distributes Dasani ster
products, pursuant to the terns of nmarketing and distribution agreenents (the Still Beverage Agreenents). In
sone instances the Conpanydistributes certain still beverages whout a mitten agreenent. The Still Beverage
Agreenents contain provisions that are simlar to the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents wth respect to
authoried containers, planning, qualitycontrol, transfer restrictions, and related matters but have certain
significant differences fromthe Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents.

Exclusivity. hlike the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents, ki ch grant the Conpanye&lusivityinthe
distribution of the covered beverages inits territorythe Still Beverage Agreenents grant ezlusivitybut permt
The Coca-Col a Conpanyto test-narket the still beverage products inits territorysubject to the Conpany right
of first refusal, and to sell the still beverages to conmissaries for deliveryto retail outlets in the territoryhe
still beverages are consuned on-prem ses, such as restaurants. The Coca-Col a Conpanymust payt he Conpany
certain fees for lost volune, deliveryand tags in the event of such conm ssaryales. Approved al ternative route
to market projects undertaken bythe Conpany The Coca-Cola Conpany and other bottlers of Coca-Cola
products suld, in sone instances, permt deliveryof certain products of The Coca-Cola Conpanyinto the
territories of alnost all bottlers, in exhange for conpensation in nost circunstances, despite the terns of the
beverage agreenents naking such territories exlusive. Also, under the Still Beverage Agreenents, the Conpany
maynot sell other beverages inthe sane product category

Pricing. The Coca-Col a Conpanyat its sole discretion, establishes the prices the Conpanymst payfor
the still beverages or, in the case of Dasani, the concentrate or finished goods, but has agreed, under certain
circunstances for sone products, to give the benefit of nore favorable pricing if such pricingis offered to other
bottlers of Coca-Cola products.

Term. Each of the Still Beverage Agreenents has a termof 10 or 15 gars and is renewble bythe
Conpanyfor an additional 10 gars at the end of each term The Conpanyurrentlyintends torenewubstantially
all of the Still Beverage Agreenents as theypire.
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Other Beverage Agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.

The Conpanyhas entered into a distribution agreemnent wth EnergyBrands, Inc. (EnergyBrands), a
kol I yomed subsi di aryof The Coca-Col a ConpanyEner gyBrands, al so knowas glacéu, is a producer and
distributor of branded enhanced &t er products including vitam nster and snartster. The agreenent has a term
of 10 gars, and W1 automaticallyrenewfor succeeding 10-yar terns, subject to a 12-nonth nonrenesl
notification bythe ConpanyThe agreenent covers nost of the Conpany territories, requires the Conpanyt o
distribute EnergyBrands enhanced ster products exlusivelyand permits EnergyBrands to distribute the
products in sone channel s Wt hin the Conpany territories.

The Conpanyis distributing fruit and vegetable juice beverages of the Canpbell Soup Conpany
(Canpbel 1Y under an interimsubdistribution agreenent wth The Coca-Cola ConpanyThe Canpbell interim
subdi stribution agreenent maybe term nated byeither partyupon 30 day witten notice. The interi magreenent
covers all of the Conpany territories, and permits Canpbell and certain other sellers of Canpbell beverages to
continue distributioninthe Conpany territories. The Conpanypurchases Canpbell beverages froma subsidiary
of Canpbell under a separate purchase agreenent.

The Conpanyalso sells Coca-Col a and ot her post-m xproducts of The Coca-Col a Conpanyand post -m x
products of Dr Pepper Snapple G oup, Inc. on a non-exlusive basis. The Coca-Cola Conpanyestablishes the
prices charged to the Conpanyfor post-m xproducts of The Coca-Cola ConpanyIn addition, the Conpany
produces sone products for sale to other Coca-Cola bottlers and CCR These sales have 1owr nargins but allow
t he Conpanyt o achi eve hi gher utiliationof its production equipnent and facilities.

The Conpanyentered into an agreenent wh The Coca-Cola Conpanyregarding brand innovation and
distribution collaboration. Uhder the agreenent, the Conpanygrants The Coca-Cola Conpanythe option to
pur chase anynonal cohol i c beverage brands omed byt he ConpanyThe optionis e&rcisable as toeachbrandat a
formul a-based price during the twgar period that begins after that brand has achieved a specified level of net
operating revenue or, if earlier, beginning five yars after the introduction of that brand into the market wth a
m ni numl evel of net operating revenue, wth the exeption that th respect to brands omed at the date of the
letter agreenent, the five-gar period does not beginearlier thanthe date of the letter agreenent.

Beverage Agreements with Other Licensors.

The Conpanyhas beverage agreenents wth Dr Pepper Snapple Goup, Inc. for Dr Pepper and Sundrop
brands kich are simlar to those for the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents. These beverage agreenents are
perpetual innature but nmaybpe term nated byt he Conpanyupon 90 day notice. The price the beverage conpani es
maycharge for syup or concentrate is set bythe beverage conpanies fromtine to tine. These beverage
agreenents alsocontainsinmlar restrictions onthe use of trademarks, approved bottles, cans and I abel s and sal e of
imtations or substitutes as ®l1 as termnation for cause provisions.

The Conpanyis distributing Mnster brand energydrinks under a distribution agreenent ith Hansen
Beverage Conpanyincluding Mnster and Java Mnster. The agreenent contains provisions that are simlar to
the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents wth respect to pricing, pronotion, planning, territoryand trademark
restrictions, transfer restrictions, and related matters as wll as termnation for cause provisions. The agreenen
has a 20 yar termand il | renewut omaticallyThe agreenent naybe term nated it hout cause byeither party
Hoewer, anysuch termnination bythnsen Beverage Conpanyrequires conpensation in the formof severance
payent s to the Conpanyunder the terns of the agreenent.

The territories covered bybeverage agreenents th other licensors are not al sy aligned wththe territories
covered bythe Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents but are general l yithin those territoryboundaries. Sales of
beverages byt he Conpanyunder these other agreenents represented approknatel yl2% of the Conpang bottle/
canvolune toretail custoners for 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Markets and Production and Distribution Facilities

The Conpanycurrentlyholds bottling rights fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanycovering the najorityf North
Carolina, South Carolina and Wst Mrginia, and portions of Alabama, Mssissippi, Tennessee, Kentucky
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Virginia, Pennsyvania, Georgia and Florida. The total population whin the Conpany bottling territoryis
approknatel 20 mi11ion.

The Conpanycurrentlyoperates in seven principal geographic nmarkets. Certain infornation regarding each
of these markets follow

1.North Carolina. This regionincludes the najorityf North Carolina, including Raleigh, Geensboro,
Wnston-Salem H gh Point, Hckory Asheville, Fagtteville, Wlnington, Charlotte and the surrounding
areas. The region has a popul ation of approkmately million. A production/distribution facilityis locatedin
Charlotte and 12 sales distributionfacilities are locatedin the region.

2. South Carolina. This region includes the majorityof South Carolina, including Charleston,
Colunbi a, Geenville, Mtle Beach and the surroundi ng areas. The regi on has a popul ation of approknately
4mllion. There are 6 sales distributionfacilities inthe region.

3. South Alabama. This region includes a portion of southestern Alabana, including Mbbile and
surrounding areas, and a portion of southeastern Mssissippi. The region has a popul ation of approknatel yl
mllion. A production/distribution facilityis locatedin Mbile and 4 sales distributionfacilities are locate
the region.

4. South Georgia. This regionincludes a small portion of eastern Alabana, a portion of southestern
Geor gi a incl udi ng Col unbus and surroundi ng areas and a portion of the Florida Panhandle. This region has a
popul ation of approknatel yl m11ion. There are 4 sales distributionfacilities locatedinthe region.

5. Mddle Tennessee. This region includes a portion of central Tennessee, including Nashville and
surrounding areas, a snmall portion of southern Kentuckyand a small portion of northest Alabana. The
region has a popul ation of approkmately2 million. A production/distribution facilityis locatedin Nashville
and 4 sales distributionfacilities are locatedinthe region.

6. Wstern Virginia. This region includes nost of southestern Mrginia, including Roanoke and
surrounding areas, a portion of the southern piednont of Mirginia, a portion of northeastern Tennessee and a
portion of southeastern Vst Virginia. The region has a popul ation of approkmatel 2 m11ion. A production/
distribution facilitys locatedin Roanoke and4 sales distributionfacilities are locatedinthe region.

7.Wst Mirginia. This regionincludes nost of the state of Wst Virginia anda portion of southestern
Pennsyvani a. The regi on has a popul ation of approknatelyl m1lion. There are 8§ sales distributionfacilities
locatedinthe region.

The Conpanyi s a nenber of South Atlantic Canners, Inc. (SAC), a manufacturing cooperative locatedin
Bishopville, South Carolina. All ei ght nenbers of SAC are Coca-Cola bottlers and each nenber has equal voting
rights. The Conpanyreceives a fee for nanaging the dayt o-dayoperations of SAC pursuant to a managenent
agreenent . Mnagenent fees earned fromSAC ere $1.6 mllion, $1.5nm1lionand $1.2millionin2011,2010 and
2009, respectivel y SACS bottling lines supplya portion of the Conpany volune requirenents for finished
products. The Conpanyhas a comm tnent th SAC that requires nini numannual purchases of 17.5 nillion
cases of finished products through My2014. Purchases fromSAC byt he Conpanyfor finished products wre
$134 million, $131 million and $131 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivelyor 26.2 nillion cases,
26.1nmillioncases and25.0 nillion cases of finished product, respectively

Raw Materials

In addition to concentrates obtained fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies for use in
its beverage manufacturing, the Conpanyal so purchases s®etener, carbon di okde, plastic bottles, cans, closures
and ot her packaging materials as ®l1 as equi pnent for the production, distribution and marketing of nonal coholic
beverages.

The Conpanypurchases substantiallyall of its plastic bottles (12-ounce, 16-ounce, 20-ounce, 24-ounce, hal f -
liter, 1-liter, 1.25-liter, 2-liter and 300 nl sies) frommanufacturing plants omed and operated bySout heastern
Cont ai ner and Wstern Container, twentities omed byarious Coca-Cola bottlers including the ConpanyThe
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Conpanyurrent ] yobtains all of its al um numcans (7.5-ounce, 12-ounce and 16-ounce sies) fromtwdonestic
suppliers.

None of the materials or supplies used byt he Conpanyare currentlyin short supplyalthough the suppl yof
specific materials (including plastic bottles, hich are formulated using petrol eumbased products) could be
adversel yaffected bystrikes, sather conditions, governnental controls or international or donestic geopolitical
or other events affecting or threateningto affect the suppl yof petrol eum

Along wth all the other Coca-Cola bottlers in the lhited States, the Conpanyis a nenber in Coca-Col a
Bottlers’ Sales and Services Conpany LIC (CCBSS), hich s forned in 2003 for the purposes of
facilitating various procurenent functions and distributing certain specified beverage products of The Coca-Col
Conpanywt h the intention of enhancing the efficiencyand conpetitiveness of the Coca-Cola bottling sytemin
the Thited States. CCBSS has negotiated the procurenent for the majorityof the Conpany rawmaterials
(e&l udi ng concentrate) since 2004.

The Conpanyi s eposed to price risk on commodities such as al umi num corn, PETresin (a petrol eumbased
product) and fuel hich affects the cost of rawmaterials used in the production of finished products. The
Conpanyboth produces and procures these finished products. Eanples of the rawnaterials affected are
al um numcans and plastic bottles used for packaging and hi gh fructose corn syup used as a product ingredient.
Further, the Conpanyi s eposed to comodit yprice riskonoil hichinpacts the Conpany cost of fuel usedin
t he novenent and deli veryof the Conpany products. The Conpanyparticipates in commodit yhedgi ng and risk
mtigation prograns admnistered both byCCBSS and byt he Conpanyitself. Inaddition, thereis nolinit onthe
price The Coca-Cola Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies can charge for concentrate, although, under the
Incidence Pricing Agreenent, The Coca-Col a Conpanymust gi ve the Conpanyat 1east 90 day witten notice of
a pricing change.

Customers and Marketing

The Conpany products are sold and distributed directlyto retail stores and other outlets, including food
markets, institutional accounts and vendi ng nachine outlets. During 2011, approkmatel y69% of the Conpany
bottle/can volune toretail custoners s sold for future consunption. The remaining bottle/can volune toretail
custoners of approkmatel y31% ms sold for imediate consunption, prinarilythrough dispensing nachines
omed either bythe Conpanyretail outlets or third partyvendi ng conpanies. The Conpany 1 argest custoner,
WI-Mrt Stores, Inc., accounted for approkmatel y21% of the Conpany total bottle/can volune to retail
custoners and the second l argest custoner, Food Li on, LLC, account ed for approknmatel y9% of the Conpany
total bottle/can volune to retail custoners. Wil-Mrt Stores, Inc. and Food Lion, ILI.C accounted for
appr oknat el y15% and 7% of the Conpany total net sales, respectivel yThe loss of either Wl -Mrt Stores, Inc.
or Food Lion, LIC as custoners wuld have a material adverse effect on the ConpanyAll of the Conpany
beverage sales are tocustoners inthe Uhited States.

Newproduct introductions, packaging changes and sales pronotions have been the primarysales and
marketing practices in the nonal coholic beverage industryin recent gars and have required and are epected to
continue to require substantial ependitures. Brand introductions fromThe Coca-Cola Conpanyin the last six
yars include Coca-Cola Zero, Dasani flavors, Full Throttle and Gold Peak tea products. In 2007, the Conpany
began distribution of its owproducts, CountryBreee tea and TumE Yommies. In 2010, t he Conpanybegan
distribution of an additional Conpanyomed product, Bean & Bodycoffee beverages. In 2011, the Conpany
began distribution of Fuel ina Bottle EnergyShot and Fuel ina Bottle Protein Shot. In addition, the Conpanyal so
began distribution of Mproducts (ener gydrinks fromFUWE, a subsi di aryf The Coca-Col a Conpany, j ui ce
products fromFWE and V8 products fromCanpbell during 2007. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Conpany
began distribution of glacéu products, a hollyomed subsidiaryof The Coca-Cola Conpanyt hat produces
branded enhanced beverages including vitamnster and snartster. The Conpanyentered into a distribution
agreenent in (rtober 2008 wth subsidiaries of Hansen Natural Corporation, the devel oper, marketer, seller and
distributor of Mnster Energydrinks, the l1eading volune brand in the US. energydrink category lhder this
agreenent, the Conpanybegan distributing Mnster Energydrinks in certain of the Conpany territories in
Novenber 2008. Newpackaging i ntroductions include the 1.25-1iter bottle in 2011, the 7.5-ounce sleek can during
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2010, the 2-liter contour bottle for Coca-Cola products during 2009 and the 20-ounce grip’bottle during 2007.
During 2008, the Conpanytested the 16-ounce bottle/24-ounce bottle package in select convenience stores and
introducedit conpanide i n 2009. Newr oduct and packaging introductions have resultedinincreased operating
costs for the Conpanydue to special nmarketing efforts, obsol escence of replaceditens and, in sone cases, hi gher
rawaterial costs.

The Conpanysells its products prinmarilyin nonrefillable bottles and cans, in varyng proportions from
market to market. For eanple, there maybe as manyas 22 different packages for Diet Coke ithin a single
geographic area. Bottle/can volune toretail custoners during 2011 s approkmatel ¥7% cans, 52% bottles and
1% ot her containers.

Advertisinginvarious nedia, primarilytelevisionandradio,is relieduponekensivelyinthe narketingof the
Conpany products. The Coca-Col a Conpanyand Dr Pepper Snapple G oup, Inc. (the Beverage Conpaniesy
nmake substantial ependitures on advertising in the Conpany territories. The Conpanyhas al so benefited from
national advertising prograns conducted bythe Beverage Conpanies. In addition, the Conpanyepends
substantial funds onits owbehalf for ekensive local sales pronotions of the Conpany products. Hstorically
these epenses have been partiallyffset bymarketing fundi ng support hich the Beverage Conpanies provide to
the Conpanyin support of a varietyof marketing prograns, such as point-of-sale display and nerchandising
prograns. Hbewer, the Beverage Conpanies are under no obligation to provide the Conpanyisth marketing
fundi ng support inthe future.

The substantial outlay kich the Conpanymakes for marketing and nerchandising prograns are generally
regarded as necessaryto maintain or increase revenue, and anysignificant curtailnent of narketing funding
support provided bythe Beverage Conpanies for marketing prograns kich benefit the Conpanycoul d have a
material adverse effect onthe operating and financial results of the Conpany

Seasonality

Sales of the Conpany products are seasonal ith the hi ghest sales vol une occurringin MyJune, Jul yand
August. The Conpanyhas adequate production capacityto neet sales demand for sparkling and still beverages
during these peak periods. Sales volune can be inpacted bywat her conditions. See T'tem?2. Properties”for
informtionrelatingtoutiliation of the Conpany productionfacilities.

Competition

The nonal coholic beverage nmarket is highl yconpetitive. The Conpany conpetitors include bottlers and
distributors of nationallydvertised and narketed products, regional l yadvertised and marketed products, as &1 as
bottlers and distributors of private label beverages in supernarket stores. The sparkling beverage nmarket (i ncludi n
ener gyproduct s) conprised 84% of the Conpany bottle/can volune toretail custoners in2011.Ineachregionin
ki ch t he Conpanyoperat es, betsen 85% and 95% of sparkling beverage sales inbottles, cans and ot her cont ainers
are accounted for bythe Conpanyand its principal conpetitors, ki chin each regionincludes the local bottler of
Pepsi-Col a and, insone regi ons, the l ocal bottler of Dr Pepper, Rogl Crowand/or 7-Up products.

The principal nethods of conpetitionin the nonal coholic beverage i ndustryare point-of-sal e nerchandi sing,
newroduct introductions, newendi ng and di spensing equi pnent, packagi ng changes, pricing, price pronotions,
product qualityretail space managenent, custoner service, frequencyof distribution and advertising. The
Conpanybelieves it is conpetitiveinits territories ithrespect tothese nethods of conpetition.

Government Regulation

The production and marketing of beverages are subject tothe rules and regul ations of the Uhited States Food
and Drug Adninistration (FDAY and other federal, state and local health agencies. The FDA also regul ates the
labeling of containers.

As a manufacturer, distributor and seller of beverage products of The Coca-Cola Conpanyand ot her soft
drink manufacturers in exlusive territories, the Conpanyis subject to antitrust lawof general applicability
Hoewer, pursuant to the Uhited States Soft Drink Interbrand Conpetition Act, soft drink bottlers such as the
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Conpanynayhave an exlusive right to manufacture, distribute and sell a soft drink product in a defined
geographic territoryif that soft drink product is insubstantial and effective conpetition ith other products of tt
same general class in the market. The Conpanybelieves such conpetition eksts in each of the ezlusive
geographic territories inthe Uhited States in hichthe Conpanyperates.

Fromtine to tine, legislation has been proposed in Congress and bycertain state and local governnents
hich suld prohibit the sale of soft drink products in nonrefillable bottles and cans or require a nandatory
deposit as a neans of encouraging the return of such containers inanattenpt toreduce solidwsste andlitter. The
Conpanyi s current]ynot i npacted byt his tpe of proposedlegislation.

Soft drink and simlar-tpe tags have been in place in Wst Mrginia and Tennessee for several gars.
Proposal s have been i ntroduced bynenbers of Congress and certain state governnents that suld inpose egise
and other special ta&s on certain beverages that the Conpanysells. The Conpanycannot predict hether any
suchlegislationill be enacted.

Sone states and localities have also proposed barring the use of food stanps byrecipients in their
jurisdictions to purchase sone of the products the Conpanymanufactures. The Thited States Departnent of
Agriculture rejected such a proposal by major Anericancitys recentlys 2011.

The Conpanyhas eperienced public policychallenges regarding the sale of soft drinks in schools,
particularlyelenentary mddle and high schools. At Januaryl, 2012, a nunber of states had regulations
restricting the sale of soft drinks and other foods in schools. Minyof these restrictions have eksted for several
yars in connection wh subsidied neal prograns in schools. The focus has nore recentl yturned to the groing
heal th, nutrition and obesityconcerns of today guth. Restrictive legislation, if idel yenacted, could have an
adverse inpact onthe Conpany products, i nage and reput ation.

The Conpanyis subject to audit bytakng authorities in jurisdictions kere it conducts business. These
audits mayresult in assessnents that are subsequentlyresol ved ith the authorities or potentiallythrough the
courts. Mnagenent believes the Conpanyhas adequatel yprovided for anyassessnents that are likel yto result
fromthese audits; howwver, final assessnents, if anycould be different than the anounts recorded in the
consolidated financial statenents.

Environmental Remediation

The Conpanydoes not currentlyhave anymaterial capital ependiture commtnents for environnental
conpliance or environnental renediation for anyof its properties. The Conpanydoes not believe conpliance
th federal, state and 1 ocal provisions that have been enacted or adopted regardi ng the di scharge of materials into
the environnent, or otheriwe relating to the protection of the environnent, Wl have a material effect onits
capital ependitures, earnings or conpetitive position.

Employees

As of Februaryl, 2012, t he Conpanyhad approknat el 5,100 ful 1-tine enpl oyes, of homapprokmtely
400 sre union nenbers. The total nunber of enploges, including part-tine enploges, & approknately
6,100. Approkmatel y7% of the Conpany labor force is covered bycollective bargaining agreenents. Tev
collective bargaining agreenents covering approkmtel yo% of the Conpany enpl oyes epired during 2011
and the Conpanyentered into newagreements in 2011. (he collective bargaining agreenent covering
appr oknat el y4% of the Conpany enpl oges Wl 1 epire during 2012.

Exchange Act Reports

The Conpanynakes available free of charge through its Internet ®bsite, wokeconsolidated.comits
annual report on Form10-K quarterlyeports on Forml0-Q current reports on Form8-Kand all anendnents to
those reports as soon as reasonabl ypracticable after suchmaterials are electronicallyiled wth or furnished to the
Securities and Exhange Commission (SEC). The SEC maintains an Internet wbsite, wec.gov, hich
contains reports, proyand i nfornation statenents, and other information filed electronicallyith the SEC. Any
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materials that the Conpanyfiles th the SEC mayalso be read and copi ed at the SEC$ Public Reference Room
100 F Street, NE., Room1580, Wishi ngt on, D. C. 20549.

Information on the operations of the Public Reference Room is available bycalling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. The information provided on the Conpany wbsite is not part of this report and is not
incorporated herein byeference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Inadditiontoother informationinthis Forml0-K the folloing risk factors should be considered carefully
in evaluating the Conpany business. The Conpany business, financial conditionor results of operations could
be materiallyand adversel yaffected byanyf these risks.

The Company may not be able to respond successfully to changes in the marketplace.

The Conpanyoperates in the highlyconpetitive nonalcoholic beverage industryand faces strong
conpetition fromother general and specialtybeverage conpanies. The Conpany response to continued and
increased custoner and conpetitor consolidations and marketplace conpetition mayesult inlower than epected
net pricing of the Conpany products. The Conpany abilityto gainor maintainthe Conpany share of sales or
gross margins maybe limted byt he actions of the Conpany conpetitors, hi ch myhave advantages insetting
their prices due tolowr rawmterial costs. Conpetitive pressures inthe markets in hich the Conpanyoper ates
maycause channel and product m x o shift amyfromnore profitable channels and packages. If the Conpanyi s
unable to mintain or increase volune in hi gher-nmargin products and in packages sold through hi gher-margin
channels (e.g., inmedi ate consunption), pricing and gross nmargins could be adversel yaffected. The Conpany
efforts toinprove pricing myesult inloer thanepected sales vol une.

Acquisitions of bottlers by their franchisors may lead to uncertainty in the Coca-Cola bottler system or
adversely impact the Company.

The Coca-Col a Conpanyacquired the North Anerican operations of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc.in 2010, and
the Conpany prinaryconpetitors wre acquired at approkmatel ythe sane tine bytheir franchisor. These
transactions maycause uncertaintyist hin the Coca-Cola bottler sytemor adversel yi npact the Conpanyandits
business. At this tine, it remains uncertain kat the ultinate inpact of these transactions Wl be on the
Conpany business and financial results.

Changes in how significant customers market or promote the Company’s products could reduce revenue.

The Conpany revenue is affected byhowignificant custoners narket or promote the Conpany products.
Revenue has been negati vel yi npacted byl ess aggressive price pronotion bysone retailers in the future consunption
channel s over the past several gars. If the Conpany si gni ficant custoners change t he nanner in ki ch t heyrarket or
pronot e t he Conpany product s, t he Conpany revenue and profitabilityoul dbe adversel y npact ed.

Changes in the Company’s top customer relationships could impact revenues and profitability.

The Conpanyi s eposed torisks resul ting fromseveral large custoners that account for a significant portion
of its bottle/can vol une and revenue. The Conpany twlargest custoners accounted for approkmatel y30% of
the Conpany 2011 bottle/can volune to retail custoners and approkmatel y22% of the Conpany total net
sales. The 1 oss of one or both of these custoners coul d adversel yaffect the Conpany resul ts of operations. These
custoners tpicallymake purchase decisions based on a conbination of price, product qualityconsuner denand
and custoner service performance and generallydo not enter into long-term contracts. In addition, these
significant custoners mayre-evaluate or refine their business practices related to inventories, product display,
logistics or other aspects of the custoner-supplier relationship. The Conpany results of operations could be
adversel yaffected if revenue fromone or nore of these custoners is significantlyreduced or if the cost of
conpl yng th these custoners’denands is significant. If receivables fromone or nore of these custoners
becone uncol l ectible, the Conpany resul ts of operations maybe adversel yi npacted. Che of these custoners has
announced store closings in the Lhited States, but the Conpanyhas not determined if this could affect the
Conpany resul ts of operations.
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Changes in public and consumer preferences related to nonalcoholic beverages could reduce demand for the
Company’s products and reduce profitability .

The Conpany business depends substantiallyon consuner tastes and preferences that change in often
unpredictable my. The success of the Conpany business depends in large neasure on wrking wh the
Beverage Conpanies to neet the changing preferences of the broad consuner narket. Heal th and ®l 1 ness trends
t hroughout the market place have resultedina shift fromsugar sparkling beverages todiet sparklingbeverages,tea,
sports drinks, enhanced ster and bottled ster over the past several gars. Failure to satisfyhangi ng consuner
preferences coul d adversel yaffect the profitabilityf the Conpany business.

The Company’s sales can be impacted by the health and stability of the general economy.

Unfavorable changes in general econonic conditions, such as a recession or econonmc slodowin the
geographi c markets in hich the Conpanydoes business, mayhave the tenporaryeffect of reducing the demand
for certain of the Conpany products. For eanple, econonic forces maycause consuners to shift asyfrom
purchasing hi gher-nar gi n products and packages sol d t hrough i medi ate consunption and ot her hi ghl yprofitable
channels. Adverse economic conditions could also increase the likelihood of custoner delinquencies and
bankruptcies, hich wuld increase the risk of uncollectibilityof certain accounts. Each of these factors could
adversel yaffect the Conpany revenue, price realiation, gross nargins and overall financial condition and
operatingresults.

Miscalculation of the Company’s need for infrastructure investment could impact the Company’s financial
results.

Projected requirenents of the Conpany infrastructure investnments naydiffer fromactual levels if the
Conpany volune growh is not as the Conpanyanticipates. The Conpany infrastructure investnents are
generallyl ong-termin nature; therefore, it is possible that investnents nade todaynmaynot generate the returns
epected bythe Conpanydue to future changes in the marketplace. Significant changes fromthe Conpany
epected returns on cold drink equipnent, fleet, technol ogyand suppl ychain infrastructure investnents could
adversel yaffect the Conpany consolidated financial results.

The Company’s inability to meet requirements under its beverage agreements could result in the loss of
distribution rights.

Approkmt el y88% of the Conpany bottle/can volune toretail custoners in 2011 consisted of products of
The Coca-Col a Conpanyhichis the sole supplier of these products or of the concentrates or syups requiredto
manufacture these products. The remaining 12% of the Conpany bottle/can volune toretail custoners in 2011
consisted of products of other beverage conpanies and the Conpany owproducts. The Conpanymust satisfy
various requirenents under its beverage agreenents. Failure to satisfythese requirenents could result inthe 1oss
of distributionrights for the respective products.

Material changes in, or the Company’s inability to satisfy, the performance requirements for marketing
Jfunding support, or decreases from historic levels of marketing funding support, could reduce the Company’s
profitability.

Mterial changes in the performance requirenents, or decreases in the levels of nmarketing funding support
historicallyprovided, under marketing prograns it h The Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpani es, or
the Conpany inabilitytoneet the perfornmance requirenents for the anticipatedlevels of such marketing fundi ng
support paments, could adverselyaffect the Conpany profitability The Coca-Cola Conpanyand other
beverage conpani es are under no obli gation to continue narketing funding support at historic levels.

Changes in The Coca-Cola Company’s and other beverage companies’ levels of advertising, marketing
spending and product innovation could reduce the Company’s sales volume.
The Coca-Cola Conpany and other beverage conpanies’levels of advertising, marketing spending and
product innovation directlyi npact the Conpany operations. Wiile the Conpanydoes not believe there il be
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significant changes in the levels of marketing and advertising bythe Beverage Conpanies, there can be no
assurance that historic levels W1 continue. The Conpany vol une grotth w1 al so continue to be dependent on
product innovation bythe Beverage Conpanies, especiallyThe Coca-Col a Conpany Decreases in marketing,
advertising and product innovation bythe Beverage Conpanies could adverselyinpact the profitabilityof the
Conpany

The inability of the Company’s aluminum can or plastic bottle suppliers to meet the Company’s purchase
requirements could reduce the Company’s profitability.

The Conpanycurrentlyobtains all of its aluminumcans fromtwdonestic suppliers and all of its plastic
bottles fromtwdonestic cooperatives. The inabilityof these al umi numcan or plastic bottle suppliers to neet the
Conpany requirenents for containers couldresult inshort-termshortages until alternative sources of suppl xxan
be 1ocated. The Conpanyattenpts tomtigate these risks byarking closel yith keyuppliers and bypur chasing
business interruption insurance here appropriate. Failure of the alum numcan or plastic bottle suppliers to neet
t he Conpany purchase requirenents coul d reduce t he Conpany profitability

The inability of the Company to offset higher raw material costs with higher selling prices, increased bottle/
can volume or reduced expenses could have an adverse impact on the Company’s profitability.

Rawaterial costs, including the costs for plastic bottles, al um numcans and hi gh fructose corn syup, have
been subject to significant price volatilityand have increasedinrecent gars at faster rates than the general rate
inflation. Inaddition, there are nolimts onthe prices The Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies can
charge for concentrate. If the Conpanycannot offset higher rawmaterial costs wth higher selling prices,
increased sales vol une or reductions inother costs, the Conpany profitabilityoul dbe adversel yaffected.

The consolidation among suppliers of certain of the Company’s raw materials could have an adverse impact
on the Company’s profitability.

Inrecent yars, there has been consolidation anong suppliers of certain of the Conpany rawmaterials. The
reductionin the nunber of conpetitive sources of suppl yxoul d have an adverse effect upon the Conpany ability
tonegotiate the lowst costs and,inlight of the Conpany relativel ynall in-plant rawaterial inventoryevels,
has the potential for causinginterruptions inthe Conpany suppl yf rawaterials.

The increasing reliance on purchased finished goods from external sources makes the Company subject to
incremental risks that could have an adverse impact on the Company’s profitability.

Wth the introduction of FWZE, Canpbell and glacéu products into the Conpany portfolio during 2007
and Mnster Ener gyproducts during 2008, the Conpanyhas becone increasinglyreliant on purchased finished
goods fromekernal sources versus the Conpany internal production. As a result, the Conpanyis subject to
increnent al riskincluding, but not limtedto, product availabilityprice variabilityproduct qualityand production
capacitwhortfalls for ekernall ypurchased fini shed goods.

Sustained increases in fuel prices or the inability of the Company to secure adequate supplies of fuel could
have an adverse impact on the Company’s profitability.

The Conpanyuses significant anounts of fuel inthe distribution of its products. International or donestic
geopolitical or other events could inpact the supplyand cost of fuel and could inpact the tinelydeliveryof the
Conpany products toits custoners. Wile the Conpanyi s wrking to reduce fuel consunption and nanage t he
Conpany fuel costs, there can be no assurance that the ConpanyiW ! succeed in limting the inpact on the
Conpany business or future cost increases. The Conpanymayse derivative instrunents to hedge sone or all of
the Conpany projected diesel fuel and unleaded gasoline purchases. These derivative instrunents relate to fuel
used in the Conpany deliveryfleet and other vehicles. Continued upswd pressure in these costs could reduce
the profitabilityf the Conpany operations.
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Sustained increases in workers’ compensation, employment practices and vehicle accident claims costs could
reduce the Company’s profitability.

The Conpanyuses various insurance structures to manage its wrkers’conpensation, auto liabilitynedical
and other insurable risks. These structures consist of retentions, deductibles,linits and a di verse group of insure
that serve to strategicallytransfer and nmitigate the financial inpact of losses. Losses are accrued using
assunptions and procedures followd in the insurance industry adjusted for conpanyspecific historyand
epectations. Although the Conpanyhas activel ysought to control increases in these costs, there can be no
assurance that the Conpanyil] succeed in linmiting future cost increases. Continued upsrd pressure in these
costs coul d reduce the profitabilityf the Conpany operations.

Sustained increases in the cost of employee benefits could reduce the Company’s profitability.

The Conpany profitabilityis substantiallyaffected bythe cost of pension retirenent benefits,
postretiremnent nedical benefits and current enploges’ nedical benefits. In recent gars, the Conpanyhas
egperienced significant increases in these costs as a result of macro-econonic factors begnd the Conpany
control, including increases in health care costs, declines ininvestnent returns on pension assets and changes ir
discount rates used to calculate pension and related liabilities. A significant decrease in the value of t
Conpany pension plan assets in 2008 caused a significant increase in pension plan costs in 2009. Al t hough t he
Conpanyhas activel ysought to control increases in these costs, there can be no assurance the Conpanywl |
succeed in limting future cost increases, and continued upsrd pressure in these costs could reduce the
profitabilityf the Conpany operations.

(h Mrch 23, 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACAY ms signed into lawCh
Mrch 30, 2010, a conpanion bill, the Heal th Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (Reconciliation Act?,
#ws also signed into lawlhe PPACA and the Reconciliation Act, ken taken together, represent conprehensive
health care reformlegislation that il likelyaffect the cost associated Wt h providi ng enpl ogr-sponsored nedi cal
plans. The Conpanyis continuing to assess the inpact this legislation il have on the Conpany enpl ogr-
sponsored nedi cal plans. Additionallythe PPACA and the Reconciliation Act include provisions that reduce the tax
benefits available toenpl ogrs that recei ve Mdicare Part D subsidies.

Product liability claims brought against the Company or product recalls could negatively affect the
Company’s business, financial results and brand image.

The Conpanymaybe liable if the consunption of the Conpany products causes injuryor illness. The
Conpanynayal so be required torecall products if theybecone contam nated or are damaged or mislabeled. A
significant product liabilityor other product-relatedlegal judgnent against the Conpanyr a idespreadrecall of
t he Conpany product s coul d negati vel yi npact the Conpany business, financial results and brand i nage.

Cybersecurity risks - technology failures or cyberattacks on the Company’s systems could disrupt the
Company’s operations and negatively impact the Company’s business.

The Conpanyi ncreasingl yelies oninformation technol ogysytens to process, transmt and store electronic
infornation. For eanple, the Conpany production and distribution facilities, inventorymnagenent and dri ver
handhel d devices all utilie information technol ogyto nakmieg efficiencies and mininmie costs. Furthernore, a
significant portion of the commnication betwen personnel, custoners and suppliers depends on informtion
technol ogy Like nost conpanies, the Conpany information technologysytens nmaybe vulnerable to
interruption due to a varietyof events beynd the Conpany control, including, but not limted to, natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, tel ecommmications failures, conputer viruses, hackers and other securityissues. The
Conpanyhas technol ogyecurityinitiatives and disaster recoveryplans inplace tonitigate the Conpany riskto
these vulnerabilities, but these neasures maynot be adequate or inplenented properlyto ensure that the
Conpany operations are not disrupted.

Changes in interest rates could adversely affect the profitability of the Company.

None of the Conpany debt and capital lease obligations of $597.3 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 wre
subject to changes inshort-terminterest rates. The Conpany $200 nillion revol ving credit facilityis subject to
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changes inshort-terminterest rates. Ch Januaryl, 2012, t he Conpanshad no out st andi ng borr oings on t he $200
mllionrevolving credit facilitylf interest rates increase inthe future, it couldincrease the Conpany borr oing
cost and it could reduce the Conpany overall profitabilityThe Conpany pension and postretirenent nedical
benefits costs are subject to changes ininterest rates. A decline ininterest rates used to discount the Conpany
pension and postretirenent nedical liabilities could increase the cost of these benefits and increase the overa
liability

The level of the Company’s debt could restrict the Company’s operating flexibility and limit the Company’s
ability to incur additional debt to fund future needs.

As of Januaryl, 2012, t he Conpanshad $597.3 nil11ion of debt and capital 1ease obli gations. The Conpany
level of debt requires the Conpanyto dedicate a substantial portion of the Conpany future cash flowfrom
operations to the pagent of principal andinterest, therebyeducing the funds available to the Conpanyfor other
pur poses. The Conpany debt can negativel yi npact the Conpany operations by(1) limting the Conpany
abilityand/or increasing the cost to obtain funding for wrking capital, capital ependitures and other general
corporate purposes; (2) increasing the Conpany vulnerabilityto econonmic domturns and adverse industry
conditions bylinmting the Conpany abilityto react to changing economc and business conditions; and
(3) eposing the Conpanytoariskthat asignificant decrease incashflowfromoperations couldmakeit difficult
for the Conpanyt o neet t he Conpany debt service requirenents.

Recent volatility in the financial markets may negatively impact the Company’s ability to access the credit
markets.

Capital and credit markets have becone increasingl ywolatile as aresult of adverse conditions that caused the
failure and near failure of a nunber of large financial services conpanies. If the capital and credit nmarkets
continue to eperience volatilityit is possible that the Conpany abilityto access the credit markets nmaybe
limted bythese factors at a tine hen the Conpanysul d 1ike or need to do so. If the availabilityof funds is
limted, the Conpanynayi ncur increased costs associated ith borroing to neet the Conpany requirenents.

(O Septenber 21, 2011, the Conpanyentered into a new$200 nillion five-gar unsecured revol ving credit
agreenent ($200 million facility. This replaced the eksting $200 million five-gar unsecured revol ving credit
agreenent scheduled to mature in 2012. The new$200 nillion facilityhas a scheduled nmaturitydate of
Septenber 21, 2016. The Conpanyrepaid $176.7 nillion of debentures hich matured in 2009. In 2009, the

Conpanyi ssued $110 mi 111 on of neweni or notes, borrowd fromits previous $200 nillion facilityand used cash

flow generated byoperations to fund the repagents. As of Januaryl, 2012, the Conpanyhad $200 nillion
available on its $200 million facility The linitation of availabilityof funds could have an inpact on the
Conpany abilityto refinance naturing debt, including the $150 nillion Senior Notes due Novenber 2012, and/

or react to changing econonic and business conditions.

The Company’s credit rating could be negatively impacted by changes to The Coca-Cola Company’s credit
rating.

The Conpany credit rating could be significantly npacted bycapital nanagenent activities of The Coca-
Cola Conpanyand/or changes in the credit rating of The Coca-Cola Conpany A lowr credit rating could
significantlyincrease the Conpany interest costs or could have an adverse effect on the Conpany abilityto
obt ain additional financing at acceptable interest rates or torefinance eksting debt.

Changes in legal contingencies could adversely impact the Company’s future profitability.

Changes fromepectations for the resolution of outstandinglegal clains and assessnents could have a naterial
adverse inpact on the Conpany profitabilitynd financial condition.Inaddition, the Conpany failure to abide by
law orders or other legal comm tnents coul d subject the Conpanyo fines, penal ties or ot her damages.

Legislative changes that affect the Company’s distribution, packaging and products could reduce demand for
the Company’s products or increase the Company’s costs.

The Conpany business nodel is dependent on the availabilityof the Conpany various products and
packages in multiple channels and locations to better satisfythe needs of the Conpany custoners and
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consuners. Lawthat restrict the Conpany abilityto distribute products in schools and other venues, as a1 as
lawthat require deposits for certain tpes of packages or those that limt the Conpany abilityto design new
packages or nmarket certain packages, coul d negati vel yi npact the financial results of the Conpany

In addition, egise or other tags inposed on the sale of certain of the Conpany products bythe federal
governnent and certain state and local governnents could cause consuners to shift asyfrom purchasing
products of the ConpanyIf enacted, such tags could materiallyaffect the Conpany business and financial
results, particularlyif theysre enacted in a formthat incorporated theminto the shelf prices for the Conpany
products.

Significant additional labeling or warning requirements may inhibit sales of affected products.

Various jurisdictions mayseek to adopt significant additional product labeling or srning requirenents
relating to the content or perceived adverse health consequences of certain of the Conpany products. If these
tpes of requirenents becone applicable to one or nore of the Conpany major products under current or future
envi ronnent al or healthlawor regul ations, theymayi nhibit sales of such products.

Additional taxes resulting from tax audits could adversely impact the Company’s future profitability.

An assessnent of additional tags resulting fromaudits of the Conpany taxfilings could have an adverse
inpact on the Conpany profitabilitycash flosand financial condition.

Natural disasters and unfavorable weather could negatively impact the Company’s future profitability.

Natural disasters or unfavorable wather conditions in the geographic regions in hich the Conpanydoes
business coul d have an adverse i npact on the Conpany revenue and profitabilityFor eanple, prol onged drought
conditions in the geographic regions in kich the Conpanydoes business could lead to restrictions on the use
of mter, hich could adverselyaffect the Conpany abilityto nanufacture and distribute products and the
Conpany cost todo so.

Global climate change or legal, regulatory, or market responses to such change could adversely impact the
Company’s future profitability.

The groing political and scientific sentinent is that increased concentrations of carbon di okde and ot her
greenhouse gases in the atmosphere are influencing global sather patterns. Changing wather patterns, along
wh the increased frequencyor duration of ekrene sather conditions, could inpact the availabilityor increase
the cost of keyawmterials that the Conpanyuses to produce its products. Inaddition, the sale of these products
can be i npact ed byat her condi tions.

Concern over climate change, including global srming, has led to legislative and regulatoryinitiatives
directed at limting greenhouse gas (O em ssions. For eanple, the Lhited States Environnental Protection
Agency(IBEPA) began inposing QIGregulations on utilities, refineries and major manufacturers in 2011.

Al though the i medi ate effect s minor, as such regul ations appl yonl yto those that are planning to buildlarge
newacilities or materiallymwdifyeksting ones, over the nek decade the USEPA pl an to ekend t he scope of the

G Gregulations to cover virtuallyall sources of GH&. Those USEPA regulations or future lawenacted or
regul ations adopted that directlyor indirectlyaffect the Conpany production, distribution, packaging, cost of
rawaterials, fuel,ingredients and ster could all inpact the Conpany business and financial results.

Issues surrounding labor relations could adversely impact the Company’s future profitability and/or its
operating efficiency.

Approknatel y7% of the Conpany enploges are covered bycollective bargaining agreenents. The
inabilityto renegotiate subsequent agreenents on satisfactoryterns and conditions could result in wrk
interruptions or stoppages, hich could have a material inpact on the profitabilityof the ConpanyAlso, the
terms and conditions of eksting or renegotiated agreenents could increase costs, or otherise affect the
Conpany abilityto fullyinplenent operational changes to inprove overall efficiency Tev collective
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bar gai ni ng agreenents covering approkmatel y6% of the Conpany enpl oges epired during 2011 and the
Conpanyentered i nto newgreenents in 2011. Che collecti ve bar gai ni ng agreenent covering approkmtel y4%
of the Conpany enpl oyes w1 epire during 2012.

The Company’s ability to change distribution methods and business practices could be negatively affected by
United States Coca-Cola bottler system disputes.

Litigationfiled bysone Lhited States bottlers of Coca-Cola products indicates that disagreenents mayekst
whin the Coca-Cola bottler sytem concerning distribution nethods and business practices. Although the
litigation has been resolved, disagreenents anong various Coca-Cola bottlers could adverselyaffect the
Conpany abilityofullyinplenent its business plans inthe future.

Management’s use of estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on reported results.

The Conpany consolidated financial statenents and acconpanyng notes to the consolidated financial
statenents include estinmates and assunptions bymnagenent that inpact reported anmounts. Actual results could
materiallyiffer fromthose estinates.

Changes in accounting standards could affect the Company’s reported financial resulls.

Newccounting standards or pronouncenents that maypecone applicable tothe Conpanyfromtine totine,
or changes in the interpretation of eksting standards and pronouncenents could have a significant effect on the
Conpany reportedresults for the affected periods.

Obesity and other health concerns may reduce demand for some of the Company’s products.

Consurers, public health officials and governnent officials are becom ng increasingl yconcerned about the
public health consequences associated wh obesity particularlyanong gung people. In addition, sone
researchers, health advocates and dietaryguidelines are encouraging consuners to reduce the consunption of
sugar, including sugar sparkling beverages. Increasing public concern about these issues; possible newazs and
governmental regulations concerning the marketing, labeling or availabilityof the Conpany beverages; and
negative publicityesulting fromactual or threatened l egal actions against the Conpanyor ot her conpanies in the
sane industryelating tothe marketing, labeling or sale of sugar sparklingbeverages myeduce denand for these
beverages, hi ch coul d adversel yaf fect the Conpany profitability

The Company has experienced public policy challenges regarding the sale of soft drinks in schools,
particularly elementary, middle and high schools.

A nunber of states have regulations restricting the sale of soft drinks and other foods in schools. Mnyof
these restrictions have eksted for several gars in connection it h subsidied neal prograns in schools. The focus
has nmore recentlyturned to the groing health, nutrition and obesityconcerns of today puth. The inpact of
restrictive legislation, if idel yenacted, coul d have an adverse inpact on the Conpany products, i nage and
reputation.

The concentration of the Company’s capital stock ownership with the Harrison family limits other
stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters.

Mnbers of the Harrison famlyincluding the Conpany Chairnan and Chief Egcutive (Officer, J. Frank
Harrison, II1, beneficiall yowshares of Comon Stock and Class B Common St ock representing approkmatel y
85% of the total voting powr of the Conpany outstanding capital stock. In addition, three nenbers of the
Harrison famlyincluding M. Harrison, I11, serve on the Board of Directors of the Conpany As a result,
nenbers of the Harrison familyhave the abilityto e&rt substantial influence or actual control over the
Conpany managenent and affairs and over substantiallyall matters requiring action bythe Conpany
stockhol ders. Additionallyas aresult of the Harrison fam 1§ significant beneficial omership of the Conpany
out st andi ng voting stock, the Conpanyhas relied on the ontrolled conpanjegnption fromcertain corporate
governance requirenents of The NASDAQ St ock Mrket LLC. This concentration of omership mayhave the
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effect of delayng or preventing a change in control otheriwe favored byt he Conpany ot her stockhol ders and
could depress the stock price. It also linmits other stockholders’abilityto influence corporate matters and, as a
resul t, t he Conpanymayt ake actions that the Conpany ot her st ockhol ders nayot views beneficial.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

The principal properties of the Conpanyinclude its corporate headquarters, four production/distribution
facilities and 42 sales distribution centers. The Conpanyoms twproduction/distribution facilities and 35 sales
distribution centers, and leases its corporate headquarters, tw production/distribution facilities and 7 sal
distributioncenters.

The Conpanyl eases its 110,000 square foot corporate headquarters and a 65,000 square foot adjacent office
building froma rel ated partyThe lease has a fifteen-yar termand epires in Decenber 2021. Rental papents
for these facilities sre $3.9mllionin 2011.

The Conpanyl eases its 542,000 square foot Sngler Production Center and an adjacent 105,000 square foot
distribution center in Charlotte, North Carolina froma related partypursuant toalease ih a ten-gar termhich
epires in Decenber 2020. Rent al pagent s under this lease totaled $3.4nillionin2011.

The Conpanyl eases its 330,000 square foot production/distribution facilityin Nashville, Tennessee. The l1ease
requires nont hl ypagent s t hr ough Decenber 2014. Rent al pagents under this lease totaled $.5nillionin?2011.

The Conpanyl eases a 278,000 square foot srehouse hich serves as additional space for its Charlotte,
North Carolina distribution center. The lease requires nonthl ypagents through Mrch 2012. Rental pagents
under this lease totaled $.9 nillionin 2011.

The Conpanyl eases a 220,000 square foot sales distribution center in Lavergne, Tennessee. This lease
replaced an eksting lease on a 130,000 square foot center in the first quarter of 2011. The newease requires
nont hl ypagent s t hrough 2026, but does not require rental papents for the first eleven nonths of the lease.
Rent al pagents under the previous lease sre $.1nillionfor the first quarter of 2011.

The Conpanyl eases its 50,000 square foot sales distribution center in Charleston, South Carolina. The lease
requires nont hl ypagent s t hrough January2017. Rent al pagents under this lease totaled $.4 nmllionin?2011.

The Conpanyl eases its 57,000 square foot sales distribution center in Geenville, South Carolina. The l1ease
requires nont hl ypagent s t hrough Jul Y2018. Rent al pagyents under this lease totaled $.7nillionin2011.

The Conpanyl eases a 75,000 square foot srehouse hich serves as additional space for the Conpany
Roanoke, irginia distributioncenter. The l ease requires nont hl ypagents t hrough Mirch 2019. Rent al papent s
under this lease totaled $.3nillionin 2011.

In the first quarter of 2011, the Conpanybegan leasing a 233,000 square foot sales distribution center in
Clayon, North Carolina ki ch replaced the Conpany forner Raleigh, North Carolina sales distribution center.
This lease requires nonthlylease pagents through April 2026. Rental papents under this lease totaled $.7
mllionin?2011.

The Conpanyoms and operates a 316,000 square foot production/distribution facilityin Roanoke, Mirginia
and a 271,000 square foot production/distribution facilityinMbile, Al abana.
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The approkmat e percentage utiliation of the Conpany productionfacilities is indicated below

Production Facilities

Percentage
Location Utilization *
Charlotte, NorthCarolina. ... ... e 72%
Mbile, Alabama. . .. ... 54%
Nashville, TeNNESSEE . ..ottt e e e e 64%
Roanoke, Mirginia ... ... 65%

* Estimated 2012 production di vi ded byapaci t ¥based on operations of 6 day per sek and 20 hours per day.

The Conpanyurrentlshas sufficient production capacityto neet its operational requirenents. Inadditionto
the production facilities noted above, the Conpanyutilies a portion of the production capacityat SAC, a
cooperative locatedin Bishopville, South Carolina, that oms a 261,000 square foot production facility

The Conpany products are generallytransportedtosales distributionfacilities for storage pending sale. The
nunber of sales distributionfacilities bynarket area as of January1, 2012 s as fol 1 os

Sales Distribution Facilities

Number of

Region Facilities
North Carolina . ...t e e e 12
South Carolina .. ..ot 6
South Alabama ... ... e 4
SOULh GBOT @I . . .ot te 4
MdAdle TenNESSCE. « o\t ettt et e e e e e 4
MEstern Mrginia. . ... 4
VEst Mirginia. ... 8

Tot al ..o 42

The Conpany facilities are all in good condition and are adequate for the Conpany operations as
present ] yonduct ed.

The Conpanyal so operates approknatel yl1,800 vehicles in the sale and distribution of the Conpany
beverage products, of hich approkmatelyl,200 are route deliverytrucks. In addition, the Conpanyoms
approkmat el y185,000 beverage di spensing and vendi ng nachines for the sale of the Conpany products in the
Conpany bottlingterritories.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

The Conpanyi s invol ved in various clains and 1 egal proceedings ki ch have arisenin the ordinaryourse of
its business. Although it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcone of these clains and legal proceedings
managenent believes that the ultinate disposition of these matters Wl not have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition, cash flowor results of operations of the ConpanyNo material anount of loss in ezess of
recorded anount s i s believed to be reasonabl ypossible as aresult of these clains and l1egal proceedings.

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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Executive Officers of the Company

The folloingis alist of nanes and ages of all the eacutive officers of the Conpanyindicating all positions
and of fices it h t he Conpanghel d byeach such person. All officers have servedintheir present capacities for the
past five gars egept as otherwse stated.

J. FRANK HARRISON, I1I, age 57, is Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer of
the Conpany M. Harrison, III ms appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors in Decenber 1996.
M. Harrison, III served as Vi ce Chairnman fromNovenber 1987 t hrough Decenber 1996 and ss appointed as the
Conpany Chi ef Ezcutive Officer in Myl994. Fe &s first enpl ogd byt he Conpanyi n 1977 and has ser ved
as a Division Sales Mnager and as a Vice President.

WILLIAM B. ELMORE, age 56, is President and Chief (perating (Officer and a Director of the Conpany
positions he has held since JanuaryY2001. Previ ousl yhe ss Vice President, Val ue Chain fromJul y1999 and M ce
President, Business Sytens fromAugust 1998 to June 1999. e ws Vice President, Treasurer fromJune 1996 to
July1998. & s Mice President, Regional Mnager for the Virginia Division, Wst Virginia Division and
Tennessee Di vision fromAugust 1991 t o Myl 996.

HENRY W. FLINT, age 57,1s M ce Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Conpanya position he has held
since April 2007. Previouslyhe s Ezcutive Vice President and Assistant to the Chairnan of the Conpanya
positiontokichhe ss appointedinJul 2004. Prior tothat, he s a Mnaging Partner at the I awirmof Kennedy
Covi ngt on Lobdel 1 & H cknan, LLP. it h ki ch he s associated from1980 t o 2004.

WILLIAM J. BILLIARD, age 45, is M ce President of (perations Finance and Chief Accounting (Officer. Be
#s naned Vice President of (perations Finance on Novenber 1, 2010 and & appoi nt ed Chief Accounting (fficer
on Februar y20, 2006. Previ ous] yhe s al so Vice President and Corporate Controller of the Conpanynd & first
enpl ogd byt he Conpanyn Febr uar 20, 2006. Before j oi ni ng t he Conpanyhe ss Senior Vice President, Interim
Chief Financial (fficer and Corporate Controller of Portrait Corporation of Anerica, Inc., a portrait photograph
st udi o conpanyfromSept enber 2005 t o Januar Y2006 and Seni or Vi ce President, Corporate Controller fromAugust
2001 to Sept enber 2005. Prior tothat, he served as Mice President, Chief Financial (fficer of Tailored Mnagenent,
a long-termstaffing conpany from August 2000 to August 2001. Portrait Corporation of Anerica, Inc. filed a
vol unt arypetition for reor ganiation under Chapter 11 of the US. Bankrupt cyCode i n August 2006.

ROBERT G. CHAMBLESS, age 46,1s Senior Vice President of Sales and Mrketing, a position he has hel d
since August 2010. Previ ousl yhe ss Senior M ce President, Sales, a position he held since June 2008. Fe held
the position of Vice President Franchise Sales fromearly2003 t o June 2008 and Regi on Sal es Minager for our
Sout hern Di vi sion bet®en 2000 and 2003. Fe as Sales Minager in the Conpany Col unbi a, Sout h Carolina
branch bet®en 1997 and 2000. e has served the Conpanyin several other positions prior to this position and
s first enpl ogd byt he Conpanyi n 1986.

CLIFFORD M. DEAL, III, age 50,1is M ce President and Treasurer, a position he has held since June 1999.
Previouslyhe s Director of Conpensation and Benefits fromQctober 1997 to Myl999. Fe ss Corporate
Benefits Minager fromDecenber 1995 to Septenber 1997 and s Mnager of TaxAccounting fromNovenber
1993 t o Novenber 1995.

NORMAN C. GEORGE, age 56, 1s President, BYB Brands, Inc, a kol 1 yomed subsi di ar yof t he Conpany
that distributes and markets TumE Yommies and ot her products devel oped byt he Conpanya position he has
held since Jul 2006. Prior to that he ss Senior Vice President, Chief Mrketing and Custoner (fficer, a position
he ms appointed to in Septenber 2001. Prior to that, he ss Vice President, Mrketing and National Sales, a
position he ms appointed to in Decenber 1999. Prior to that, he s Vice President, Corporate Sales, a position
he had held since August 1998. Previouslyhe ms Vice President, Sales for the Carolinas South Region, a
position he hel d begi nni ng i n Novenber 1991.

JAMES E. HARRIS, age 49, is Senior Mice President, Shared Services and Chief Financial Officer, a
position he has held since January28, 2008. Fe served as a Director of the ConpanyfromAugust 2003 until
January25, 2008 and ss a nenber of the Audit Committee and the Finance Committee. e served as Egcuti ve
M ce President and Chief Financial (fficer of MdCath Corporation, an operator of cardiovascul ar hospitals, from
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Decenber 1999 to January2008. From 1998 to 1999 he ss Chief Financial (fficer of Fresh Foods, Inc., a
manufacturer of fullycooked food products. From1987 to 1998, he served in several different officer positions
Wt h The Shel t on Conpani es, Inc. He al so served twyars it h Ernst & Young LIP as a seni or account ant.

DAVID L. HOPKINS, age 52,1is Senior Vice President of (perations. He @ naned Senior M ce President
of (perations in My2011. Prior tothat, he s Vice President of Logistics from2003 to 2011 and Vice President
of (perations from1994 to 2003. e served as Mice President of Mnufacturing from1990 to 1994. Hs career
wth the Conpanypegan in 1988 as t he Roanoke Pl ant Minager.

UMESH M. KASBEKAR, age 54,1s Senior Mce President of Pl anning and Admnistration,a position he has held
since Januaryl995. Prior tothat, he as Vice President, Pl anni ng, a posi tion he & appointedtoinDecenber 1988.

LAUREN C. STEELE, age 57, is Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs, a position to hich he =
appointed in Mrch 2012. Prior to that, he s Vice President of Corporate Affairs, a position he has held since
My1989. e is responsible for governnent al, nedi a and conmuni t yel ations for the Conpany

MICHAEL A. STRONG, age 58, is Senior Vice President of Himan Resources, a position to kich he a5
appointed in Mrch 2011. Previousl yhe s M ce President of Himan Resources, a position to hich he @
appointed i n Decenber 2009. He ss Region Sal es Minager for the North Carolina Wst Regi on fromDecenber
2006 t o Novenber 2009. Prior to that, he served as Di vision Sal es Minager and General Mnager as ®&l1 as ot her
keysales related positions. He joined the Conpanyin 1985 hen the Conpanyacquired Coca-Cola Bottling
Conpanyi n Mbi l e, Al abana, here he began his career.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

The Conpanyhas twclasses of common stock outstanding, Common Stock and Class B Conmon St ock.
The Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQQ obal Select Mrket under the sybol COKE. The table bel ow
sets forth for the periods indicated the high and l oweported sales prices per share of Common St ock. There is no
established public trading market for the Class B Common Stock. Shares of Class B Common Stock are
convertible ona share-for-share basis intoshares of Common St ock.

Fiscal Year
2011 2010
High Low High Low
First quarter ... ... .oouoiunniin e, $67.38  $52.80 $61.00  $48.38
Second quarter .............o.iuiininiiiiinannnn... 76.32 64.97 59.38 46.07
Thirdquarter .......... ... i 69.92 53.50 54.60 45.51
Fourthquarter....... ... .. . .. 59.81 50.26 60.46 52.56

A quarterlydividend rate of $.25 per share on both Common Stock and Class B Common Stock s
mai nt ai ned t hroughout 2010 and 2011. Common St ock and Class B Common St ock have participated equallyin
di vi dends since 1994.

Pursuant to the Conpany certificate of incorporation, nocash dividend or dividend of propertyor stock ot her
than st ock of the Conpanyas specificallylescribedinthe certificate of incorporation, mybe decl ared and paid on
the Class B Common St ock unl ess an equal or greater dividendis declared and pai d on t he Cormon St ock.

The anount and frequencyof future dividends w1 be determ ned byt he Conpany Board of Directors in
light of the earnings and financial condition of the Conpanyat such tine, and no assurance can be given that
dividends W1 be declared or paidinthe future.

The nunber of stockholders of record of the Common St ock and Class B Common St ock, as of Mrch 1,
2012, ws 2,953 and 10, respectively

(h Mrch 8, 2011, the Conpensation Committee determ ned that 40,000 shares of restricted Class B Common
St ock, $1.00 par val ue, should be i ssued pursuant to a Performance thit Asrd Agreenent toJ. Frank Harrison, 11,
in connection th his services in 2010 as Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer of the
Conpany As permtted under the terns of the Performance Lhit Asrd Agreenent, 17,680 of such shares ®re
settledincashtosatisfyaxthhol dingobligationsinconnectionisththe vestingof the perfornmance units.

(h Mrch 6, 2012, t he Conpensation Committee determ ned that 40,000 shares of restricted Class B Common
St ock, $1.00 par val ue, should be i ssued pursuant to a Performance Uhit Asrd Agreenent toJ. Frank Harrison, 11,
in connection th his services in 2011 as Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer of the
Conpany As permtted under the terns of the Performance Lhit Asrd Agreenent, 17,680 of such shares ®re
settledincashtosatisfyaxthhol dingobligationsinconnectionisththe vestingof the perfornmance units.

The amrds to M. Harrison, II1 ®sre issued wthout registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (the
Securities ActYinreliance on Section4(2) of the Securities Act.

Presented bel ows a line graph conparing the garl ypercentage change in the cumil ative total return on the
Conpany Common St ock to the cumul ative total return of the Standard & Poor$ 500 Indexand a peer group for
the period comencing Decenber 31, 2006 and endi ng Januaryl, 2012. The peer group, hichis labeled New
Peer G oup’in the legend bel owhe 1ine graph, is conprised of Dr Pepper Snapple G oup, Inc., The Coca-Col a
Conpany Cott Corporation, National Beverage Corp., and Pepsi Co, Inc. The Conpanyused a peer group of
conpani es that included a si&h conpanyCoca-Cola Enterprises Inc.,in the line graph conparison of five yar
cumil ative return included in the Conpany Annual Report on Form10-Kfor the fiscal gar ended January2,
2011. The Coca-Col a Conpanyacquired Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc. in Gctober 2010, and the North Anerican
operations of that conpanyare nowncluded in a subsidiaryf The Coca-Col a ConpanyThe line labeled Od
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Peer Group™in the legend bel owhe 1ine graph includes the perfornmance of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc. through
the date of its acquisition bylhe Coca-Col a Conpanyas ®l1 as the perfornance of the five conpanies included
inthe Reweer G oup’for the entire five-gar period.

The graph assunes that $100 ss invested in the Conpany Common St ock, the Standard & Poor$ 500
Indexand the peer group on Decenber 31, 2006 and that all dividends ®re reinvested on a quarterlybasis.
Returns for the conpanies included in the peer group have been @i ghted on the basis of the total narket
capitaliation for each conpany

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated, the S&P 500 Index, Old Peer Group,
and New Peer Group

$175
$150 ]
L \ /
$ ~ - = ==
~ _—
~N
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$25
$0 I I I I
12/31/06 12/30/07 12/28/08 1/3/10 1/2/11 171712
—— CCBCC —— S&P 500 ---- 0ld Peer Group New Peer Group
12/31/06 | 12/30/07 | 12/28/08 1/3/10 1/2/11 1/1/12
CCBCC $100 $ 88 $68 $ 84 $ 88 $ 94
S&P 500 $100 $105 $66 $ 84 $ 97 $ 99
Old Peer Group $100 $129 $93 $118 $136 $146
New Peer Group $100 $129 $94 $118 $137 $148
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The fol loing table sets forthcertainselected financial data concerning the Conpanyor the five gars ended
Januaryl, 2012. The data for the five gars ended Januaryl, 2012 is derived fromaudited consolidated financial
statements of the ConpanyThis information should be read in conjunction ith Mnagenent$ Discussion and
Analyis of Financial Conditionand Results of (perations’set forthinItem7hereof andis qualifiedinits entirety
byreference to the nore detailed consolidated financial statenents and notes contained in Item8 hereof. This
infornation shouldalsobereadinconjunctioniththe Risk Factors’set forthinItemlA.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA*
Fiscal Year**

In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Summary of Operations
Net sales oo $1,561,239 $1,514,599 $1,442,986 $1,463,615 $1,435,999
Costof sales..........ooiuiiiiiininn... 931,996 873,783 822,992 848,409 814,865
Selling, deliverynd adninistrative epenses. . ..... 541,713 544,498 525,491 555,728 539,251
Total costs andepenses. . .............oveuinen.n. 1,473,709 1,418,281 1,348,483 1,404,137 1,354,116
Incone fromoperations.......................... 87,530 96,318 94,503 59,478 81,883
Interest epense, net. . ........vvvinneennennen . 35,979 35,127 37,379 39,601 47,641
Incone beforetags.............. ... ..., 51,551 61,191 57,124 19,877 34,242
Incone taxepense ........... ..., 19,528 21,649 16,581 8,394 12,383
Net IMCOMB ..o vttt e e e e e e e e 32,023 39,542 40,543 11,483 21,859

Less: Net incone attributable tononcontrolling

INEETeSt. ottt 3,415 3,485 2,407 2,392 2,003

Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola Bottling Co.

Consolidated ......... ... .. ..., $ 28,608 $ 36,057 $ 38,136 $ 9,091 $ 19,856

Basic net incone per share based on net incone
attributable to Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:

Commn SEOCK .ottt $ 311§ 393§ 416 $ 99 8 2.18

Class BCommon Stock ..........couiiiinnn.. $ 311 $ 393§ 416 $ 99 3 2.18
Diluted net incone per share based on net incone

attributable to Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:

Common Stock ... $ 3.09 § 391 % 415 $ 99 8 2.17

Class BCommon Stock ...........ovvviiinan. $ 3.08 $ 390 $ 413 $ 99 $ 2.17
Cash di vidends per share:

Common Stock ....... .. $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00

Class BCommon Stock .................oo... $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Other Information
Wi ghted average nunber of common shares

out st andi ng:

Common Stock ... 7,141 7,141 7,072 6,644 6,644

Class BCommon Stock ................. ... 2,063 2,040 2,092 2,500 2,480
Wi ght ed average nunber of common shares

out st andi ng —assumi ng di l ution:

Common Stock ........... i 9,244 9,221 9,197 9,160 9,141

Class BCommwn Stock .......... ... 2,103 2,080 2,125 2,516 2,497
Year-End Financial Position
Total asSet.s ..ottt $1,361,170  $1,307,622 $1,283,077 $1,315,772 $1,291,799
Current portionof debt ......................... 120,000 — — 176,693 7,400
Current portion of obligations under capital leases 4,574 3,866 3,846 2,781 2,602
(bligations under capital leases................. 69,480 55,395 59,261 74,833 77,613
Long-termdebt. ....... ... ... ... . ... ... 403,219 523,063 537,917 414,757 591,450
Tot al equityf Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated 131,301 127,895 116,291 76,309 120,504

* See Minagenent $ Discussion and Analyis of Financial Conditionand Results of (perations and the acconpanyng notes to consolidated
financial statenents for additional informtion.

** All gars presented are 52-wek fiscal gars ezept 2009 hich ms a 53-wek yar. The estinated net sales, gross nargin and selling,
deliveryand adninistrative epenses for the additional selling sek in 2009 of approkmatel y$18 nillion, $6 nillion and $4 nillion,
respectivel yare includedinreportedresults for 2009.
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements

During the second quarter of 2011, Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated (tthe Conpanyidentified anerror
in the treatnent of accrued additions for propertyplant and equi pnent in the Consolidated Statenents of Cash
Fl osv The Conpangyhas revised prior period financial statenents tocorrect this inmaterial error. Refer toNote 1
Si gnificant Accounting Policies Revision of Prior Period Financial Statenents for further details. This error
affected the gar-to-date Consolidated Statenents of Cash Flow and Supplenental Disclosures of Cash Flow
Information presented for each of the quarters of 2010, including the yar-end consolidated financial statenents
for 2010, as wll as the first quarter of 2011 and resulted in an understatenent of net cash provided byoperating
activities and net cashusedininvestingactivities for each of the inpacted periods. This revision didnot affect t
Conpany Consolidated Statenents of (perations or Consolidated Bal ance Sheets for anyf these periods. The
discussion and analyis included hereinis based on the financial results (and revised Consolidated Statenents of
Cash Flow) for the yar ended January?2, 2011.

The folloing Mnagenent$ Discussion and Analyis of Financial Condition and Results of (perations
(MD&AY of Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated (the Conpany should be read in conjunction wth the
consolidated financial statenents of the Conpanyand the acconpanyng notes to the consolidated financial
statenents. MD&A includes the foll oing sections:

e Qur Business and the Nonal coholic Beverage Industryageneral description of the Conpany business
and t he nonal coholic beverage industry

e Areas of Enphasis -a-sumnar yof t he Conpany keypriorities.

e Overviewf (perations and Financial Condition -a-summaryof keyi nformation and trends concerning
the financial results for the three gars ended 2011.

e Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and NewAccounting Pronouncenents &
discussion of accounting policies that are nost inportant to the portragl of the Conpan¥y financial
condition and results of operations and that require critical judgnents and estimates and the epected
inpact of newccounting pronouncenents.

* Results of (perations -an anal yis of the Conpany results of operations for the three gars presentedin
the consolidated financial statenents.

* Financial Condition-an analyis of the Conpany financial condition as of the end of the last twgars
as presentedinthe consolidated financial statenents.

eLiquidityand Capital Resources -an analyis of capital resources, cash sources and uses, investing
activities, financing activities, off-balance sheet arrangenents, aggregate contractual obligations an
hedging activities.

e Cautionary nfornation Regardi ng For sw d-Looki ng St atenent s.

The fiscal gars presented are the 52-wek periods ended Januaryl, 2012 (2011) and January2, 2011
(2010Y and t he 53-wek period ended January3, 2010 (2009). The Conpany fiscal gar ends on t he Sunday
closest to Decenber 31 of each gar.

The consolidated financial statenents include the consolidated operations of the Conpanyand its nmajority
omed subsidiaries including Piednont Coca-Cola Bottling Partnership (Piednont). Noncontrolling interest
prinarilyonsists of The Coca-Col a Conpany interest in Piednont, ki ch ss 22.7% for all periods presented.

Piednont is the Conpany onlysignificant subsidiarythat has a noncontrolling interest. Noncontrolling
interest incone of $3.4 nmllionin 2011, $3.5mllionin 2010 and $2.4 m11lion in 2009 are included in net i ncone
on the Conpany consolidated statenents of operations. In addition, the anount of consolidated net incone
attributable to both the Conpanyand noncontrollinginterest are showon t he Conpany consolidated statenents
of operations. Noncontrolling interest prinarilyrelated to Piednont totaled $59.9 nillion and $56.5 million at
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Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel y These anounts are showas noncontrolling interest in the
equi t yection of the Conpany consolidated bal ance sheets.

During My2010, Nashville, Tennessee eperienced a severe rain stormhich caused ekensive flood
danage in the area. The Conpanyhas a production/sales distribution facilitylocated in the flooded area. Due to
danage incurred during this flood, the Conpanyecorded a loss of $.2nillion on uninsured cold drink equi pnent .
This loss s of fset byzains of $1.1 nmillionfor the ezess of insurance proceeds recei ved over the net book val ue
of production equipnent damaged as a result of the flood. In 2010, the Conpanyreceived $7.1 million in
insurance proceeds relatedtolosses fromthe flood.

Our Business and the Nonalcoholic Beverage Industry

The Conpanyproduces, markets and distributes nonal coholic beverages, prinaril yproducts of The Coca-
Cola Conpany ki ch include sone of the nmost recognied and popul ar beverage brands in the wrld. The
Conpanyis the largest independent bottler of products of The Coca-Cola Conpanyin the Thited States,
distributing these products ineleven states prinarilyin the Southeast. The Conpanyal so distributes several ot her
beverage brands. These product offerings include both sparkling and still beverages. Sparkling beverages are
carbonated beverages, including energyproducts. Still beverages are noncarbonated beverages such as bottled
ster, tea, readyto-drink coffee, enhanced ster, juices and sports drinks. The Conpanyhad net sales of $1.6
billionin?2011.

The nonal coholic beverage narket is hi ghl yconpetitive. The Conpany conpetitors include bottlers and
distributors of nationallyand regionallyadvertised and marketed products and private label products. In each
region in ki ch the Conpanyoperates, betwen 85% and 95% of sparkling beverage sales in bottles, cans and
other containers are accounted for byt he Conpanyandits principal conpetitors, lichineachregionincludes the
local bottler of Pepsi-Cola and, in sone regions, the local bottler of Dr Pepper, Rogl Crow and/or 7-Up
products. The sparkling beverage categor y(incl udi ng ener gyproducts) represents 83% of the Conpany 2011
bottle/can net sales.

The principal nethods of conpetition in the nonal coholic beverage i ndustryare point-of-sal e nerchandi sing,
newroduct introductions, newending and di spensing equi pnent, packagi ng changes, pricing, price pronotions,
product qualityretail space managenent, custoner service, frequencyof distribution and advertising. The
Conpanypelieves it is conpetitiveinits territories ithrespect toeach of these nethods.

The Coca-Cola Conpanyacquired Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc. (CCEY on Crtober 2, 2010. In connection
wth the transaction, CCE changed its nane to Coca-Cola Refreshnents ISA, Inc. (CCR) and transferred its
beverage operations outside of North Anerica to an independent third partyAs a result of the transaction, the
North Anerican operations of CCE are nowncluded in CCR In MD&A, references to CCRrefer to CCRand
CCE as it eksted prior to the acquisition bylhe Coca-Col a ConpanyThe Coca-Col a Conpanyhad a si gni ficant
equitynterest in CCE prior tothe acquisition.

The Conpany net sales inthe last three fiscal yars byroduct categoryre as fol 1l ow

Fiscal Year

In thousands 2011 2010 2009
Bottle/cansales:

Sparkling beverages (i ncludi ng energyproducts) .............. $1,052,164 $1,031,423 $1,006,356

Still DeVerages .. oottt 219,628 213,570 202,079
Total bottle/cansales...... ... ... 1,271,792 1,244,993 1,208,435
QG her sales:

Sales toother Coca-Colabottlers .............oo. ... 150,274 140,807 131,153

Post-mixandother. ... ... ... . 139,173 128,799 103,398
Total other sales. . ... 289,447 269,606 234,551
Total Net SAleS. . oo vttt $1,561,239 $1,514,599 $1,442,986




Areas of Emphasis

Keypriorities for the Conpanyinclude revenue managenent, product innovation and beverage portfolio
epansion, distribution cost mnagenent, and productivity

Revenue Management

Revenue nanagenent requires a strategyhich reflects consideration for pricing of brands and packages
wthin product categories and channel s, hi ghl yeffective mrkingrelationships iwhcustoners anddisciplinedfact-
based deci sion-naki ng. Revenue managenent has been and continues to be a keydriver hich has a significant
inpact on the Conpany results of operations.

Product Innovation and Beverage Portfolio Expansion

Innovation of both nevbrands and packages has been and W1 continue to be critical to the Conpan¥y
overall revenue. During 2008, the Conpanytested the 16-ounce bottle/24-ounce bottle package in select
conveni ence stores and introduced it conpanide in 2009. Newackaging i ntroductions include the 1.25-liter
bottle in 2011, 7.5-ounce sleek canin 2010 and the 2-liter contour bottle for Coca-Col a products during 2009.

The Conpanyhas invested inits owbrand portfolio ith products such as TumE Yunmies, a vitamin C
enhanced flavored drink, CountryBreee tea, Bean & Bodycoffee beverage and Fuel in a Bottle posr shots.
These brands enabl e the Conpanyto participate instrong growh categories andcapitalieg ondistribution channels
that include the Conpany traditional Coca-Cola franchise territoryas ®ll as third partydistributors outside the
Conpany traditional Coca-Cola franchise territory Wiile the groth prospects of Conpanyomed or
exlusivelylicensed brands appear prom sing, the cost of devel opi ng, marketing and distributing these brands is
anticipatedtobe significant as all.

Distribution Cost Management

Distribution costs represent the costs of transporting finished goods fromConpanyl ocations to custoner
outlets. Total distribution costs anounted to $191.9 m1lion, $187.2 m1lion and $188.9 millionin 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectivel yOver the past several yars, the Conpanyhas focused on converting its distribution sytem
froma conventional routing sytemtoa predictive sytem This conversiontoa predictive sytemhas allowsd the
Conpanyto nore efficientlyhandle increasing nunbers of products. In addition, the Conpanyhas closed a
nunber of smaller sales distributioncenters reducingits fi&d srehouse-related costs.

The Conpanshas three prinaryleliveryytens for its current business:
ebulk deliveryfor large supernarkets, nass nerchandisers and clubstores;

e advanced sale deliveryfor convenience stores, drug stores, snall supermarkets and on-prenises accounts;
and

e full servicedeliveryorits full service vending custoners.
Distribution cost nanagenent Wl continue to be a keyarea of enphasis for the Conpany
Productivity
A keydriver in the Conpany selling, deliveryand adm nistrative (S,D&A) epense nanagenent relates

to ongoing inprovenents inlabor productivityndasset productivity

Overview of Operations and Financial Condition

The comparability of operating results for 2011, 2010 and 2009 is affected by one additional selling week in
2009 due to the Company’s fiscal year ending on the Sunday closest to December 31. The estimated net sales,
gross margin and S,D&A expenses for the additional selling week in 2009 of approximately $18 million, $6 million
and $4 million, respectively, are included in reported results for 2009.
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The folloingitens alsoaffect the conparabilityof the financial results presented bel ow
2011

°a $6.7 million pre-taxunfavorable mark-t o-nmarket adjustnent to cost of sales related to the Conpany
2011 al um numhedgi ng program

ea$2mnillion pre-taxnfavorable nark-to-narket adjustnent to S,D&A epenses related to the Conpany
2011 fuel hedging program and

ca$9nillioncredit toincone taxpense relatedtothe reductionof the liabilityor uncertain taxpositions
in 2011 due minlytothe lapse of applicable statute of linmitations.

2010

°a $3.8 nillion pre-taxunfavorable mark-t o-narket adjustnent to cost of sales related to the Conpany
2010 and 2011 al um numhedgi ng program

*a$9nillion pre-taxfavorable adjustnent to cost of sales related to the gain on the replacenent of flood
danmaged production equi pnent ;

ea $1.4 nillion pre-taxunfavorable nark-to-market adjustnent to S,D&A epenses related to the
Conpany 2010 fuel hedgi ng program

ea $3.7 mllion pre-taxunfavorable adjustnent to S,D&A epenses related to the inpairnent/accelerated
depreciation of propertyplant and equi pnent ;

°ea $5 nllion unfavorable adjustnent to incone taxepense related to the elinination of the deduction
related tothe Mdicare Part D subsidyand

ea $1.7 nillion credit to incone taxepense related to the reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain tax
positions due nainltothe lapse of applicable statute of limtations.

2009

°*a$10.5nillionpre-taXavorable nark-to-narket adjustnent tocost of sales related to the Conpany 2010
and 2011 al um numhedgi ng prograns;

ea $3.6nillion pre-taxavorable mark-to-market adjustnent to S,D&A epenses related to the Conpany
2010 and 2009 fuel hedgi ng prograns;

°a $54 nillion credit to incone taxepense related to the reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain tax
positions due nainl tothe lapse of applicable statute of limtations; and

ea$l.7mnmllion credit toincone taxepense related to an agreenent wh a taxauthorityto settle certain
prior taypositions.

The followng overviews a sumnaryof keyi nformation concerning the Conpany financial results for
2011 conpared t 0 2010 and 2009.

Fiscal Year

In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 2009

Net sales .. ..o $1,561,239  $1,514,599  $1,442,986
GOSS MAIZIN. .ottt 629,243 640,816 619,994
S.D&A ERENSES  + v ov ettt e 541,713 544,498 525,491
Incone fromoperations............................ 87,530 96,318 94,503
Interest epense, neL . ...t 35,979 35,127 37,379
Incone beforetags. .. ...... ... .. 51,551 61,191 57,124
Income taxepense ............. .o, 19,528 21,649 16,581
Net INCOMB . ..ottt e e e e e e 32,023 39,542 40,543
Net incone attributable tothe Conpany............. 28,608 36,057 38,136
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Fiscal Year

In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 2009
Basic net incone per share:
Common Stock . ... . e $3.11  $3.93 $4.16
Class BComon Stock . ......... ... .. i $3.11  $3.93 $4.16
Diluted net incone per share:
Common Stock . ... . e $3.09 $391 $4.15
Class BComon Stock . ........... ... i $3.08  $3.90 $4.13

The Conpany net sales grewd.2% from?2009 to 2011. The net sales increase s prinarilydue to an
increase in bottle/can volune and a $22.2 nillion increase in sales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio. The
increase in sales of the Conpany ow brand portfolio ss primarilydue to the distribution byCCR of the
Conpany TumE Yunmi es products beginning inthe first quarter of 2010. Overall bottle/can vol une i ncreased
byt.7% including a 1.9% increase insparkling beverages and a 22.7% increase instill beverages.

Goss margindollars increased 1.5% from2009 to 2011. The Conpany gross nargin as a percentage of net
sales decreased from43.0% in 2009 to 40.3% in 2011. The decrease in gross nmargin percentage # primnaril ydue
toincreases inrawaterial costs and the al um numhedgi ng programpartiallyffset byanincrease in bottle/can
sales prices.

The folloiwng inputs represent a substantial portion of the Conpany total cost of goods sold: (1) seeteners,
(2) packaging materials, including plastic bottles and alumnumcans, and (3) full goods purchased fromother
vendor s. The Conpanynticipates that the cost of the underlyng comodities relatedtothese inputs il continue to
face upsrd pressure and gross nargins on all categories of products il be lowr throughout 2012 conpared to
2011 due to the i npact of these rising commodityosts unless theyxanbe offset byrice increases.

S,D&A epenses increased 3.1% from2009 to 2011. The increase in S,D&A epenses s primarilythe
result of increases in enploye salaries (normal salaryincreases); bonus, incentive and other perfornance pay
initiatives; marketing epenses; fuel epense; professional fees and paments to enpl oges participating in the
Conpanyaut o al | osnce program(i npl enented i n phases begi nning in the second quarter of 2009). The i ncreases
in SD&A epenses wre offset bydecreases in bad debt epense, propertyand casual tyi nsurance epense and
enpl oye benefits costs prinarilydue to decreased pension epense. Depreciation and anortiation egenses sre
basicallylat from2009 to 2011 ith the decrease due to the auto allomnce programoffset byincreases primrily
due to increased purchases of refurbished vendi ng nachines wth shorter useful lives, anortiation fromsoftsre
projects and twadditional capital leases enteredintoduringthe first quarter of 2011.

Net interest epense decreased 3.7% in 2011 conpared to 2009. The decrease s primarilydue to 1owr
borroing level s. The Conpany overall wi ghted average interest rate onits debt and capital lease obligations
increased to 6.0% during 2011 from5.8% during 2009. This increase is the result of the conversion of one of the
Conpany capital leases froma floating rate to a figd rate inlate 2010, conbined th the Conpany use of
short -t ermborroings in 2009 at 1 owariable rates relative tothe figdrates onthe Conpany Seni or Debt .

Incone taxepense increased 17.8% from2009 to 2011. The i ncrease s primarilydue toalowr reduction
inthe liabilityor uncertain taxpositions. The Conpany effective taxate, as cal cul ated bydi vi di ng i ncone tax
egpense byi ncone before i ncone tags, s 37.9% for 2011 conpared to 29.0% for 2009. The effective taxates
differ fromstatutoryates as aresult of adjustnents to the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions, adjustnents to tl
deferred taxasset valuation allosnce and pernanent itens. The Conpany effective taxrate, as calculated by
dividing incone taxepense bythe difference of incone before incone tags less net incone attributable to
noncontrollinginterest, s 40.6% for 2011 conpared t o 30.3% for 2009.
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Net debt and capital lease obligations at fiscal yar ends sre as follow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2, Jan. 3,
In thousands 2012 2011 2010
Dbt . . $523,219  $523,063  $537,917
Capital leaseobligations..............c.oiiuiuinen.n. 74,054 59,261 63,107
Tot al debt and capital lease obligations................ 597,273 582,324 601,024
Less: Cash, cashequivalents andrestrictedcash......... 93,758 49,372 22,270
Tot al net debt and capital 1ease obligations(L).......... $503,515  $532,952  $578.,754

(1) The non-GAAP neasure Total net debt and capital lease obligations”is used to provide investors ith
additional information ki ch managenent believes is hel pful in evaluating the Conpany capital structure
and financial leverage.

Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and New Accounting Pronouncements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In the ordinaryourse of business, the Conpanshas nade a nunber of estinates and assunptions relatingto
the reporting of results of operations and financial position in the preparation of its consolidated financ
statenents in conformtywh accounting principles generallyaccepted in the Lhited States of Anerica. Actual
results could differ significantlyfromthose estinates under different assunptions and conditions. The Conpany
believes the folloing discussion addresses the Conpany nost critical accounting policies, kichare those nost
inportant to the portragl of the Conpany financial condition and results of operations and require
managenent$ nost difficult, subjective and conpl exj udgnents, often as a result of the need to make estimates
about the effect of matters that are i nherentl yuncertain.

The Conpanydi d not make changes in anyritical accounting policies during 2011. Anyhanges in critical
accounting policies and estimates are discussed Wwh the Audit Commttee of the Board of Directors of the
Conpanyduring the quarter inhicha change is contenpl ated and prior to naki ng such change.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Conpanyevaluates the collectibilityof its trade accounts receivable based on a nunber of factors. In
circunstances here t he Conpanybecones amre of a custoner$ inabilitytoneet its financial obligations tothe
Conpanya specific reserve for bad debts is estimated and recorded ki ch reduces the recognied recei vable to
the estimated anount the Conpanybelieves W1 ultimatelybe collected. In addition to specific custoner
identification of potential bad debts, bad debt charges are recorded based on the Conpany recent past 1loss
historyand an overall assessnent of past due trade accounts recei vabl e out st andi ng.

The Conpany reviewf potential bad debts considers the specific industryinhich a particular custoner
operates, such as supermarket retailers, convenience stores and nmass nerchandise retailers, and the general
econonmic conditions that currentlyekst in that specific industryThe Conpanythen considers the effects of
concentrationof credit riskinaspecificindustryand for specific custoners wthinthat industry

Property, Plant and Equipment

Propertypl ant and equi pnent is recorded at cost andis depreciated ona straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of such assets. Changes in circunstances such as technol ogi cal advances, changes to the Conpany
business nodel or changes in the Conpany capital spending strategycould result in the actual useful lives
differing fromthe Conpany current estinates. Factors such as changes in the planned use of manufacturing
equi pnent, col d drink di spensing equi pnent, transportation equi pnent, s ehouse facilities or softare could also
result inshortened useful lives.Inthose cases here the Conpanydet ermnes that the useful life of propertypl ant
and equi pnent should be shortened or 1engthened, the Conpanydepreciates the net book value in exess of the
estimated sal vage value over its revised remnining useful life. The Conpanychanged the estimate of the useful
lives of certain colddrink dispensing equipnent fromthirteentofifteengars inthe first quarter of 2009 to bett
reflect useful 1ives based on actual eperience.
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The Conpanyeval uates the recoverabilityof the carryng anount of its propertyplant and equi pnent hen
events or changes in circunstances indicate that the carryng anount of an asset or asset group nmaynot be
recoverabl e. These eval uations are perforned at a level here i ndependent cash flownaybe attributed to either
an asset or an asset group. If the Conpanydeterm nes that the carryng anount of an asset or asset group is not
recoverabl e based upon the epected undi scounted future cash flowof the asset or asset group, an inpairnent
loss is recorded equal tothe exess of the carryng anounts over the estinated fair val ue of the 1ong-lived assets.

During 2011, the Conpanyperforned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent and determined there ®s
no i npairnent to be recorded.

During 2010, the Conpanyperforned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent. As a result of this review
$9 nillion ®s recorded to inpairnent epense for five Conpanyomed sales distribution centers held-for-sale.
The Conpanyal so recorded accel erated depreciation of $.5nillion for certain other propertypl ant and equi pnent
hich s replaced in the first quarter of 2011. During 2010, the Conpanyal so determned the arehouse
operations in Sunter, South Carolina wuld be relocated to other facilities and recorded inpairment and
accelerated depreciation of $2.2 nillion for the value of equipnent and real estate related to the Sunter, South
Carolina property

Franchise Rights

The Conpanyconsiders franchise rights ith The Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies to be
indefinite lived because the agreenents are perpetual or, hen not perpetual, the Conpanyanticipates the
agreenents i1 continue to be renewd upon epiration. The cost of renesl s is mninal, and the Conpanyhas
not had anyrenewsl s deni ed. The Conpanyconsiders franchise rights as indefinite lived intangible assets and,
therefore, does not anortie the value of such assets. Instead, franchise rights are tested at least annuallyfor
inpairnent.

Impairment Testing of Franchise Rights and Goodwill

General l yaccepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires testing of intangible assets wh indefinite lives
and goodil 1 for inpairnent at least annual l yThe Conpanyonducts its annual inpairnent test as of the first day
of the fourth quarter of each fiscal gar. The Conpanyal so reviewintangible assets ith indefinite lives and
goodir 1 for inpairnent if there are significant changes inbusiness conditions that couldresult ininpairnent.

For the annual inpairment analyis of franchise rights, the Conpanyutiliegs the Geenfield Mthod to
estimate the fair value. The Geenfield Mthod assunes the Conpanyis starting newomi ng onl yfranchise
rights, and mkes investnents required to build an operation conparable tothe Conpany current operations. The
Conpanyestimates the cash flowrequired to build a conparable operation and the available future cash flow
fromthese operations. The cash floware then di scounted using an appropriate discount rate. The estinated fair
val ue based upon the discounted cash flowis then conpared to the carryng value on an aggregated basis. After
conpl eting these anal yes, there ws no i npairnent of the Conpany recorded franchise rights in 2011, 2010 or
2009. In addition to the discount rate, the estimated fair value includes a nunber of assunptions such as cost of
investnent to build a conparable operation, projected net sales, cost of sales, operating epenses and incone
tags. Changes in the assunptions required toestimate the present value of the cash flowattributable to franchise
rights could materiallyinpact the fair value estimate.

The Conpanyhas determined that it has one reporting unit for purposes of assessing goodill for potential
inpairnent. For the annual inpairnent analyis of goodil 1, the Conpanylevel ops an estinated fair value for the
reportingunit consideringthree different approaches:

e market value, using the Conpany stock price plus outstanding debt;
e discounted cash fl ownal yis; and

emultiple of earnings before interest, tags, depreciationand anortiation based uponrelevant industrydata.
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The estimated fair value of the reporting unit is then conpared toits carryng anount including goodis 1. If
the estimated fair value ezeeds the carryng anount, goodisll 1 be considered not to be inpaired and the
second step of the GAAPinpairnent test is not necessarylf the carryng anount including goodiil1 exeeds its
estimated fair value, the second step of the inpairnent test is perfornedto neasure the anount of the i npairnent,
if anyBased on this analyis, there s no inpairment of the Conpany recorded goodid1 in 2011, 2010 or
2009. The Conpanydoes not believe that the reporting unit is at risk of inpairnent in the future. The di scounted
cash flowanal yis includes a nunber of assunptions such as @i ghted average cost of capital, projected sales
vol une, net sales, cost of sales and operating epenses. Changes in these assunptions coul d materially npact the
fair value estinates.

The Conpanyuses its overall market capitaliation as part of its estimate of fair value of the reporting unit
andinassessing the reasonabl eness of the Conpany internal estinates of fair val ue.

To the exkent that actual and projected cash flowdecline in the future, or if narket conditions deteriorate
significantlythe Conpanynaybe required to performan interiminpairnent analyis that could result in an
inpairnent of franchise rights and goodill. The Conpanyhas deternined that there has not been an interim
inpairnent trigger since the first dayf the fourth quarter of 2011 annual test date.

Income Tax Estimates

The Conpany ecords a valuation allosnce toreduce the carryng value of its deferredtaxssets if, based on
the ®i ght of available evidence, it is deternminedit is nore likelythan not that such assets W1 not ultinatel ybe
realied. Wiile the Conpanyconsiders future taable incone and prudent and feasible taxpl anning strategies in
assessing the need for a val uation allosnce, shoul d the Conpanydetermine it w1 not be able torealig all or part
of its net deferred taxassets inthe future, an adjustnent to the valuation allosnce W1 be charged to incone in
the period in hich such determination is nade. A reduction in the valuation allomnce and corresponding
adjustnent toincone maybe requiredif the likelihood of realizng eksting deferred taxssets increases toa nore
likel ythan not level. The Conpanyegul arl yeviewthe realiabilityof deferred taxassets andinitiates areview
hen signi ficant changes inthe Conpany business occur that coul dinpact the realiabilityssessnent.

In addition to a valuation allomnce related to net operating loss carrforsrds, the Conpanyrecords
liabilities for uncertain taxpositions related to certain state and federal incone taxpositions. These liabilit
reflect the Conpany best estinate of the ultimate incone taxliabilitybased on currentlyknow facts and
information. Mterial changes in facts or information as ®l1 as the epiration of the statute of limtations and/or
settlenents thindividual state or federal jurisdictions mayesult inmaterial adjustnents tothese estinates int]
future. The Conpanyecorded net favorable adjustnents toits liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions in 2011, 2010
and 2009 prinarilyas aresult of the epiration of the statute of limtations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognied hen finished products are delivered to custoners and both title and the risks and
benefits of omership are transferred, price is figd and determinable, collection is reasonabl yassured and, in the
case of full service vending, kien cashis collected fromthe vendi ng machines. Appropriate provisionis nade for
uncol lectible accounts.

The Conpanyreceives service fees fromThe Coca-Cola Conpanyrel ated to the deliveryf fountain syup
products to The Coca-Col a Conpany fountain custoners. In addition, the Conpanyreceives service fees from
The Coca-Col a Conpanyelated to the repair of fountain equipnent omed bylhe Coca-Col a ConpanyThe fees
received fromThe Coca-Cola Conpanyfor the deliveryof fountain syup products to their custoners and the
repair of their fountain equipnent are recognied as revenue hen the respective services are conpleted. Service
revenue onl yepresents approkmatel yl% of net sales.

Revenues do not include sales or other tags collected fromcustoners.

Risk Management Programs

The Conpanyuses various insurance structures to nanage its wrkers’conpensation, auto liabilitynedical
and other insurable risks. These structures consist of retentions, deductibles,limts and a di verse group of insure
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that serve to strategicallytransfer and mtigate the financial inpact of losses. The Conpanyuses commercial
insurance for clains as a risk reduction strategyto nmininme catastrophic losses. Losses are accrued using
assunptions and procedures followd in the insurance industry adjusted for conpanyspecific historyand
epectations. The Conpanyhas standbyletters of credit, primarilyrelated toits propertyand casual tyi nsurance
prograns. Ch Januaryl, 2012, these letters of credit totaled $20.8 mi11ion. The Conpanys required to maintain
$45nillion of restricted cash for letters of credit beginning in the second quarter of 2009. This #s reduced to
$3.5nillionin the second quarter of 2010 and to $3.0 nillion in the second quarter of 2011. The requirenent to
miintainrestricted cash for theseletters of credit has beenelimnatedinthe first quarter of 2012.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations

The Conpanysponsors pension plans covering certain full-tine nonunion enploges and certain union
enpl oges ko neet eligibilityrequirenents. As discussed bel oyt he Conpanyceased further benefit accruals
under the principal Conpanysponsored pension planeffective June 30, 2006. Several statistical and other factors,
hich attenpt to anticipate future events, are used in calculating the epense and liabilityrelated to the plans.
These factors include assunptions about the discount rate, epected return on plan assets, enpl oye turnover and
age at retirenent, as determined bythe Conpany wthin certain guidelines. In addition, the Conpanyuses
subjective factors such as nortalityrates to estimate the projected benefit obligation. The actuarial assunption
used byt he Conpanynaydi ffer materiallyfromactual results due to changi ng market and econonic conditions,
hi gher or 1owr it hdrasml rates or longer or shorter life spans of participants. These differences mayresult ina
significant inpact to the anount of net periodic pension cost recorded bythe Conpanyin future periods. The
discount rate used in determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation for the Conpany
pension plans & 5.18% in 2011 and 5.50% in 2010. The di scount rate assunptionis generallythe estinmate hich
can have the nost significant inpact on net periodic pension cost and the projected benefit obligation for these
pension pl ans. The Conpanydet ermines an appropriate discount rate annuall ybased on the annual yeld on 1 ong-
termcorporate bonds as of the neasurenent date and revi ewthe di scount rate assunption at the end of each yar.

(nh February22, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Conpanyapproved an anendnent to the principal
Conpanysponsored pension plan to cease further benefit accrual s under the nonuni on pl an effective June 30, 2006.
Annual pensioncosts swre $2.9 nillionepense in2011, $5.7 nillionepense in 2010, and $11.2nillion epense in
2009. The decrease in pension plan epense in 2011 conpared to 2010 is prinmarilydue to change in nortality
assunption offset bya change in anortiation period for future benefits. The decrease in pension plan egense in
2010 conpared t02009is prinarilylue toinvestnent returns in 2009 t hat exeeded the epected rate of return.

Annual pensionepense is estinatedtobe approknmatel $3.5nmi1lionin2012.

A 25% increase or decrease in the discount rate assunption wuld have inpacted the projected benefit
obligation and net periodic pension cost of the Conpanysponsored pension plans as foll ow
In thousands .25% Increase .25% Decrease

Increase (decrease)in:
Projected benefit obligationat Januaryl,.2012.............. $(9,502) $10,084
Net periodic pensioncost in201L........... ... .. ... ... ... (220) 220

The wi ght ed average epected long-termrate of return of plan assets & 7% for 2011 and 8% for 2010 and
2009. This rate reflects anestimate of long-termfuture returns for the pensionplanassets. This estimateis primarily
function of the asset classes (equities versus fizd incone) in kich the pension plan assets are invested and the
analyis of past perfornance of these asset classes over a long period of tine. This analyis includes egected I ong-
terminflation and the risk premuns associated wth equityand fizd incone investnents. See Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statenents for the details byasset tpe of the Conpany pension plan assets at Januaryl,
2012 and January2, 2011, and t he ®i ght ed average egected l ong-termrate of return of each asset tpe. The actual
returnof pensionplanassets swre gains of 0.9% for 2011, 12.10% for 2010 and 24.5% for 2009.

The Conpanyponsors a postretirenent heal th care plan for enpl oyes neeting specified qualifyngcriteria.
Several statistical and other factors, hich attenpt to anticipate future events, are used in calculating the ne
periodic postretirenent benefit cost and postretirenent benefit obligation for this plan. These factors inclu
assunptions about the discount rate and the epected growh rate for the cost of health care benefits. In addition,
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the Conpanyuses subjective factors such as Wwhdrasl and nortalityrates to estimate the projected liability
under this plan. The actuarial assunptions used byt he Conpanymaydi ffer materiallyromactual results due to
changing nmarket and economic conditions, higher or losr thdrasl rates or longer or shorter life spans of
participants. The Conpanydoes not pre-fund its postretirenent benefits and has the right to nodi fyor termnate
certainof these benefits inthe future.

The discount rate assunption, the annual health care cost trend and the ultinate trend rate for health care
costs are keyestimates hich can have a significant inpact on the net periodic postretirenent benefit cost and
postretirenent obligationin future periods. The Conpanyannual I ydeterm nes the heal th care cost trend based on
recent actual nedical trend eperience and projected eperience for subsequent gars.

The di scount rate assunptions used to deternine the pension and postretirenent benefit obligations are based
on yeld rates available on double-A bonds as of each plan$ neasurenent date. The discount rate used in
determining the postretirenent benefit obligation & 5.25% in 2010 and 4.94% in 2011. The discount rate for
2010 s derived using the Citigroup Pension Discount Curve hichis a set of yelds on hpothetical double-A
gro-coupon bonds wh maturities up to 30 yars. The discount rate for 2011 ss derived using the Aon/Feistt
AA above nedian yeld curve. Projected benefit paguts for each plan sre matched to the Citigroup Pension
Discount Curve for 2010 and to the Aon/Feistt AA above nedian yeld curve for 2011 and an equi valent flat
discount rate ss derived. The Conpanybelieves that the Aon/Feistt AA above nedian yeld curve provides a
better estinate of the Conpany liabilities relativetoassets that wuldbe purchasedtosettle suchliabilities.

A 25% increase or decrease in the discount rate assunption wuld have inpacted the projected benefit
obligationandservice cost andinterest cost of the Conpany postretirenent benefit planas follow
In thousands .25% Increase  .25% Decrease

Increase (decrease) in:
Postretirenent benefit obligationat Januaryl,.2012......... $(1,777) $1,863
Service cost andinterest cost in2011...................... (15) 17

A 1% increase or decrease in the annual health care cost trend suld have inpacted the postretirenent
benefit obligationandservice cost andinterest cost of the Conpany postretirenent benefit planas foll ow
In thousands 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Increase (decrease)in:
Postretirenent benefit obligationat Januaryl,2012............ $7,671 $(6,880)
Service cost andinterest cost in20L1l........................ 481 477

New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Pronouncements

In January2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASBY issued nevgui dance related to the
disclosures about transfers into and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value classifications and separate disclosures abo
purchases, sales, i ssuances and settlenents relating tothe Level 3 fair value classification. The neveui dance al so
clarifies eksting fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and val uation techni que
used to neasure the fair val ue. The newui dance s effective for the Conpanyinthe first quarter of 2010 exept
for the requirenent to provide the Level 3 activityf purchases, sales, issuances and settlenents on a gross basis,
hich ss effective for the Conpanyin the first quarter of 2011. The Conpany adoption of this newgui dance
did not have a material inpact on the Conpany consolidated financial statenents.

In Septenber 2011, t he FASB i ssued newui dance ki chrequires additional disclosures about an enpl ogr$
participating in multi-enpl ogr pension plans. The newguidance is effective for annual periods ending after
Decenber 15, 2011. The Conpany adoption of this newguidance did not have a material inpact on the
Conpany consol i dated financial statenments.

Recently Issued Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB anended its guidance on the presentation of conprehensive incone in financial
statenents to inprove the conparabilityconsistencyand transparencyof financial reporting and to increase the
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promnence of itens that are recorded in other conprehensive incone. The nevaccounting guidance requires
entities toreport conponents of conprehensive incone ineither a continuous statenent of conprehensive i ncone
or twseparate but consecutive statenents. The provisions of this newuidance are effective for fiscal yars, and
interimperiods Wwhin those yars, beginning after Decenber 15, 2011. The Conpanyepects that a new
statenent of conprehensive incone W1 be presented in future consolidated financial statenents instead of the
current reporting of conprehensive incone inthe consolidatedstatenent of stockholders’equity

In Septenber 2011, the FASB issued nevgui dance relative to the test for goodid1 inpairnent. The new
guidance pernits anentityofirst assess qualitative factors todeternine hether it is nore likel yt han not that the
fair value of areportingunit is less thanits carryng anount as a basis for deternining kether it is necessaryto
performthe terstep goodidl inpairnent test. The nevguidance is effective for annual and interimgoodii I
inpairnent tests perforned for fiscal gars beginning after Decenber 15,2011 th earl yadoption permtted. The
Conpanydoes not epect the requirenents of this nevguidance to have a material inpact on the Conpany
consolidated financial statenents.

Results of Operations
2011 Compared to 2010

A sumnar yof the Conpany financial results for 2011 and 2010 fol l ow

Fiscal Year

In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 Change % Change
Net sales........................ $1,561,239 $1,514,599 $ 46,640 3.1
Gossmargin.................... 629,243(1) 640,816(4)(5) (11,573) (1.8)
S,D&A epenses ................. 541,713(2) 544,498(6)(7) (2,785) 0.5)
Interest epense,net. . ............ 35,979 35,127 852 2.4
Incone beforetags............... 51,551 61,191 (9,640) (15.8)
Incone taxepense ............... 19,528(3) 21,649(8) (2,121) (9.8)
Net inCon® ............coovvvnn... 32,023(1)2)(3) 39,5425 6)(ND®)  (7,519) (19.0)
Net incone attributable to

noncontrollinginterest........ 3,415 3,485 (70) (2.0)
Net incone attributable to Coca-Col a

Bottling Co.Consolidated...... 28,608(1)(2)(3) 36,057@G)6)(N@®)  (7,449) (20.7)
Basic net incone per share:

Common Stock ................. $ 3.11 $ 3.93 $ (.82 (20.9)

Class B Common Stock .......... $ 3.11 $ 3.93 $ (.82 (20.9)
Diluted net incone per share:

Common Stock ................. $ 3.09 $ 3.91 $ (.82 (21.0)

Class B Common Stock . ......... $ 3.08 $ 3.90 $ (82 (21.0)

(1) Results in 2011 included an unfavorabl e nark-t o-narket adjustnent of $6.7 mil1lion (pre-tax or $4.0 mi1lion
after taxrelated to the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program i ch ss reflected as anincrease in cost of
sales.

(2) Results in 2011 included an unfavorabl e mark-t o market adjustnent of $0.2 m1lion (pre-tax or $0.1 m11ion
after taxrelated to the Conpany fuel hedging program hich ms reflected as an increase in S,D&A
epenses.

(3) Results in 2011 included a credit of $0.9 nillion related to the reduction of the Conpany liabilityfor
uncertain taxpositions mainlydue to the lapse of applicable statute of limtations, kich s reflected as a
reductionto the i ncone taxprovision.

(4) Results in 2010 included an unfavorabl e mark-t o-narket adjustnent of $3.8 nillion (pre-tax or $2.3 nillion
after taxrelated to the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program hi ch ss reflected as anincrease in cost of
sales.

(5) Results in 2010 included a credit of $.9 m1lion (pre-tax or $.6 million after taxrelated to the gain on the
replacenent of flood danaged equi pnent, ki ch ws reflected as areductionincost of sales.
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(6) Results in 2010 included an unfavorabl e mark-t o-market adjustnent of $1.4 nillion (pre-tax or $0.9 million
after taxrelated to the Conpany fuel hedging program hich ms reflected as an increase in S,D&A
epenses.

(7) Results in2010included a debit of $3.7 nillion (pre-tax or $2.2 mi1lion after taxrelated to the i npairnent/
accelerated depreciation of propertyplant and equipnent, hich s reflected as an increase in S,D&A
epenses.

(8) Results in 2010 included a credit of $1.7 nillion related to the reduction of the Conpany liabilityfor
uncertain taxpositions nainlydue to the lapse of applicable statute of limtations, hich ss reflected as a
reduction to the incone taxprovision and a debit of $.5nillionrelated tothe inpact of the change in the tax
lavelininating the taxdeduction for Mdicare Part D subsidyhich ms reflected as an increase to the
incone taxrovision.

Net Sales
Net sales increased $46.6 million, or 3.1%,t0 $1.56 billionin 2011 conparedto $1.51 billionin 2010.

This increase s principallyattributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)
$23.1 1.8% increase in bottle/can sales price per unit prinarilydue to anincrease insales price

per unit in sparkling beverages (exept ener gyroducts) and a change in product m xdue
to a higher percentage of still beverages sold, hich have a hi gher sales price per unit
partiallyffset by decrease insales price per unit of still beverages

6.6 4.6% increase in sales price per unit of sales to other Coca-Cola bottlers prinarilydue to
anincrease insales price per unit inall product categories exept ener gyproduct s

7.9 Increase infreight revenue

3.7 3% increase in bottle/can volune prinmarilydue to a volune increase in still beverages
partiallyffset by vol une decrease i n sparkling beverages exept ener gyproduct s

3.7 5.0% increase inpost-mxsal es vol une

34 Increase insales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (prinaril ylumE Yommi es)

1.7 2.2% increase inpost-mxsales price per unit

(1.2) 9% decrease in sales volume to other Coca-Cola bottlers primarilydue to volune
decreases insparkling beverages

2.3) Q her

$46.6 Total increase innet sales

In 2011, the Conpany bottle/can sales toretail custoners accounted for 81.5% of total net sales. Bottle/can
net pricing is based on the invoice price charged to custoners reduced bypronotional allosnces. Bottle/can net
pricing per unit is inpacted bythe price charged per package, the volune generated in each package and the
channel s in hich those packages are sol d.

The increase insales price per unit of sparkling beverages and the vol une decrease in sparkling beverages in
2011 wre primarilythe result of anevent that occurredin 2010 hi ch s not repeated in 2011. Duringall of the
second quarter of 2010, the Conpany largest custoner, Wl -Mrt Stores, Inc., had a pronotion on 24-pack
12-ounce cans hichincreased overall 12-ounce sparkling can sales volune and overall bottle/can vol une in 2010
hilelowring sparkling sales price per unit as 24-pack 12-ounce cans have a l owr sales price per unit than ot her
sparkling beverages.
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Product categorysales volune in 2011 and 2010 as a percentage of total bottle/can sales volune and the
percent age change byproduct categorwre as fol 1l ow

Bottle/Can Sales

w Bottle/Can Sales Volume
Product Category 2011 2010 % Increase (Decrease)
Sparkling beverages (including energyproducts)...... 84.1% 85.0% (0.7)
Still beverages. .. ... ..ot 159% 15.0% 6.1

Total bottle/canvolune ............................ 100.0% 100.0% 0.3

The Conpany products are sold and distributed through various channels. Theyinclude selling directlyto
retail stores and other outlets such as food markets, institutional accounts and vending machine outlets. During
2011, approkmatel y69% of the Conpany bottle/can volune ®ms sold for future consunption, hile the
renaini ng bottle/can vol une of approknatel y31% ss sold for i mmedi ate consunption. The Conpany 1ar gest
custoner, Wil -Mrt Stores, Inc., accounted for approkmtel y21% of the Conpany total bottle/can vol une and
approkmatel y15% of the Conpany total net sales during 2011. The Conpany second largest custoner,
Food Lion, LIC, accounted for approkmtel yY9% of the Conpany total bottle/can vol une and approknmatel y
7% of the Conpany total net sales during 2011. All of the Conpany beverage sales are to custoners in the
Lhited States.

The Conpany ecorded deliveryees innet sales of $7.1 mi1lionin 2011 and $7.5 m11ionin2010. These fees
are used to offset a portion of the Conpany deli veryand handling costs.
Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the folloing: rawmaterial costs, manufacturing labor, manufacturing overhead
including depreciation epense, manufacturing s ehousing costs and shi pping and handling costs related to the
novenent of finished goods frommanufacturinglocations tosales distributioncenters.

Cost of sales increased 6.7%, or $58.2million,to $932.0mllionin 2011 conparedto $873.8 mi11ionin 2010.

This increase incost of sales ws principallyttributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)
$45.3 Increases inrawmterial costs suchas plastic bottles
7.4 Increase infreight cost of sales
3.9 Increase in marketing funding support recei ved prinaril yfromThe Coca-Col a Conpany
2.5 5.0% increase in post-nixsal es vol une
2.1 3% increase inbottle/can vol une prinarilydue toa volune increaseinstill beverages
that s partiallyffset by decrease insparkling beverages (egept ener gyproduct s)
1.3 Increase insales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (primaril ylumE Yonmi es)
(1.1 9% decrease insales vol une to other Coca-Cola bottlers primarilylue to decreases in
sparkling beverages
0.9 Gainonthe replacenent of flood damaged production equi pnent in 2010
0.4) Decrease incost due to the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program
41 Q her
$58.2 Total increase incost of sales

The folloiwng inputs represent a substantial portion of the Conpany total cost of goods sold:
(1) sseteners, (2) packaging materials, including plastic bottles and al umi numcans, and (3) full goods purchased
fromot her vendors. The Conpanyanticipates that the cost of the underlyng commodities related to these inputs
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W1 continue to face upard pressure and gross margins on all categories of products W1 be lowr throughout
2012 conpared to 2011 due to the inpact of these rising comwoditycosts unless theycan be offset byprice
increases.

The Conpanyentered into an agreenent (the I'ncidence Pricing Agreenent) in 2008 ith The Coca-Col a
Conpanyto test an incidence-based concentrate pricing nodel for 2008 for all Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages
and Allied Beverages for hich the Conpanypurchases concentrate fromThe Coca-Col a ConpanyDuring the
termof the Incidence Pricing Agreenent, the pricing of the concentrates for the Coca-Col a Trademark Beverages
and Allied Beverages is governed bythe Incidence Pricing Agreenent rather than the Cola and Allied Beverage
Agreenents. The concentrate price under the Incidence Pricing Agreenent is inpacted bya nunber of factors
including the Conpany pricing of finished products, the channels in kich the finished products are sold and
package m xThe Coca-Col a Conpanymust gi ve t he Conpanyat 1east 90 day mi tten notice before changing the
price the Conpanypay for the concentrate. The Incidence Pricing Agreenent has been ekended through
Decenber 31, 2013.

The Conpanyrelies ekensivel yon advertising and sales pronotion in the nmarketing of its products. The
Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies that suppl yconcentrates, syups and finished products to the
Conpanynake substantial marketing and advertising ependitures to pronote sales inthe local territories served
byt he Conpany The Conpanyal so benefits fromnational advertising prograns conducted byThe Coca-Col a
Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies. Certain of the marketing ependitures bylhe Coca-Col a Conpanyand
other beverage conpanies are made pursuant to annual arrangenents. Although The Coca-Col a Conpanyhas
advised the Conpanythat it intends to continue to provide narketing funding support,it is not obligatedto doso
under the Conpany Beverage Agreenents. Significant decreases in marketing funding support fromThe Coca-

Cola Conpanyor other beverage conpanies could adversel yi npact operating results of the Conpanyin the
future.

Total narketing funding support from The Coca-Cola Conpanyand other beverage conpanies, hich
includes direct papents to the Conpanynd papents to the Conpany custoners for nmarketing prograns, #s
$57.5nillionin 2011 conparedto $53.6 ni1lion in 2010.

The Conpany production facilitylocated in Nashville, Tennessee as damaged bya flood i n My2010.
The Conpany ecorded a gain of $.9 million fromthe replacenent of production equi pnent danaged byt he f1ood.
The gain ®s based on replacenent value insurance coverage that exeeded the net book value of the damaged
production equi pnent .

Gross Margin

Goss mrgindollars decreased 1.8%, or $11.6 nillion, to $629.2nillionin 2011 conparedto $640.8 m11ion
in2010. Goss margin as a percentage of net sales decreased to40.3% in 2011 from42.3% in 2010.
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This decrease in gross margin s principallyttributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)

$(45.3) Increases inrawaterial costs suchas plastic bottles

23.1 1.8%increaseinbottle/cansales price per unit prinarilylue toanincreaseinsales price
per unit insparkling beverages (egept ener gyproducts) and a change i n product m xue
to a hi gher percentage of still beverages sold, i ch have a hi gher sales price per unit
partiallyffset by decreaseinsales price per unit of still beverages

6.6 4.6% increaseinsales price per unit of sales toother Coca-Colabottlers prinarilyue to
anincrease insales price per unit inall product categories exept ener gyproduct s

39 Increase inmarketing funding support received prinaril yfromThe Coca-Col a Conpany
2.1 Increaseinsales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (primaril ylumE Yommi es)
1.7  22%increase inpost-msales price per unit

1.6 3% increaseinbottle/can volune prinarilydue toa volune increaseinstill beverages
partiallyffset by decrease insparkling beverages exept ener gyproduct s

1.2 5.0% increase inpost-mxsales vol une
(0.9) Giinonthe replacenent of flood danaged production equi pnent in 2010
0.5 Increaseinfreight gross margin

0.4 Decrease incost due tothe Conpany al um numhedgi ng program

(0.1) 9% decrease insales volune to ot her Coca-Cola bottlers prinarilydue to vol une
decreases in sparkling beverages

(6.4) Qher

$(11.6) Total decrease in gross nargin

The decrease in gross nargin percentage ss prinarilydue to higher costs of rawmterials that sre
partiallyffset byhi gher bottle/cansales prices per unit.

The Conpany gross nargins maynot be conparable to other peer conpanies, since sone of theminclude
all costs related to their distribution neterk in cost of sales. The Conpanyi ncludes a portion of these costs in
S.D&A epenses.

S,D&A Expenses

S,D&A epgenses include the folloing: sales nanagenent labor costs, distribution costs from sales
distribution centers to custoner locations, sales distribution center srehouse costs, depreciation epense rel at e
to sales centers, deliveryvehicles and cold drink equi pnent, point-of-sale epenses, advertising epenses, cold
drink equi pnent repair costs, anortiation of intangibles and adninistrative support labor and operating costs such
as treasurylegal, information services, accounting, internal control services, hunan resources and ezcutive
nanagenent costs.

S,D&A epenses decreased by$2.8 million, or .5%, to $541.7 million in 2011 from$544.5 mi1lion in 2010.
S,.D&A epenses as a percentage of sales decreased to 34.7% in 2011 from35.9% in 2010.

39



This decrease in S,D&A egenses #s principallyattributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)

$(3.7) Decrease ininpairnent/accelerated depreciation of propertyplant and equi pnent
($3.7 m11lionin 2010)

(2.5) Decrease inbonus epense, incentive epense and ot her perfornance payinitiatives dueto
t he Conpany financial perfornance

2.3 Increase innarketing epense prinarilyue to various marketing prograns

(2.2) Decrease inpropertynd casualtyinsurance epense prinarilydue to a decrease inauto
and vrkers’conpensation cl ai ns

1.9 Increaseinenploge salaries primrilylue tonormal salaryincreases

1.8 Increaseindepreciationandanortiation of propertyplant and equi pnent prinarilydue
toincreased purchases of refurbished vendi ng nachines it h shorter useful 1ives,
increased anortiation fromsoftsre projects and twadditional capital leases entered
intothe first quarter of 2011

0.7 Increaseinfuel costs relatedtothe novenent of finished goods fromsales distribution
centers tocustoner locations

(0.6) Decreaseinloss onsale of propertyplant and equi pnent
(0.5) Decreaseinprofessional fees prinarilylue toconsulting project support in 2010
0.5 Increase inbad debt epense

0.2 Increase inenploge benefit costs prinarilylue toincreased nedical insurance (active
andretiree) offset bylecreased pension epense

0.7) Qher
$(2.8) Total decrease in S,D&A epenses

Shi ppi ng and handling costs rel ated to the novenent of finished goods frommanufacturinglocations tosales
distribution centers are included in cost of sales. Shipping and handling costs related to the novenent of finished
goods fromsales distribution centers to custoner locations are included in S,D&A epenses and totaled
$1919nillionand $187.2nillionin 2011 and 2010, respectivel y

The net inpact of the Conpany fuel hedging programss to increase fuel costs by$.6 nmillion and
$1.7nmillionin 2011 and 2010, respectivel y

During 2010, t he Conpanyper forned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent. As aresult of this review
$9 nillion ss recorded to inpairnent epense for five Conpansomed sales distribution centers held-for-sale.
The Conpanyal so recorded accel erated depreciationof $.5nillion for certain other propertyplant and equi pnent
hich ms replaced in the first quarter of 2011. During 2010, the Conpanyal so determned the srehouse
operations in Sunter, South Carolina suld be relocated to other facilities and recorded inpairnent and
accelerated depreciation of $2.2 nillion for the value of equipnent and real estate related to the Sunter, South
Carolina property

The Conpany epense recorded in S,D&A epenses related to the twConpanysponsored pension plans
decreased by$2.4 million from$4.9nillionin2010to $2.5m1lionin 2011.

The Conpanyprovi des a 401(k) Savings Plan for substantiallyall of the Conpany full-tine enpl oges ho
are not covered bya collective bargaining agreenent. The Conpanynatched the first 3% of participants’
contributions for 2010 and 2011. The Conpanynaintained the option to increase the Conpany matching
contributions byup to an additional 2%, for a total of 5%, based on the Conpany financial results. Based on the
Conpany financial results, the Conpanylecidedtoincrease the natching contributions for the additional 2% for
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the entire gar of 2010. The Conpanymade t hese additional contribution papents for each quarter in2010in the
followng quarter concluding ith the fourth quarter of 2010 payent being nade in the first quarter of 2011.
Based on the Conpany financial results, the Conpanydecided to increase the matching contributions for the
additional 2% for the entire gar of 2011. The 2% natching contributions have been accrued during 2011. The
Conpanymade the additional contribution pagent for 2011 inthe first quarter of 2012. The total cost, includi ng
the 2% natching contributions, for this benefit s $7.5 nillion and $7.6 nillionin 2011 and 2010, respectively
During the first quarter of 2012, the Conpanydecided to change the Conpany matching fromfiad to
discretionaryand no longer match the first 3% of the participant$ contributions. The Conpanymintains the
option to nake matching contributions for eligible participants of up to 5% based on the Conpany financial
results inthe future.

Interest Expense

Net interest epense increased 2.4%, or $9 nillion in 2011 conpared to 2010. The increase @ primarily
due to the Conpanyentering into twnewapital leases in the first quarter of 2011. The Conpany overall
wi ghted average interest rate onits debt and capital lease obligations increased to 6.0% during 2011 from5.9%
during 2010. This increase is the result of the conversion of one of the Conpany capital leases froma floating
rate to a figd rate in late 2010, conbined wth the Conpany use of short-termborroings in 2010 at 1ow
variable rates relative tothe figd rates on the Conpany Senior Debt. See the Ii qui dityand Capital Resources
Hedging Activities Jnterest Rate Hedging’Section of MD&A for additional information.

Income Taxes

The Conpany effective taxrate, as calcul ated bydi viding i ncone taxepense byi ncone before incone
tags, for 2011 and 2010 s 37.9% and 35.4%, respectivel yThe increase in the effective taxrate for 2011
resulted prinaril yfroma conparativel ylowr reductioninthe liabilityor uncertaintaxpositions and anincrease
to the valuation allowmnce in 2011 as conpared to 2010. The Conpany effective taxrate, as calculated by
dividing incone taxepense bythe difference of incone before incone tazs ninus net incone attributable to
noncontrollinginterest, for 2011 and 2010 s 40.6% and 37.5%, respectivel y

Inthe third quarter of 2010, the Conpanyeducedits liabilityor uncertaintaxpositions by$1.7 nillion. The
net effect of the adjustnent ss a decrease toincone taskpense of approkmatel y$1.7 mi11ion. The reduction of
the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions s due mainlyto the lapse of the applicable statute of limtations. In the
third quarter of 2011, the Conpanyeducedits liabilityor uncertaintaxositions by$.9 nillion. The net effect of
the adjustnent #s a decrease toincone tasepense. The reduction of the liabilityor uncertaintaxpositions #s
due minltothe lapse of the applicable statute of limtations. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statenents
for additional information.

The Conpany incone taxassets and liabilities are subject to adjustnent in future periods based on the
Conpany ongoi ng eval uations of such assets and liabilities and newnfornation that becones available to the
Conpany

Noncontrolling Interest
The Conpany ecorded net incone attributable tononcontrollinginterest of $3.4nillionin 2011 conparedto
$3.5nillionin2010 prinarilyelatedtothe portion of Piednont omed bylhe Coca-Col a Conpany

2010 Compared to 2009

The comparability of operating results for 2010 to the operating results for 2009 is affected by one additional
selling week in 2009 due to the Company’s fiscal year ending on the Sunday closest to December 31. The
estimated net sales, gross margin and S,D&A expenses for the additional selling week in 2009 of approximately
8318 million, $6 million and $4 million, respectively, are included in reported results for 2009.
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A sunmar yof t he Conpany financial results for 2010 and 2009 fol 1 ow

Fiscal Year

In thousands (except per share data) 2010 2009 Change % Change
Net sales........................ $1,514,599 $1,442,986 $71,613 5.0
Gossmargin.................... 640,816(1)(2) 619,994(6) 20,822 3.4
S,D&A epenses ................. 544,4983)(4) 525,491(7) 19,007 3.6
Interest epense,net.............. 35,127 37,379 (2,252) (6.0)
Incone beforetags............... 61,191 57,124 4,067 7.1
Incone taxepense ............... 21,649(5) 16,581(8) 5,068 30.6
Netincon® ...................... 39,5423 @)(5)  40,5436)(7)8)  (1,001) 2.5)
Net incone attributableto

noncontrollinginterest........ 3,485 2,407 1,078 44.8
Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola

Bottling Co. Consolidated..... 36,057(H)B)@)(B)  38,136(6)(7)@8)  (2,079) (5.5)
Basic net incone per share:

Common Stock ................. $ 3.93 $ 4.16 $ (23) (5.5)

Class B Common Stock .......... $ 3.93 $ 4.16 $ (23) (5.5)
Diluted net incone per share:

Common Stock ................. $ 391 $ 4.15 $ (24 (5.8)

Class B Common Stock .......... $ 3.90 $ 4.13 $ (23) (5.6)

Results in 2010 included an unfavorabl e nark-t o-narket adjustnent of $3.8 million (pre-tax or $2.3 nillion
after taxrelated to the Conpany al um numhedgi ng program ki ch ss reflected as anincrease in cost of
sales.

Results in 2010 included a credit of $.9 million (pre-tax or $.6 million after taxrelated to the gain on the
replacenent of flood danaged equi pnent, hich ws reflected as areductionincost of sales.

Results in 2010 included an unfavorabl e nark-t o-narket adjustnent of $1.4 mllion (pre-tax or $0.9 nillion
after taxrelated to the Conpany fuel hedging program hich ss reflected as an increase in S,D&A
epenses.

Results in 2010 included a debit of $3.7 mi1lion (pre-tax or $2.2 nillion after taxrelated tothe inpairnent/
accelerated depreciation of propertyplant and equipnent, hich s reflected as an increase in S,D&A
epenses.

Results in 2010 included a credit of $1.7 nillion related to the reduction of the Conpany liabilityfor
uncertain taxpositions nainlydue to the lapse of applicable statute of linitations, hich s reflected as a
reduction to the incone taxprovision and a debit of $.5nillionrelatedtothe inpact of the change in the tax
lavelimnating the taxdeduction for Mdicare Part D subsidyhich ss reflected as an increase to the
incone t axprovision.

Results in 2009 included a favorable nark-t o-narket adjustnent of $10.5 nillion (pre-tak or $6.4 nillion
after taxrelated to the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program ki ch &s reflected as areductionincost of
sales.

Results in 2009 included a favorable nark-to-narket adjustnent of $3.6 nillion (pre-tax or $2.2 nillion
after taxrelated to the Conpany fuel hedging program hich ss reflected as a reduction in S,D&A
epenses.

Results in 2009 included a credit of $1.7 millionrelatedto the Conpany agreenent ith a taxauthorityto
settle certainprior taypositions, hichas reflectedas areductiontothe incone taxprovisionandacredit of
$54 nmllionrelatedto the reduction of the Conpany 1iabilityfor uncertain taxpositions nmainlydue to the
lapse of applicable statute of limtations, hichas reflectedas areductiontothe incone taxprovision.
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Net Sales
Net sales increased $71.6 mi1lion, or 5.0%,to $1.51 billionin 2010 conpared to $1.44 billion in 2009.

This increase innet sales s principallyattributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)

$52.8 4.4% increase inbottle/can vol une prinarilydue toa volune increase inall beverages
18.8 Increase insales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (prinaril ylumE Yunmi es)

(16.2) 1.3% decreaseinbottle/cansales price per unit prinarilylue tolowr per unit prices inall
product categories exept diet sparkling beverages

6.1 45%increaseinsales price per unit for sales toother Coca-Colabottlers

36 27%increase insales volune to other Coca-Colabottlers primarilylue toanincreasein
still beverages

1.8 Increaseinfees tofacilitate distribution of certain brands
1.3  1.8%increaseinsales price per unit for post-mxsales
34  Qher

$71.6  Total increase innet sales
The i nmedi ate consunption business sales vol une i ncreased byt.7% dri ven byt he Conpany 16/24 ounce
conveni ence store strategyand the Conpany focus on on-premi se accounts. Future consunption business sales
vol une i ncreased by.2% prinarilydue to vol une i ncreases inthe food stores.

In 2010, the Conpany bottle/can sales toretail custoners accounted for 82% of total net sales. Bottle/can
net pricing is based on the invoice price charged to custoners reduced bypronotional allosmnces. Bottle/can net
pricing per unit is inpacted bythe price charged per package, the volune generated in each package and the
channels in hich those packages are sold. The decrease in the Conpany bottle/can net price per unit in 2010
conpared to 2009 ms prinarilydue to sales price decreases in all product categories, egept diet sparkling
beverages.

The decrease insales price per unit of sparkling beverages and the vol une increase in sparkling beverages in
2010 sre also the result of an event that occurredin 2010 hich did not occur in 2009. During all of the second
quarter of 2010, the Conpany largest custoner, Wil -Mrt Stores, Inc., had a pronotion on 24-pack 12-ounce
cans hich increased overall 12-ounce sparkling cans sales volune and overall bottle/can volune in 2010 hile
losring sparkling sales price per unit as 24-pack 12-ounce cans have a lowr sales price per unit than other
sparkling beverages.

Product categorysales volune in 2010 and 2009 as a percentage of total bottle/can sales volune and the
percent age change byproduct categorywre as foll osw

Bottle/Can Sales

% Bottle/Can Sales Volume
Product Category 2010 2009 % Increase
Sparkling beverages (including energyproducts)...... 85.0% 86.5% 2.6
Still beverages. ......ovvvtiin i 15.0% 13.5% 15.7

Total bottle/canvolune ............ ... .. ... ...... 100.0% 100.0% 4.4

The Conpany products are sold and distributed through various channels. Theyinclude selling directlyto
retail stores and other outlets such as food nmarkets, institutional accounts and vending machine outlets. During
2010, approknat el 9% of the Conpany bottle/can volune &s sold for future consunption. The renaini ng
bottle/can vol une of approknatel y31% s sold for i medi ate consunption. The Conpany 1argest custoner,
Wl -Mrt Stores, Inc., accounted for approkmately24% of the Conpany total bottle/can volune and
approkmat el y17% of the Conpany total net sales during 2010. The Conpany second l argest cust oner, Food
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Lion, LLC, account ed for approkmatel yl0% of the Conpany total bottle/can vol une and approkmat el y7% of
the Conpany total net sales during 2010. All of the Conpany beverage sales are to custoners in the UThited
States.

The Conpany ecorded deliveryfees innet sales of $7.5millionin 2010 and $7.8 mi1lionin 2009. These fees
are used to offset a portion of the Conpany deli veryand handling costs.
Cost of Sales
Cost of sales increased 6.2%, or $50.8 million,to $873.8 mi11lionin 2010 conpared to $823.0 mi11ion in 2009.

This increase incost of sales ws principallyttributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In Millions)

$31.1 44% increase inbottle/can volune prinarilydue toa volune increase inall beverages
(18.9) Decreaseinrawaterial costs suchas concentrate, al umi numand hi gh fructose corn
Syup
13.5 Increaseincost due tothe Conpany al um numhedgi ng program
126  Increase insales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (prinaril yfumE Yanmi es)

34 27%increase insales volune to other Coca-Colabottlers prinarilylue toanincreasein
still beverages

1.0 Decrease in nmarketing funding support recei ved prinaril yfromThe Coca-Col a Conpany
(0.9) Guinonthereplacenent of flood danaged production equi pnent
9.0 GQher

$50.8 Total increaseincost of sales

The Conpanyentered into the Incidence Pricing Agreenent wth The Coca-Cola Conpanyto test an
incidence-based concentrate pricing nodel for 2008 for all Coca-Col a Tradenark Beverages and Allied Beverages
for hich the Conpanypurchases concentrate fromThe Coca-Col a ConpanyDuring the termof the Incidence
Pricing Agreenent, the pricing of the concentrates for the Coca-Cola Tradenark Beverages and Allied Beverages
is governed bythe Incidence Pricing Agreenent rather than the Cola and Allied Beverage Agreenents. The
concentrate price under the Incidence Pricing Agreenent is inpacted bya nunber of factors including the
Conpany pricing of finished products, the channels in hich the finished products are sold and package m x
The Coca-Col a Conpanynust give the Conpanyat least 90 day mitten notice before changing the price the
Conpanypay for the concentrate. For 2009 and 2010, the Conpanycontinued to utilie the incidence pricing
nodel .

Total marketing funding support from The Coca-Cola Conpanyand other beverage conpanies, hich
includes direct pagents tothe Conpanyand pagents to the Conpany custoners for narketing prograns, &8
$53.6 nillionin 2010 conparedto $54.6 mi11ion in 2009.

The Conpany production facilityl ocated in Nashville, Tennessee s damaged bya flood in My2010.
The Conpany ecorded a gain of $.9 mi1lion fromthe replacenent of production equi pnent danaged byt he f1ood.
The gain ®s based on repl acenent value insurance coverage that ezeeded the net book value of the danmaged
production equi pnent .

Gross Margin

Goss margindollars increased 3.4%, or $20.8 million, to $640.8 nillion in 2010 conparedto $620.0 nillion
in2009. Goss nmargin as a percentage of net sales decreased to42.3% in 2010 from43.0% in 20009.
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This increase in gross margin s principallyttributable tothe folloing:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)

$21.7 4.4% increase inbottle/can vol une prinarilydue toa volune increase inall beverages

18.9 Decreaseinrawaterial costs such as concentrate, al um numand hi gh fructose corn
syup
(16.2) 1.3% decreaseinbottle/cansales price per unit prinarilylue tolowr per unit prices inall
product categories exept diet sparkling beverages

(13.5) Increaseincost due tothe Conpany al um numhedgi ng program
6.2 Increase insales of the Conpany owbrand portfolio (prinaril ylumE Yonmi es)
6.1 45%increaseinsales price per unit for sales toother Coca-Colabottlers
1.4 Increaseinfees tofacilitate distribution of certain brands
1.3  1.8%increaseinsales price per unit for post-mxsales
(1.0) Decrease innarketing funding support recei ved prinaril yfromThe Coca-Col a Conpany
0.9 (@Ginonthe replacenent of flood danaged production equi pnent

0.2  2.7% increase insales volune to other Coca-Cola bottlers prinarilydue toanincreasein
still beverages

(5.2) Qher

$20.8  Total increase in gross margin

The decrease in gross margin percentage s primarilydue to lowr sales price per bottle/can unit and
increased cost due to the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program

S,D&A Expenses

S,D&A epenses increased by$19.0 mi11ion, or 3.6%, to $544.5 m1lionin 2010 from$525.5 m11ion in 2009.
S.D&A epenses as a percentage of sales decreased to35.9% in 2010 from36.4% in 2009.

This increase in S,D&A epenses @ principallyattributable tothe followng:

Amount Attributable to:
(In millions)
$ 72 Pagent s t o enpl oges participatingin Conpanyuto all osnce program(i npl enent ed
in phases begi nninginthe second quarter of 2009)
53 Increase inenploye salaries includi ng bonus and i ncenti ve epense
4.9 Increase infuel costs prinmarilydue to mark-to-narket adjustnent on fuel hedging ($3.6
nillion gainin2009 as conparedto $1.4nillionloss in2010)
(3.9) Decrease inenpl oge benefit costs primarilylue to decreased pension epense
3.7 Inpairnent/accel erated depreciation of propertypl ant and equi pnent
3.5 Decrease in propertyand casual t yi nsurance epense
2.7 Increase inprofessional fees prinarilydue to consulting project support
(2.6) Decrease in bad debt epense due toinprovenent in custoner trade receivable portfolio
perfornance
2.1 Increase in narketing epense
2.0) Decrease indepreciationepense prinarilydue to newuto allosnce program
5.1 Q her

$19.0 Total increase in S,D&A epenses
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Shi ppi ng and handling costs rel ated to the novenent of finished goods frommanufacturing locations to sales
distribution centers are included in cost of sales. Shipping and handling costs related to the novenent of finished
goods fromsales distribution centers to custoner locations are included in S,D&A epenses and totaled
$187.2ni1lion and $188.9 nillionin 2010 and 2009, respectivel y

The net inpact of the Conpany fuel hedgi ng programas toincrease fuel costs by$l.7 millionin 2010 and
decrease fuel costs by$2.4 mi1lionin 20009.

During 2010, the Conpanyperforned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent. As a result of this review
$9 nillion ®s recorded to inpairnent epense for five Conpanyomed sales distribution centers held-for-sale.
The Conpanyal so recorded accel erated depreciation of $.5nillion for certain other propertypl ant and equi pnent
hich s replaced in the first quarter of 2011. During 2010, the Conpanyal so determned the arehouse
operations in Sunter, South Carolina wuld be relocated to other facilities and recorded inpairnment and
accelerated depreciation of $2.2 nillion for the value of equipnent and real estate related to the Sunter, South
Carolina property

Prinarilydue to the perfornmance of the Conpany pension plan investnents during 2009, the Conpang
epense recorded in S,D&A epenses related to the tw Conpanysponsored pension plans decreased by
$4.8nillion from$9.7 nillionin2009to $4.9 nillionin 2010.

The Conpanysuspended matching contributions to its 401(k) Savings Plan effective April 1, 2009. The
Conpanymai nt ai ned the option to natch participants’401(k) Savings Plan contributions based on the financial
results for 2009. The Conpanysubsequent ] ydecided to match the first 5% of eligible participants’contributions
(consistent Wth the first quarter of 2009 matching contribution percentage) for the entire yar of 2009. The
Conpanynat ched the first 3% of participants’contribution for 2010. The Conpanynaintained the option to
increase the matching contributions an additional 2%, for a total of 5%, for the Conpany eligible enpl oyes
based on the financial results for 2010. Based on the Conpany financial results, the Conpanydecided to
increase the matching contributions for the additional 2% for the entire gar of 2010. The Conpanymade these
additional contribution pagents for each quarter in 2010 in the folloing quarter concluding wh the fourth
quarter of 2010 papent being nade in the first quarter of 2011. The Conpanyaccrued $.7 nillionin the fourth
quarter for the papent in the first quarter of 2011. The total epense for this benefit ms $7.6 nillion and
$7.7nillionin 2010 and 2009, respectivel y

Interest Expense

Interest epense, net decreased 6.0%, or $2.3 nillion in 2010 conpared to 2009. The decrease in interest
egense, net in 2010 ss prinmarilydue to lowr levels of borroing. The Conpany overall wi ghted average
interest rate increased to 5.9% during 2010 from5.8% in 2009. See the Iiquidityand Capital Resources —
Hedging Activities Jnterest Rate Hedging’section of MD&A for additional information.

Income Taxes

The Conpany effective taxrate, as calculated bydi viding i ncone taxepense byi ncone before incone
tags, for 2010 and 2009 s 35.4% and 29.0%, respectivel y The increase in the effective taxrate for 2010
resulted prinaril yfroma lowr reductioninthe liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions in 2010 as conpared to 2009
and the elimnation of the taxdeduction associated ith Mdicare Part D subsidyas required bythe Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act enacted on Mrch 23, 2010 and the Heal th Care and Education Reconciliation
Act of 2010 enacted on Mrch 30, 2010. During 2010, the Conpanyrecorded taxepense totaling $.5 nillion
related tochanges nade to the taxleductibilityf Mdicare Part D subsidies. The Conpany effective taxate, as
calcul ated bydi viding incone taxepense bythe difference of incone before incone tazs ninus net incone
attributable tononcontrollinginterest, for 2010 and 2009 s 37.5% and 30.3%, respectivel y

In the first quarter of 2009, the Conpanyreached an agreenent Wth a taxauthorityto settle prior tax
positions for hich the Conpanyhad previousl yprovided reserves due to uncertaintyof resolution. As a result,
the Conpany educed the liabilityor uncertain taxpositions byl.7 nillion. The net effect of the adjustnent s
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a decrease to incone taxepense of approkmately$l.7 million. In the third quarter of 2009, the Conpany
reducedits liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions by$5.4 nillion. The net effect of the adjustnent s a decrease to
incone taxegense of approknatel y$5.4 million. The reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions s

due mainlyto the lapse of the applicable statute of limtations. Inthe third quarter of 2010, t he Conpany educed
its liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions bybl.7 mi11ion. The net effect of the adjustnent s a decrease to incone
taxepense of approkmatel y$1.7 million. The reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions s due
mainlytothe lapse of the applicable statute of limtations. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statenents fo
addi tional information.

Noncontrolling Interest

The Conpany ecorded net incone attributable tononcontrollinginterest of $3.5nillionin 2010 conparedto
$2.4n1lionin2009 primarilyelatedtothe portion of Piednont omed byThe Coca-Col a Conpany

Financial Condition

Total assets increasedto $1.36 billion at Januaryl, 2012 from$1.31 billion at January2, 2011 prinaril ydue
toincreases inleased propertyunder capital leases, net, cash and cash equi valents and accounts recei vabl es. The
increase inleased propertynder capital 1eases, net @ prinarilyue to the Conpanyenteringintoleases for tw
sales distributioncenters inthe first quarter of 2011.

Net wrking capital, defined as current assets less current liabilities, decreased by$78.7 mllion to
$9.3m1lion at Januaryl, 2012 from$88.0 mi11ion at January, 2011.

Si gni ficant changes innet wrking capital fromJanuary2, 2011 to Januaryl, 2012 ®re as fol 1 o

e An increase in cash and cash equivalents of $44.9 million primarilydue to funds generated from
operations.

e Anincrease in accounts receivable, trade of $8.7 million prinarilydue toincreased sales for the nonth of
Decenber 2011 conpared to t he nont h of Decenber 2010.

e A decrease in prepaid epenses and other current assets of $3.7 million primarilydue to transactions
related to t he Conpany hedgi ng prograns.

* A decrease in accounts receivable fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyand an increase in accounts pagble to
The Coca-Cola Conpanyof $3.6 million and $9.1 million, respectivel yprimrilydue to the timng of

papents.

* Anincrease in current portion of long-termdebt of $120.0 nillion due to the reclassification of current
maturities onlong-termdebt of $120 nillion froml ong-termdebt. This is the portion of the $150.0 mi11ion
of Senior Notes due Novenber 2012 hichis epected to be paid fromavailable cash plus anounts to be
borrowd fromthe uncommitted line of credit. The renuini ng $30.0 nillion of Senior Notes due 2012 is
epected to be paid fromanounts to be borrowd on t he nev$200 nillion five-gar unsecured revol vi ng
credit facilityliscussed bel ow

Debt and capital lease obligations wre $597.3 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 conpared to $582.3 nillion as
of January2, 2011. Debt and capital lease obligations as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011 included
$74.1nillion and $59.2 nillion, respectivel yof capital lease obligations related prinarilyto Conpanyfacilities.

Contributions to the Conpany pension plans sre $9.5 nillion in both 2011 and 2010. The Conpany
anticipates that contributions to the principal Conpanysponsored pension planin 2012 il be in the range of
$18mllionto $21 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital Resources

The Conpany sources of capital include cash flow fromoperations, available credit facilities and the
issuance of debt and equitysecurities. Mnagenent believes the Conpanyhas sufficient financial resources
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available to finance its business plan, neet its wrking capital requirenents and maintain an appropriate level of
capital spending. The anount and frequencyof future dividends W1 be determnined byt he Conpany Board of
Directors in light of the earnings and financial condition of the Conpanyat such tine, and no assurance can be
given that dividends w1 be declared or paidinthe future.

As of Januaryl, 2012, the Conpanyhad all $200 nillion available under a new$200 nillion five-gar
unsecured revol ving credit facility$200mllionfacilitytoneet its cashrequirenents. (n Septenber 21, 2011,
the Conpanyentered into the new$200 million facilityeplacing the Conpany eksting $200 million fi ve-gar
unsecured revolving credit facility dated Mrch 8, 2007, scheduled to mature in Mrch 2012. The new
$200 nillion facilityhas a schedul ed naturitydate of Septenber 21, 2016 and up to $25 nillionis available for
the issuance of letters of credit. Borrowngs under the agreenent Wl bear interest at a floating base rate or a
floating Eurodollar rate plus an interest rate spread, dependent on the Conpany credit rating at the tine of
borroing. The Conpanymust payan annual facilityfee of .175% of the lenders’aggregate commit nents under
the facilityThe $200 nillion facilitycontains twfinancial covenants: a cash floifi&d charges ratio (fi&d
charges coverage ratio)and funded i ndebt edness/cash flowatio (8perating cash flowatio), each as definedin
the credit agreenent. The fi&d charges coverage ratiorequires the Conpanyto naintain a consolidated cash flow
to fied charges ratio of 1.5 to 1.0 or hi gher. The operating cash flowatio requires the Conpanyto naintain a
debt to operating cash flowatio of 6.0 to 1.0 or lowr. The Conpanyis currentlyin conpliance th these
covenant s. These covenant s do not currentlyand t he Conpanydoes not anticipate theyw !, restrict its liquidityor
capital resources. The Conpanycurrentlybelieves that all of the banks participatingin the Conpany nev$200
mllionfacilityhave the abilitytoand il neet anyundi ng requests fromt he Conpany

The Conpanyhas $150 nillion of Senior Notes ki ch mture in Novenber 2012. The Conpanyepects to
use a conbination of available cash on hand, borroings on the uncommitted line of credit and borroings under
the $200 nmillion facilityto repaythe notes hen due. The Conpanyhas classified $30 nillion of these Senior
Notes due Novenber 2012 as long-termrepresenting the portion the Conpanyepects to be paid using the $200
mllionfacility

(On Februaryl0, 2010, t he Conpanyentered into an agreenent for an uncommtted line of credit. Under this
agreenent, the Conpanynayborrowyp to a total of $20 nmillion for periods of 7 day, 30 day, 60 day or 90
day at the discretion of the participating bank.

The Conpanshad debt maturities of $119.3 nillion in M32009 and $57.4 nmillion in Jul 2009. Ch Myl,
2009, the Conpanyused the net proceeds from$110 million of 7% Senior Notes due 2019 that the Conpany
issuedin April 2009 plus cash on hand t o repayt he debt naturityof $119.3 mi1lion. The Conpanyused cash flow
generated fromoperations and $55.0 nillion in borroings under its previous revol ving credit facilitytorepayhe
$57.4 nilliondebt maturityon Jul yl, 2009.

The Conpanyhas obtained the majorityof its long-termfinancing, other than capital leases, frompublic
nmarkets. As of Januaryl, 2012, $523.2 nillion of the Conpany total outstanding balance of debt and capital
lease obligations of $597.3 nillion ®s financed through publicl yoffered debt. The Conpanyhad capital lease
obligations of $74.1 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012. There ®re no anount s out st andi ng on the $200 million facility
or the Conpany uncommi tted line of credit as of Januaryl, 2012.

Cash Sources and Uses

The primarysources of cash for the Conpanyhas been cash provided byoperating activities, investing
activities and financing activities. The prinmaryuses of cash have been for capital ependitures, the pagent of
debt and capital lease obligations, dividend pagent s, i ncone t axpapent s and pension pagents.
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A sunmmar yof cashactivityor 2011 and 2010 fol 1 o

Fiscal Year

In millions 2011 2010
Cash sources
Cash provi ded byperating activities (egl uding i ncone t axand pension

PAFEIES) .\ $139.6  $127.6
Proceeds frominsurance for flooddamage .. ............ ... .. . .. .... — 7.1
Proceeds fromthe reduction of restrictedcash......................... ) 1.0
Proceeds fromthe sale of propertyplant andequipnent. . ................. _18 1.8
Total Cash SOUICES. ...\ v it e e e $141.9  $137.5
Cash uses
Capital eRenditures. . ...ttt e e e $ 532 $578
Pagent on $200 millionfacility. .. ... ..ot — 15.0
Debt 1 SSUANCE COSES .« o vttt ettt e e et e e e v —
Pension pagiBnts ... ...ttt 9.5 9.5
Pagent of capital leaseobligations................ouiiiininenan... 3.8 3.8
INCON® taMARBNLS . oottt ettt e e 20.4 14.1
Dividends. .. ... 9.2 9.2
(6 5 5T X 2 —
Total CASR USES. . vttt t e et $97.0 $1094
Increaseincash. ... ... . .. . $ 449 $ 28.1

Note: The table above reflects the revisions discussedinMNote 1 of the consolidated financial statenents.

Based on current projections, hich include a nunber of assunptions such as the Conpany pre-tax
earnings, the Conpanyanticipates its cash requirenents for incone tags W1 be betwen $15 million and
$20millionin2012.

Investing Activities

Additions to propertyplant and equipnent during 2011 sre $49.0 nillion of kich $6.2 nillion sre
accrued in accounts pagble, trade as unpaid. This anount conpared to $58.1 nmillion in additions to property
plant and equi pnent during 2010 of hich $10.4 nillion sre accrued in accounts pagble, trade as unpaid and
$1.5 nillion ss a trade allosnce on nanufacturing equi pnent. Capital ependitures during 2011 sre funded
Wt h cash flowfromoperations. The Conpanyanticipates that additions to propertyplant and equi pnent in 2012
w1l be in the range of $60 nillion to $70 nillion. Leasing is used for certain capital additions hen considered
cost effective relative to other sources of capital. The Conpanycurrentlyl eases its corporate headquarters, to
production facilities and several sales distributionfacilities andadmnistrative facilities.

Financing Activities

As of Januaryl, 2012, the Conpanyhad all $200 nillion available under a new$200 nillion fi ve-gar
unsecured revol ving credit facility($200 nillion facilityto neet its short-termborroing requirenents. (n
Septenber 21, 2011, the Conpanyentered into the nev$200 nmillion facilityreplacing the Conpany eksting
$200 nmillion five-yar unsecured revolving credit facilitydated Mrch 8, 2007 scheduled to mature in Mrch
2012. The new$200 million facilitshas a schedul ed maturitydate of Septenber 21,2016 andupto $25 mllionis
available for the issuance of letters of credit. Borroings under the agreenent i1 bear interest at a floating base
rate or a floating Eurodollar rate plus aninterest rate spread, dependent on the Conpany credit rating at the tine
of borroing. The Conpanymuist payan annual facilityfee of .175% of the lenders’aggregate commitnents
under the facilityThe $200 nillion facilitycontains tw financial covenants: a cash floifi&d charges ratio
(fizd charges coverage ratio) and funded indebtedness/cash flowatio (8perating cash flowatio), each as
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definedinthe credit agreenent. The fi&d charges coverage ratiorequires the Conpanyt o naintain a consolidated
cash flowo figd charges ratio of 1.5 to 1.0 or higher. The operating cash flowatio requires the Conpanyto
maintain a debt to operating cash flowatio of 6.0 to 1.0 or 1 owr. The Conpanyi s currentlyin conpliance ith
these covenants. These covenants do not currentlyand the Conpanydoes not anticipate theyiWl, restrict its
liquidityor capital resources. The Conpanyurrentlybelieves that all of the banks participatingin the Conpany
new200 million facilityhave the abilitytoand il neet anyunding requests fromthe ConpanyCh Januaryl,

2012, t he Conpanshad no out st andi ng borroings on the $200 nillion facilityCn January2, 2011, t he Conpany

had no out st andi ng bor r oings under the previous $200 nillion facility

The Conpanyhas $150 nillion of Senior Notes ki ch mture in Novenber 2012. The Conpanyepects to
use a conbination of available cash on hand, borroings on the uncommitted line of credit and borroings under
the $200 nmillion facilityto repaythe notes hen due. The Conpanyhas classified $30 nillion of these Senior
Notes due Novenber 2012 as long-termrepresenting the portion the Conpanyepects to be paid using the $200
mllionfacility

(n Jul yl, 2009 the Conpanyborrowsd $55 nillion under the previous $200 million facilityand used the
proceeds, along wth $2.4 mi11ion of cash on hand, to repayat maturitythe Conpany $57.4 nillion outstanding
7.2% Debentures due 2009. In April 2009, the Conpanyi ssued $110 nillion of 7% Senior Notes due 2019 and
used the net proceeds plus cash on hand on Myl, 2009 to repayat maturitythe Conpany $119.3 million
out st andi ng 6.375% Debent ures due 2009.

(n Februaryl0, 2010, t he Conpanyentered into an agreenent for an uncommitted line of credit. Under this
agreenent, the Conpanynayborrowyp to a total of $20 million for periods of 7 day, 30 day, 60 day or 90
day at the discretion of the participating bank. h both Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, t he Conpanshad no
ampunt out st andi ng under the uncommi tted line of credit.

All of the outstanding debt has been issued bythe Conpanyiit h none havi ng been issued byanyof the
Conpany subsidiaries. There are no guarantees of the Conpany debt. The Conpanyor its subsidiaries have
enteredintosevencapital leases.

At Januaryl, 2012, t he Conpany credit ratings sre as follow

Long-Term Debt

Standard & Poord . ... . e BBB
MO Ody Baa2

The Conpany credit ratings are reviewd periodicallybythe respective rating agencies. Changes in the
Conpany operating results or financial position could result in changes in the Conpany credit ratings. Lowr
credit ratings couldresult in hi gher borrowng costs for the Conpanyor reduced access to capital markets, kich
could have a material inpact on the Conpany financial positionor results of operations. There @re no changes
inthese credit ratings fromthe prior gar andthe credit ratings are currentlstable.

The Conpany public debt is not subject to financial covenants but does limt the incurrence of certainliens
and encunbr ances as ®l1 as i ndebt edness byt he Conpany subsidiaries inegess of certainanounts.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Conpanyi s a nenber of twnanufacturing cooperatives and has guaranteed $38.3 nillion of their debt
and related lease obligations as of Januaryl, 2012. In addi tion, the Conpanyhas an equit yomership in each of
the entities. The nenbers of both cooperatives consist solelyof Coca-Cola bottlers. The Conpanydoes not
anticipate either of these cooperatives Wl fail to fulfill its comm tnents. The Conpanyfurther believes each of
these cooperatives has sufficient assets, including production equipnent, facilities and wrking capital, and the
abilityto adjust selling prices of its products to adequatel ynitigate the risk of material loss fromthe Conpany
guarantees. As of Januaryl, 2012, t he Conpany nakmumeposure, i f both of these cooperatives borrowd up
to their aggregate borroing capacityweul d have been $71.2 million including the Conpany equityinterest.
See Note 13 and Note 18 of the consolidated financial statenents for additional infornation.

50



Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The folloing table summaries the Conpany contractual obligations and commercial conmtnents as of
Januaryl, 2012:

Payments Due by Period

2017 and
In thousands Total 2012 2013-2014 2015-2016 Thereafter
Contractual obligations:
Total debt, net of interest... $ 523,219  $150,000 $ — $264,757  $108,462
Capital lease obligations, net of
interest................. 74,054 4,574 10,775 12,894 45,811
Estimatedinterest on debt and
capital lease obligations(l) .. 147,208 32,808 51,237 35,948 27,215
Purchase obligations(2)..... 230,961 95,570 135,391 — —
Qher long-termliabilities(3) ... 120,285 11,200 18,638 12,464 77,983
(peratingleases........... 29,566 4,930 7,792 5,245 11,599
Long-t ermcont ract ual
arrangenents(4) .......... 22,202 7,741 9,845 2,820 1,796
Postretirenent obligations . 64,696 3,027 6,413 7,376 47,880
Purchase orders(5).......... 33,617 33,617 — — —
Total contractual obligations... $1,245,808  $343,467  $240,091  $341,504  $320,746

(1) Includes interest pagyents based oncontractual terns.

(2) Represents anestinmate of the Conpany obligation to purchase 17.5 m1lion cases of finished product on an
annual basis through My014 fromSouth Atlantic Canners, a manufacturing cooperative.

(3) Includes obligations under ezcutive benefit plans, the liabilityto ekt froma multi-enpl ogr pension plan
and ot her long-termliabilities.

(4) Includes contractual arrangenents ith certain prestige properties, athletic venues and other locations, and
ot her 1 ong-termnarketing conni t nents.

(5) Purchase orders include commitnents in kich a wmitten purchase order has been issued to a vendor, but the
goods have not beenreceived or the services perforned.

The Conpanyhas $4.7 million of uncertain taxpositions including accrued interest, as of Januaryl, 2012
(exluded fromother long-termliabilities in the table above because the Conpanyis uncertain if or ken such
amount s W1 be recognied) of hich $2.3 nillion suld affect the Conpany effective taxrate if recognied.

Wiile it is epected that the anbunt of uncertain taxpositions maychange in the nek 12 nonths, the Conpany
does not epect such change wul d have a si gnificant inpact onthe consolidated financial statenents. See Note 14
of the consolidated financial statenents for additional information.

The Conpanyi s a nenber of Sout heastern Container, a plastic bottle manufacturing cooperative, fromhi ch
the Conpanyis obligated to purchase at least 80% of its requirenents of plastic bottles for certain designated
territories. This obligation is not included in the Conpany table of contractual obligations and commercial
comm tnents since there are no mini numpurchase requirenents. See Note 13 and Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statenents for additional infornationrelatedto Southeastern.

As of Januaryl, 2012, the Conpanyhad $20.8 nmillion of standbyletters of credit, primarilyrelated toits
propertyand casual tyinsurance prograns. See Note 13 of the consolidated financial statenents for additional
informationrelatedtocomercial commtnents, guarantees, legal and taxmtters.

The Conpanycontributed $9.5 million to its tw Conpanysponsored pension plans in 2011. Based on
information currentlyavailable, the Conpanyestimates it W1 be required to make cash contributions in 2012 in
the range of $18 millionto $21 mllionto those twplans. Postretirenent nedical care payents are epected to
be approkmatel y$3 million in 2012. See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statenents for additional
informationrelated to pensionand postretirenent obligations.
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Hedging Activities
Interest Rate Hedging

The Conpanyperiodicallyses interest rate hedging products tonitigate risk frominterest rate fluctuations.
The Conpanshas historicallylteredits fizd/floating rate mbased upon anticipated cash flosfromoperations
relative tothe Conpany debt level and the potential inpact of changes ininterest rates onthe Conpany overall
financial condition. Sensitivityanal yes are perforned to reviewhe inpact on the Conpany financial position
and coverage of various interest rate novenents. The Conpanydoes not use derivative financial instrunents for
trading purposes nor does it use leveraged financial instrunents.

The Conpanyhas not had anyinterest rate s@p agreenent s out st andi ng since Sept enber 2008.

Interest epense ss reduced by$1.2 nillion, $1.2 million and $2.1 mllion due to anortiation of the
deferred gains on previousl ytermnated interest rate ssp agreenents and forsrd interest rate agreenents during
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel yInterest epense w1 be reduced bythe anortiation of these deferred gains in
2012 through 2015 as follow $1.1 million, $.5m1lion, $.6 mllionand$.1 m1lion, respectively

As of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, the Conpanyhad a ®i ghted average interest rate of 5.9% and
5.8%, respectivel yfor its outstanding debt and capital 1ease obligations. The Conpany overall ®i ghted average
interest rate onits debt and capital lease obligations increased to 6.0% in 2011 from5.9% in 2010. None of the
Conpany debt and capital lease obligations of $597.3 m11ion as of Januaryl, 2012 ss nai nt ai ned on a floating
rate basis or s subject tochanges inshort-terminterest rates.

Fuel Hedging

The Conpanyused derivative instrunents to hedge substantiallyll of the projected diesel fuel and unl eaded
gasoline used in the Conpany deliveryfleet and other vehicles for the second, third and fourth quarter of 2011.
The Conpanyused derivative instrunents to hedge essentiallyall of the Conpany projected diesel fuel
purchases for 2010 and 2009. The Conpanypaid a fee for these instrunents hich s anortied over the
corresponding period of the instrunent. The Conpanyaccounted for its fuel hedges on a mark-to-narket basis
Wt h anepense or incone reflected as an adjustnent of fuel costs.

The Conpanyuses several different financial institutions for commodityderivative instrunents to minime
the concentration of credit risk. The Conpanyhas master agreenents Wwh the counterparties to its derivative
financial agreenents that provide for net settlenent of derivative transactions.

In Cctober 2008, the Conpanyentered into derivative instrunents to hedge essentiallyall of its projected
diesel fuel purchases for 2009 establishing an upper andlowsr limt onthe Conpany price of diesel fuel.

In February2009, the Conpanyentered into derivative instruments to hedge essentiallyall of its projected
diesel fuel purchases for 2010 establishing anupper linmt tothe Conpany price of diesel fuel.

In February2011, the Conpanyentered into derivative instrunents to hedge all of its projected diesel fuel
and unl eaded gasoline purchases for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2011 establishing an upper linit on
t he Conpany price of diesel fuel and unl eaded gasoline.

The net inpact of the fuel hedges @s to increase fuel costs by$.6 nillion in 2011, increase fuel costs by
$1.7nillionin 2010 and decrease fuel costs by$2.4 mi1lion in 20009.

There ®re no out st andi ng fuel derivative agreenents as of Januaryl, 2012.

Aluminum Hedging

At the end of the first quarter of 2009, the Conpanyentered into derivative instruments to hedge
approkmat el y75% of the Conpany projected 2010 al umi numpur chase requirenents. The Conpanypaid a fee
for these instrunents hich s anortied over the corresponding period of the instrunents. The Conpany
accounted for its al um numhedges on a mark-to-market basis wh anyepense or incone being reflected as an
adjustnent tocost of sales.
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During the second quarter of 2009, the Conpanyentered into derivative agreenents to hedge approkmatel y
75% of the Conpany projected 2011 al um numpurchase requirenents.

The net inpact of the Conpany alum num hedging program ss to increase the cost of sales by
$23 nillionin 2011, increase cost of sales by$2.6 nillionin 2010 and decrease cost of sales by$10.8 nillionin
2009.

There wre no out st andi ng al um numderi vative agreenents as of Januaryl, 2012.
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CAUTIONARY INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Forml10-K as @il as informationincludedin future filings byt he Conpanyth t he
Securities and Exhange Commission and information contained in mitten material, press releases and oral
statements issued byor on behalf of the Conpany contains, or maycontain, forsrd-1ooking managenent
comments and other statenents that reflect managenentd current outlook for future periods. These statenents
include, anong others, statenents relating to:

e the Conpany belief that the covenants onits $200 million facilityw]l not restrict its liquidityor capital
resources;

e the Conpany belief that other parties tocertaincontractual arrangenents W performtheir obligations;
e potential marketing funding support fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her beverage conpanies;
e the Conpany belief that the riskof loss wthrespect tofunds deposited iah banks is mnimal;

e the Conpany belief that disposition of certain clains and legal proceedings Wl not have a material
adverse effect onits financial condition, cash flowor results of operations and that no material anount of
loss inexess of recorded anbunt s i s reasonabl ypossible as aresult of these clains and1egal proceedings;

e managenent § belief that the Conpanyhas adequatel yprovided for anyl tinate anounts that are likel yto
result fromtaxudits;

e managenent § belief that the Conpanshas sufficient resources available to finance its business plan, neet
its wrking capital requirenents and maintainanappropriate level of capital spending;

 the Conpany epectations to paythe $150 million of Senior Notes Wi ch mature i n Novenber 2012 ist h
available cash on hand, borroings on the uncommitted line of credit and borroing under the $200
mllionfacility

e the Conpany belief that the cooperatives hose debt and I ease obligations the Conpanyguarantees have
sufficient assets and the abilityto adjust selling prices of their products to adequatel ymitigate the risk
material 1oss and that the cooperatives W1 performtheir obligations under their debt andlease agreenents;

e the Conpany belief that certainfranchise rights are perpetual or w1 be renewd upon epiration;

e the Conpany keypriorities hich are revenue managenent, product innovation and beverage portfolio
epansion, distribution cost mnagenent and productivity

e the Conpany epectation that newproduct introductions, packaging changes and sales pronotions il
continue torequire substantial ependitures;

e the Conpany belief that thereis substantial and effective conpetitionineachof the exlusive geographic
territories in the lhited States in hich it operates for the purposes of the lhited States Soft Drink
Interbrand Conpetition Act;

e the Conpany belief that it maymarket and sell nationallyertain products it has devel oped and oms;

e the Conpany belief that cash requirenents for incone tags Wl be in the range of $15 nillion to
$20millionin2012;

e the Conpany anticipation that pension epense related to the twConpanysponsored pension plans is
estimated tobe approknatel $3.5nillionin2012;

e the Conpany belief that cash contributions in 2012 toits twConpanysponsored pension plans W1 be
inthe range of $18 nmillionto $21 mi11ion;

e the Conpany belief that postretirenent benefit pagents are epected to be approkmatel y¥3 nillionin
2012;

e the Conpany belief that the Aon/Heistt AA above nedi an yeld curve provides a better discount rate to
determnine the pension and postretirenent benefit obligations;
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e the Conpany epectation that additions to propertyplant and equi pnent in 2012 W1 be in the range of
$60mllionto $70 m11ion;

e the Conpany belief that conpliance th environmnental lawiidl not have a mterial adverse effect on
its capital ependitures, earnings or conpetitive position;

e the Conpany belief that the mjorityf its deferredtaxssets w1 be realied;

e the Conpany intention to renewsubstantiallyall the Allied Beverage Agreenents and Still Beverage
Agreenents as theypire;

e the Conpany beliefs and estimates regarding the inpact of the adoption of certain newaccounting
pronouncenent s ;

e the Conpany epectations that rawmmterials W1 rise significantlyn?2012;

e the Conpany belief that innovation of newbrands and packages W1 continue to be critical to the
Conpany overal ]l revenue;

e the Conpany beliefs that the growh prospects of Conpanyomed or exlusive licensed brands appear
prom sing and t he cost of devel opi ng, narketing and distributingthese brands maybe si gnificant;

e the Conpany epectation that uncertain taxpositions nmaychange over the nek 12 nonths but W1 not
have a significant inpact onthe consolidated financial statenents;

e the Conpany belief that all of the banks participating in the Conpany nev200 nillion facilityhave
the abilityoand Wl neet anyfundi ng requests fromthe Conpany

ethe Conpany belief that it is conpetitive in its territories wh respect to the principal nethods of
conpetitioninthe nonal coholic beverage i ndustryand

e the Conpany estimate that a 10% increase in the market price of certain comodities over the current
nmarket prices wuld cumul ativel yi ncrease costs during the nek 12 nont hs byappr okmat el y$24 nillion
assum ng no change in vol une.

These statenents and epectations are based on currentlyavailable conpetitive, financial and economic data
along wth the Conpany operating plans, and are subject to future events and uncertainties that could cause
anticipated events not to occur or actual results to differ materiall yfromhistorical or anticipated results. Fac
that could inpact those differences or adversel yaffect future periods include, but are not linmited to, the factors st
forthunder ItemlA. Risk Factors.

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on the Conpany forsrd-1ooking statenments, kich
reflect the epectations of managenent of the Conpanyonlyas of the tine such statenents are made. The
Conpanyundert akes no obligation to publiclyupdate or revise anyforard-looking statenents, kether as a
result of newnformation, future events or ot herise.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Conpanyi s eposed to certain narket risks that arise in the ordinaryourse of business. The Conpany
mayenter into derivative financial instrunent transactions to nmanage or reduce market risk. The Conpanydoes
not enter into derivative financial instrunent transactions for trading purposes. A discussion of the Conpany
primarymarket risk eposure andinterest rateriskis presented bel ow

Debt and Derivative Financial Instruments

The Conpanyis subject tointerest rate riskonits figd and floating rate debt. The Conpanyperiodically
uses interest rate hedging products to nodifyrisk frominterest rate fluctuations. The counterparties to thes
interest rate hedging arrangenents wre najor financial institutions Wth kich the Conpanyalso has other
financial relationships. The Conpanydid not have anyinterest rate hedging products as of Januaryl, 2012. None
of the Conpany debt and capital lease obligations of $597.3 million as of Januaryl, 2012 ®re subject to
changes inshort-terminterest rates.

Raw Material and Commodity Prices

The Conpanyi s al so subject to commwdityprice risk arising fromprice novenents for certain comwodities
included as part of its rawmaterials. The Conpanymanages this commodityprice riskin sone cases byntering
into contracts wh adjustable prices. The Conpanyperiodicallyuses derivative comodityinstrunents in the
managenent of this risk. The Conpanyestimtes that a 10% increase in the market prices of these comwodities
over the current market prices wuld cunul ativelyincrease costs during the nek 12 nonths byapprokmatel y
$24 nmi11i on assum ng no change in vol une.

The Conpanyentered into derivative instrunents to hedge essentiallyall of the Conpany projected diesel
fuel purchases for 2009 and 2010. In Februar 2011, t he Conpanyentered i nto derivative instrunents to hedge all
of the Conpany projecteddiesel fuel and unl eaded gasoline purchases for the second, third and fourth quarters of
2011. These derivative instrunents relate todiesel fuel and unl eaded gasoline usedin the Conpany deliveryfleet
and other vehicles. The Conpanypaid a fee for these instrunents hich ss anortied over the corresponding
period of the instrunent. The Conpanyaccounts for its fuel hedges on a nark-t o-narket basis ith anyepense or
incone reflected as an adjust nent of fuel costs.

At the end of the first quarter of 2009, the Conpanyentered into derivative instruments to hedge
approknatel y/5% of its projected 2010 al umi numpur chase requirenents. During the second quarter of 2009, t he
Conpanyentered into derivative agreenents to hedge approkmatel y75% of the Conpany projected 2011
al umi numpurchase requirenents. The Conpanypaid a fee for these instrunents hich s anortied over the
corresponding period of the instrunents. The Conpanyaccounts for its alum numhedges on a nark-t o-narket
basis wth anepgense or incone being reflected as an adjustnent to cost of sales.

There wre no outstandi ng derivative agreenents as of Januaryl, 2012.

Effect of Changing Prices

The annual rate of inflation in the Uhited States, as neasured bygar-over-gar changes in the consuner
price index®s 3.0% in 2011 conpared to 1.5% in 2010 and 2.7% in 2009. Inflation in the prices of those
commodities inportant to our business is reflected in changes in the consuner price i ndexbut commodityprices
are volatile and have in recent gars increased at a faster rate than the rate of inflation as neasured bythe
consuner price index

The principal effect of inflationin both comwodityand consuner prices on the Conpany operating results
is toincrease costs, both of goods sold and selling, general and adm nistrative costs. Although the Conpanyan
offset these cost increases byincreasing selling prices for its products, consuners maynot have t he buyng powr
to cover those increased costs and mayreduce their volune of purchases of those products. In that event, selling
price increases mayot be sufficient tooffset conpletel yt he Conpany cost increases.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year
In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 2009
Netsales .. ... $1,561,239 $1,514,599 $1,442,986
Cost of sales . ... 931,996 873,783 822,992
GroSSMArgin . ..ottt e e 629,243 640,816 619,994
Selling, deliveryand admnistrative eRENSES .. ... vvveennnn.. 541,713 544,498 525,491
Income from operations . ......... ... it 87,530 96,318 94,503
Interest ERENSE, NEL . . . v\ v vttt et e 35,979 35,127 37,379
Incone before tags ....... ... ... ... .t 51,551 61,191 57,124
INCON® tARENSE ..o v ittt 19,528 21,649 16,581
Net IMCOIMB ..ottt et et e e e 32,023 39,542 40,543
Less: Net incone attributable tononcontrollinginterest.. 3,415 3,485 2,407
Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated $ 28,608 $ 36,057 38,136
Basic net income per share based on net income attributable to
Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated:
Common St ocK ..o $ 311 $ 3.93 4.16
Wi ght ed average nunber of Common St ock shares out st andi ng. . 7,141 7,141 7,072
Class BComon StocK. . ...ttt e $ 311 $ 3.93 4.16
Wi ght ed aver age nunber of Class B Comnon St ock shares
Ut Standing .. ...vv vttt 2,063 2,040 2,092
Diluted net income per share based on net income attributable to
Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated:
Common SEOCK .ottt $ 309 $ 3.91 4.15
Wi ght ed average nunber of Common St ock shares out st andi ng —
assumingdilution....... ... .. ... 9,244 9,221 9,197
Class BComon StocK. . ...ttt $ 308 $ 3.90 4.13
Wi ght ed aver age nunber of Class B Common St ock shares
outstanding -assumngdilution.......................... 2,103 2,080 2,125

See Acconpanyng Notes t o Consolidated Financial Statenents.
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COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands (except share data) 2012 2011
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents....... ... ... i, $ 90,758 $ 45,872
Restricted cash. ... o 3,000 3,500
Account s receivable, trade, less all osnce for doubt ful accounts

of $1,521 and $1,300, respectively .. .ovvuu ettt 105,515 96,787
Account s recei vabl e fromThe Coca-Cola Conpany................covuvn.... 8,439 12,081
Accounts receivable, other. .. ... 15,874 15,829
INVENE OF 1 €S . o ottt e e e e e e 66,158 64,870
Prepaid epenses and other current assets...........ouiiiinininenenan.... 22,069 25,760

Total Current aSS el S. . oo 311,813 264,699
Property, plant and equipment, net .............. ... i 312,789 322,143
Leased property under capital leases, net ................ ... 59,804 46,856
Other @SSetS . .. oot 49,604 46,332
Franchise rights .. ... .. . 520,672 520,672
GoodWIll ... 102,049 102,049
Other identifiable intangible assets, net .......... ... ... ... .. ... ... 4,439 4,871
TOt Al ASSELS « v v v et e e e e e e e e e e $1,361,170 $1,307,622

See Acconpanyng Notes t o Consolidated Financial Statenents.
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COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
2012 2011
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portionof debt. ... ... ... ... $ 120,000 $ —
Current portionof obligations under capital leases ...................... 4,574 3,866
Accounts pagble,trade........ ... ... . . 42,203 41,878
Account s pagble to The Coca-Cola Conpany................ .. .. ..o .. 34,150 25,058
Qher accrued 1iabilities. ...ttt e 66,922 69,471
Accrued CompensSatiOn. . ..o vttt et e e e 29,218 30,944
Accruedinterest pagble ... ... 5,448 5,523
Total current liabilities. ... e, 302,515 176,740
Deferred INCOME taXES . .. ..o i it e e 142,260 143,962
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations .............................. 138,156 114,163
Other liabilities . ... .. . 114,302 109,882
Obligations under capital 1eases . ... 69,480 55,395
Long-termdebt . ... .. 403,219 523,063
Total 11abilithes ..o e e 1,169,932 1,123,205
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)
Equity:
Convertible Preferred Stock, $100.00 par val ue:
Aut horied-50,000 shares; I ssued-None
Nonconvertible Preferred Stock, $100.00 par val ue:
Aut horied-50,000 shares; I ssued-None
Preferred Stock, $.01 par val ue:
Aut horied-20,000,000 shares; I ssued-None
Common St ock, $1.00 par val ue:
Aut horied-30,000,000 shares; I'ssued-10,203,821 shares.................... 10,204 10,204
Cl ass B Common St ock, $1.00 par val ue:
Aut horied-10,000,000 shares; Issued-2,694,636 and 2,672,316 shares,
resSpeCti Vel Y. . oot 2,693 2,671
Class C Common St ock, $1.00 par val ue:
Aut horied-20,000,000 shares; I ssued-None
Capital inegess of par value........ ... i 106,201 104,835
Retained €arnings . . ..ottt e e 154,277 134,872
Accumul ated other conprehensive loss........... ... ... (80,820) (63,433)
192,555 189,149
Less-Treasur st ock, at COSt L. ..ottt e et
Comon St 0ck-3,002,374 Shares . ... 60,845 60,845
Class B Common St ock-628,114 shares. ............. ... ... 409 409
Tot al equityf Coca-Cola Bottling Co.Consolidated................... 131,301 127,895
Noncontrol ling interest .. ...ttt e 59,937 56,522
Total EqUI LY . ottt 191,238 184,417
Total liabilities and €qULLY ... ..ottt e $1,361,170 $1,307,622

See Acconpanyng Notes t o Consolidated Financial Statenents.
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COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year
In thousands 2011 2010 2009

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
AN I 1T $ 32,023 $ 39,542 $ 40,543

Adjustnents toreconcile net incone tonet cash provided byperating
activities:

Depreciati On @RENSE . . ottt et ettt e 61,686 58,672 60,455
Anortiationof intangibles........ ... ... . i 432 489 560
DeferredinCon® taBS. . ...ttt e 7,888 (4,9006) 7,633
Loss onsale of propertyplant andequipnent. ....................... 547 1,195 1,271
Inpairnent /accel erated depreci ation of propertypl ant and equi.pnent. — 3,665 353
Net gainon propertyplant and equi pnent danagedinfload........... — (892) —
Anortiationof debt COSt.S. . ... i e 2,330 2,330 2,303
St ock cONpensati ON ERENSE . . . v ot v vt ittt e 2,342 2,223 2,161
Anortiationof deferred gains relatedtotermnatedinterest rate
AELECIBILS .« ottt et ettt ettt e e e e (1,221) (1,211) (2,071)
Insurance proceeds received for flooddamage...................... — 5,682 —
(Increase) decreaseincurrent assets less current liabilities...... 5,529 1,920 (27,412)
Increaseinother noncurrent asset.s . .........o.ouiriiriineennenn... (4,563) (1,726) (13,700)
Increaseinother noncurrent liabilities ......................... 2,652 2,788 7,409
L ) 1T P 5 (15) 2)
Total adjuStnBNES. . oottt et e 77,627 70,214 38,960
Net cash provided byoperatingactivities............................ 109,650 109,756 79,503
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Additions topropertyplant andequipnent...................c.o.vo... (53,156)  (57,798)  (43,339)
Proceeds fromthe sale of propertyplant andequipnent................ 1,772 1,795 8,282
Insurance proceeds recei ved for propertypl ant and equi pnent danagedin
Flo0d . .o — 1,418 —
Investnent insubsidiaryet of assets acquired ...................... — (32) —
Changeinrestrictedcash ...... ... ... i 500 1,000 (4,500)
Net cashusedininvestingactiVities. . .....ouvenenen e enennen.. (50,884)  (53,617) (39,557)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds fromissuance of long-termdebt. . .............. ... ... .. ... — — 108,160
Borrowng (repayent ) under revol vingcredit facility ................. —  (15,000) 15,000
Pagent of current portionof long-termdebt.......................... — — (176,693)
Cashdividends paid....... ... oo (9,203) (9,180) (9,162)
Exess taxbenefit)epense fromstock-based conpensation.............. 61 71 (98)
Principal pagents oncapital leaseobligations...................... (3,839) (3,846) (3,263)
Pagents for the terminationof interest rate lock agreenents.......... — — (340)
Debt issuance costs paid .. ..o (716) —  (1,042)
L 1 T P (183) (88) (145)
Net cashusedinfinancingactivities...........ouuuveiinenenennon.. (13,880) (28,037)  (67,583)
Net increase (decrease) incash ........... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. 44,886 28,102 (27,637)
Cash atbeginningofyear ............ .. i, 45,872 17,770 45,407
Cashatendofyear ........ ... .. .. ... i $ 90,758 $ 45872 $ 17,770
Si gni ficant non-cashinvesting and financing activities

Issuance of Class B Comon St ockin connectionthstockamrd...... $ 1,327 $ 1,316 $ 1,130

Capital leaseobligationsincurred ............oovuiiniiinnon.. 18,632 — 660

See Acconpanyng Notes t o Consolidated Financial Statenents.
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In thousands
(except share data)

Comprehensive income:
Net incone ..........

COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

ClassB  Capital in

Accumulated
Other

Total

Guership share of Sout heastern

Forei gn currencyransl
adjustnents, net of t

Pension and postretirenent benefit

adjustnents, net of t

Total comprehensive income ...

Cash di vi dends paid

Common ($1 per share).......

Class B Common
($1 per share). ...

Issuance of 20,000 shares of Class

B Common Stock ...
St ock conpensation adj
Conversion of Class B

St ock i nt o Conmon St

Bal ance on Jan. 3, 2010

Comprehensive income:
Net incone ..........

Onership share of Sout heastern

Foreigncurrencyranslation
adjustnents,net of tax.......
Pensionand postretirenent benefit

adjustnents, net of tax.....

Total comprehensive income . ..
Acquisitionof noncontrolling

interest...........
Cash di vi dends paid

Comwon ($1 per share).......

Class B Common
($1 per share). ...

Issuance of 22,320 shares of Class

B Common Stock ...
St ock conpensat i on adj

Bal ance on Jan. 2, 2011
Comprehensive income:

Net incone ..........
Forei gn currencyransl

adjustnents, net of tax.....
Pension and postretirenent benefit
adjustnents, net of tax.....

Total comprehensive income . ..

Cash di vi dends paid

Common ($1 per share).......

Class B Common
($1 per share). ...

Issuance of 22,320 shares of Class

B Common Stock ...
St ock conpensation adj

Common Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Equity of Noncontrolling — Total
Stock Stock  Par Value Earnings Loss Stock CCBCC Interest Equity

Bal ance on Dec. 28,2008. . ... .. $ 9,706  $3,127 $103,582 $ 79,021 $(57,873)  $(61,254) $ 76,309 $50,397 $126,706

........ 38,136 38,136 2,407 40,543

........ (49) 49) (49)
ation

axX....... (1) (D (1)

ax..... 11,156 11,156 11,156

49,242 2,407 51,649

(7,017) (7,017) (7,017)

........ (2,145) (2,145) (2,145)

........ 20 (20) — —

ustnent .. (98) (98) (98)

Comon

ock .... 498 (498) — —

........ $10,204  $2,649 $103,464 $107,995 $(46,767)  $(61,254) $116,291 $52,804 $169,095

........ 36,057 36,057 3,485 39,542

........ 49 49 49

) ©) ©)

(16,706) (16,706) (16,706)

19,391 3,485 22,876

........ 233 233

(7,141) (7,141) (7,141)

........ (2,039) (2,039) (2,039)

........ 22 1,294 1,316 1,316

ustnent .. 77 77 77

........ $10,204 $2,671 $104,835 $134,872 $(63,433)  $(61,254) $127,895 $56,522 $184,417

........ 28,608 28,608 3,415 32,023
ation

2 2 2

(17,389) (17,389) (17,389)

11,221 3,415 14,636

(7,141) (7,141) (7,141)

........ (2,062) (2,062) (2,062)

........ 22 1,305 1,327 1,327

ustnent .. 61 61 61

........ $10,204  $2,693 $106,201 $154,277 $(80,820)  $(61,254) $131,301 $59,937 $191,238

Bal ance on Jan. 1, 2012

See Acconpanyng Notes t o Consolidated Financial Statenents.
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COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated (the Conpany produces, markets and distributes nonalcoholic
beverages, primrilyproducts of The Coca-Col a ConpanyThe Conpanyoperates principallyin the southeastern
region of the Uhited States and has one reportabl e segnent.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Conpanyand its majorityomed
subsidiaries. All significant interconpanyccounts and transactions have been elimi nated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformtyith Uhited States generallyaccepted
accounting principles (GAAP) requires managenent to nake estimates and assunptions that affect the reported
ampunts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finan
statenents and the reported anounts of revenues and epenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ fromthose estimates.

The fiscal gars presented are the 52-sek periods ended Januaryl, 2012 (2011) and January2, 2011
(2010 and t he 53-wek period ended January3, 2010 (2009). The Conpany fiscal gar ends on the Sunday
closest to Decenber 31 of each yar.

Piednont Coca-Cola Bottling Partnership (Piednont) is the Conpany onlysubsidiarythat has a
significant noncontrolling interest. Noncontrolling interest incone of $3.4 nillion in 2011, $3.5 nillion in 2010
and $2.4 nillion in 2009 are included in net incone on the Conpany consolidated statenents of operations. In
addi tion, the anount of consolidated net incone attributable to both the Conpanyand noncontrolling interest are
show on the Conpany consolidated statements of operations. Noncontrolling interest primarilyrelated to
Piednont totaled $59.9 nillion and $56.5 nillion at Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respecti vel y These
anount s are showas noncontrollinginterest inthe equityection of the Conpany consolidated bal ance sheets.

Certainprior gar anounts have beenreclassified toconformtocurrent classifications.

Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements

In connection irth the preparation of the consolidated financial statenents for the second quarter of 2011, the
Conpanyidentified an error in the treatnent of accrued additions for propertyplant and equiprent in the
Consolidated Statenents of Cash Flow This error affected the yar-to-date Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flowpresented in each of the quarters of 2010, i ncl udi ng t he gar-end consol i dated financial statements for 2010,
as ®l1 as the first quarter of 2011 and resulted in an understatenent of net cash provi ded byoperating activities
and net cashusedininvestingactivities for each of the inpacted periods. In accordance it h accounting gui dance
presented in ASC 250-10 (SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99, Miteriality, the Conpanyassessed the
materialityof the error and concluded that the error s not material to anyf the Conpany previouslyi ssued
financial statements taken as a hole. The Conpanywl | revise previouslyi ssued financial statenents to correct
the effect of this error. This revision did not affect the Conpany Consolidated Statenents of (perations or
Consolidated Bal ance Sheets for anyf these periods.
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First Quarter Ended April 3, 2011

Year Ended January 2, 2011

As
Previously As
Reported  Adjustment Revised

As
Previously As

(In thousands) Reported  Adjustment Revised
Cash Fl owfrom(perating Activities
(Increase) decrease incurrent assets less

current liabilities.............. $(23,356) $ 10,433  $(12,923)
Total adjustnents.................. (9,549) 10,433 884
Net cash provi ded byused in) operating

ACtIVILI@S. .o v i (3,080) 10,433 7,353
Cash Fl owfromlnvesting Activities
Additions to propertyplant and

eqUIPIBNL . ... (9,069) (10,433) (19,502)
Net cashusedininvestingactivities 9,047) (10,433) (19,480)

First 9 Months Ended Oct. 3, 2010

$ (9,709) $ 11,629 $ 1,920
58,585 11,629 70,214
98,127 11,629 109,756
(46,169)  (11,629)  (57,798)
(41,988)  (11,629)  (53,617)

First Half Ended July 4, 2010

As
Previously As
(In thousands) Reported  Adjustment Revised

As
Previously As
Reported  Adjustment Revised

Cash Fl owfrom(perating Activities

Increase incurrent assets less current

liabilities...................... $(22,043) $ 11,629 $(10,414)

Total adjustnents.................. 28,374 11,629 40,003
Net cash provi ded byperating

activities............ooviiin... 64,124 11,629 75,753
Cash Fl owfromlnvesting Activities
Additions to propertyplant and

SQUIPIBNL . ..ot (29,011)  (11,629) (40,640)
Net cashusedininvestingactivities (26,638) (11,629) (38,267)

(In thousands)

Cash Fl owfrom(perating Activities

Increaseincurrent assets less current liabilities................
Total adjustimBnts. . .. ..o

Net cash provided byoperatingactivities............. ..., ..

Cash Flowfromlnvesting Activities

Additions topropertyplant andequipnent..........................

Net cashusedininvestingactivities. ........ ...,

63

$(30,623) $ 11,629 $(18,994)

(6,259) 11,629 5,370
12,280 11,629 23,909
(16,496)  (11,629) (28,125)
(14,184)  (11,629) (25,813)
First Quarter Ended Apr. 4, 2010
As
Previously As
Reported  Adjustment  Revised
$(19,321) $ 11,629 $ (7,692)
583 11,629 12,212
5,718 11,629 17,347
(7,977)  (11,629) (19,606)
(6,915) (11,629) (18,544)
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The Conpany si gni ficant accounting policies are as foll ow

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equi val ent s include cash on hand, cash in banks and cash equi valents, hich are hi ghlyliquid
debt instrunents Wwh maturities of less than 90 day. The Conpanymintains cash deposits #wth major banks
hich fromtine to tine nmayezeed federallyinsured linits. The Conpanyperiodicallyassesses the financial
conditionof theinstitutions and believes that the risk of anytoss is mnimnal.

Credit Risk of Trade Accounts Receivable

The Conpanysells its products to supermarkets, convenience stores and other custoners and ekends credit,
general l yint hout requiring collateral, based on an ongoing eval uation of the custoner$ business prospects and
financial condition. The Conpany trade accounts receivable are tpicallyollected Wt hin approkmatel B0 day
fromt he date of sale. The Conpanymonitors its eposure tolosses ontrade accounts recei vabl e and maintains an
allomnce for potential losses or adjustnents. Past due trade accounts receivable bal ances are mitten off hen the
Conpany collection efforts have been unsuccessful incollectingthe anount due.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the losr of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out nethod for
finished products and manufacturing naterials and on the average cost nethod for plastic shells, plastic pallets anc
other inventories.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Propertyplant and equi pnent are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line nethod over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold i nprovenents on operating leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the estimated useful lives or the termof the lease, including renesl options the Conpanydetermnes are
reasonabl yassured. Additions and major replacenents or betternents are added to the assets at cost. Mintenance
and repair costs and minor replacenents are charged to epense hen incurred. Wen assets are replaced or
otherise disposed, the cost and accumil ated depreci ation are renoved fromt he accounts and the gains or 1osses,
if anyarereflectedinthe statenent of operations. Gains or losses on the disposal of manufacturing equi pnent and
manufacturing facilities are included in cost of sales. Gains or losses on the disposal of all other propertyplan
and equi pnent are included in selling, deliveryand admnistrative (S,D&AY epenses. Disposals of property
plant and equi pnent generallyoccur ienit is not cost effective torepair anasset.

The Conpanyeval uates the recoverabilityf the carryng anbunt of its propertyplant and equi pnent hen
events or changes in circunstances indicate that the carryng anbunt of an asset or asset group naynot be
recoverable. These evaluations are perforned at a level here independent cash floswnaybe attributed to either
an asset or an asset group. If the Conpanydetermines that the carryng anount of an asset or asset groupis not
recoverabl e based upon the epected undiscounted future cash flowof the asset or asset group, an inpairnent
loss is recorded equal tothe exess of the carryng anounts over the estinated fair value of the long-1ived assets.

Leased Property Under Capital Leases

Leased propertynder capital leases is depreciatedusingthe straight-line nethod over the lease term

Internal Use Software

The Conpanycapitaligs costs incurred in the devel opnent or acquisition of internal use softsre. The
Conpanyepenses costs incurred in the preliminaryproject planning stage. Costs, such as maintenance and
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training, are al so epensed as incurred. Capitalied costs are anortied over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line nethod. Anortiation epense, Wichis included in depreciation epense, for internal -use softsre
#s $7.0million, $6.5nm1lion and $6.7 m11ionin 2011, 2010 and 2009, respecti vel y

Franchise Rights and Goodwill

Uhder the provisions of generallyaccepted accounting principles (GAAP), all business conbinations are
accounted for using the acquisition nethod and goodil 1 and intangible assets Wwhindefinite useful lives are not
anortied but instead are tested for inpairnent annuallyor nore frequentlyif facts and circunstances indicate
such assets maybe inpaired. The onl yintangible assets the Conpanyclassifies as indefinite lived are franchise
rights and goodil 1. The Conpanyperforns its annual inpairnent test as of the first dayof the fourth quarter of
each yar.

For the annual inpairnent analyis of franchise rights, the Conpanyutiliegs the Geenfield Mthod to
estimate the fair value. The Geenfield Mthod assunes the Conpanyis starting newoming onl yfranchise
rights, and makes investnents required to buildan operation conparable tothe Conpany current operations. The
Conpanyestinates the cash flowrequired to build a conparable operation and the available future cash flow
fromthese operations. The cash floware then di scounted using an appropriate discount rate. The estimated fair
val ue based upon t he di scount ed cash flowis then conpared to the carryng val ue on an aggregated basis.

The Conpanyhas determined that it has one reporting unit for purposes of assessing goodidl for potential
inpairnent. For the annual inpairnent anal yis of goodil 1, the Conpanylevel ops anestimated fair value for the
reportingunit considering three different approaches:

e market val ue, using the Conpany st ock price plus outstandi ng debt ;
e discounted cash fl ownal yis; and
emultiple of earnings before interest, tags, depreciation and anortiation based uponrelevant industrydata.

The estimated fair value of the reporting unit is then conpared toits carryng anount including goodis 1. If
the estimated fair val ue exeeds the carryng anount, goodwl 1 is considered not inpaired, and the second step of
the inpairnent test is not necessarylf the carryng anount including goodii 1 exeeds its estimated fair value, the
second step of the inpairnent test is perfornedto neasure the anount of the i npairnent,if any

The Conpanyuses its overall market capitaliation as part of its estimate of fair value of the reporting unit
andinassessingthe reasonabl eness of the Conpany internal estinates of fair val ue.

To the ekent that actual and projected cash flowdecline in the future, or if nmarket conditions deteriorate
significantlythe Conpanynaybe required to performan interiminpairnent analyis that could result in an
inpairnent of franchise rights and goodil 1.

Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

Qher identifiable intangible assets primaril yrepresent custoner relationships and distribution rights and e
anortied ona straight-line basis over their estinated useful 1ives.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Conpanyhas a noncontributorypension plan covering certain nonunion enploges and one
noncontributorypension plan covering certain union enploges. Costs of the plans are charged to current
operations and consist of several conponents of net periodic pension cost based on various actuarial assunptions
regarding future eperience of the plans. In addition, certain other union enpl oges are covered bypl ans provi ded
bytheir respective union organiations and the Conpanyepenses anounts as paid in accordance wh union
agreenent s. The Conpanyrecognigs the cost of postretirenent benefits, kich consist principallyof nedical
benefits, during enpl oges’periods of active service.
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Amount s recorded for benefit plans reflect estimates related to interest rates, investnent returns, enpl oge
turnover and health care costs. The discount rate assunptions used to determne the pension and postretirenent
benefit obligations are based on yeldrates available on doubl e-A bonds as of each pl an neasurenent date.

(On February22, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Conpanyapproved an anendnent to the pension plan
covering substantiallyall nonunion enpl oges tocease further accrual s under the planeffective June 30, 2006.

Income Taxes

Incone tazs are accounted for under the asset and liabilitynethod. Deferred taxassets and liabilities are
recognied for the future taxconsequences attributable to operating loss and taxcredit carrforsrds as sll as
differences bet®en the financial statenent carryng anounts of eksting assets and liabilities and their respective
taxbases. The effect on deferred taxassets and liabilities of a change intaxates is recognied inincone in the
period that includes the enact nent date.

A valuation allomnce W1 be provided against deferred taxassets, if the Conpanydetermnes it is nore
likel st han not such assets i1 not ultimatel e realied.

The Conpanydoes not recognie a taxbenefit unless it concludes that it is nore likel ythan not that the
benefit W1 be sustained on audit byt he takng aut horitybased sol el yon the technical nerits of the associated tax
position. If the recognition thresholdis net, the Conpany ecognigs a tasxbenefit neasured at the largest anount
of the taxbenefit that,in the Conpany judgnent, is greater than 50 percent 1ikel yto be realied. The Conpany
records interest and penalties related tounrecognied ta¥positions inincone taegense.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognied kien finished products are delivered to custoners and both title and the risks and
benefits of omership are transferred, price is fizd and determinable, collection is reasonabl yassured and, in the
case of full service vending, ien cashis collected fromthe vendi ng nachines. Appropriate provisionis nade for
uncol lectible accounts.

The Conpanyrecei ves service fees fromThe Coca-Cola Conpanyrelated to the deliveryof fountain syup
products to The Coca-Col a Conpany fountain custoners. I'n addition, the Conpanyreceives service fees from
The Coca-Col a Conpany el ated to the repair of fountain equi pnent omed bylhe Coca-Col a ConpanyThe fees
received fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyfor the deliveryof fountain syup products to their custoners and the
repair of their fountain equi pnent are recognied as revenue hen the respective services are conpl eted. Service
revenue onl yepresents approknatel yl% of net sales.

Revenues do not include sales or other tags collected fromcustoners.

Marketing Programs and Sales Incentives

The Conpanyparticipates in various narketing and sales prograns ith The Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her
beverage conpanies and arrangenents it h custoners toincrease the sale of its products byits custoners. Anong
the prograns negotiated wh custoners are arrangenents under kich allowmnces can be earned for attaining
agreed-upon sal es level s and/or for participatinginspecific marketing prograns.

Coupon prograns are also developed on a territoryspecific basis. The cost of these various marketing
prograns and sales incentives Wwh The Coca-Cola Conpanyand other beverage conpanies, included as
deductions to net sales, totaled $53.0 million, $51.8 million and $53.0 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively
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Marketing Funding Support

The Conpanyecei ves narketing funding support pagents in cash fromThe Coca-Col a Conpanyand ot her
beverage conpanies. Pagents to the Conpanyfor narketing prograns to pronote the sale of bottle/can vol une
and fount ai n syup vol une are recognied in earnings prinmarilyn a per unit basis over the gar as product is sold.
Pagent s for periodic prograns are recogniedinthe periods for hich theyre earned.

Uhder GAAP, cash consideration received bya custoner froma vendor is presuned to be a reduction of the
prices of the vendor$ products or services andis, therefore, to be accounted for as a reduction of cost of sales in
the statenents of operations unless those pagents are specific reinbursenents of costs or paments for services.
Payents the Conpanyreceives fromThe Coca-Cola Conpanyand other beverage conpanies for nmarketing
fundi ng support are classified as reductions of cost of sales.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Conpany ecords all derivative instruments inthe financial statenents at fair value.

The Conpanyuses derivative financial instrunents to manage its eposure to novenents in interest rates,
fuel prices and al umi numprices. The use of these financial instrunents nodifies the Conpany eposure tothese
risks wth the intent of reducing risk over tine. The Conpanydoes not use financial instrunents for trading
purposes, nor does it use leveraged financial instrunents. Credit riskrelated tothe derivative financial instrune
is managed byequiring highcredit standards for its counterparties and periodic settlenents.

Interest Rate Hedges

The Conpanyperiodicallyenters into derivative financial instrunents. The Conpanyhas standardied
procedures for evaluating the accounting for financial instrunents. These procedures include:

e Identifyng and mat chi ng of the hedging instrunent and the hedged itemto ensure that significant features
coincide such as mturitylates andinterest reset dates;

e Identifyng the nature of the risk being hedged and t he Conpany i ntent for undertaking t he hedge;

* Assessing the hedging instrunent$ effectiveness inoffsettingthe eposure tochanges inthe hedgediten
fair value or variabilityocashflowattributable tothe hedgedrisk;

* Assessing evidence that, at the hedged inception and on an ongoing basis, it is epected that the hedging
relationship i1 be highl yeffective in achieving an offsetting change in the fair value or cash fl owthat
are attributable to the hedged risk; and

e Mintaining a process toreviewll hedges on an ongoi ng basis to ensure continued qualification for hedge
account i ng.

To the ekent the interest rate agreenents neet the specified criteria, theyare accounted for as either fair
value or cash flowhedges. Changes in the fair values of designated and qualifyng fair value hedges are
recognied in earnings as offsets to changes in the fair value of the related hedged liabilities. Changes in the fai
value of cash flovhedging instrunents are recognied in accumilated other conprehensive incone and are
subsequentlyreclassified to earnings as an adjustnent to interest epense in the sane periods the forecasted
pawents affect earnings. Ineffectiveness of a cash flovedge, defined as the anount byki ch the change in the
val ue of the hedge does not eactlyoffset the change inthe value of the hedgeditemis reflectedincurrent results
of operations.

The Conpanyevaluates its mixof fiagd and floating rate debt on an ongoing basis. Periodically the
Conpanymaytermnate an interest rate derivative hen the underlyng debt remains outstanding in order to
achieve its desired fizd/floating rate mi xUpon termnation of aninterest rate derivative accounted for as a cash
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flowedge, anmbunt s reflected in accumul ated ot her conprehensi ve incone are reclassified to earnings consistent
wh the variabilityof the cash fl owpreviousl yhedged, hich is generallyover the life of the related debt that

w5 hedged. (pon ternmination of an interest rate derivative accounted for as a fair value hedge, the value of the
hedge as recorded on the Conpany bal ance sheet is elimnated against either the cash received or cash paid for
settlenent and the fair value adjustnent of the related debt is anortied to earnings over the remaining life of the
debt instrunent as an adjustnent tointerest epense.

Interest rate derivatives designated as cash flowedges are used to hedge the variabilityf cash flowrelated
toa specific conponent of the Conpany I ong-termdebt. Interest rate derivatives designated as fair value hedges
are used to hedge the fair value of a specific conponent of the Conpany long-termdebt. If the hedged
conponent of 1ong-termdebt is repaid or refinanced, the Conpanygeneral 1 ytermnates the related hedge due to
the fact the forecasted schedul e of pagents i1 not occur or the changes in fair value of the hedged debt 1 not
occur and the derivative il nolonger qualifyas a hedge. Anygain or loss on the termination of aninterest rate
derivative related to the repagent or refinancing of long-termdebt is recognied currentlyin the Conpany
statenent of operations as an adjustnent tointerest epense. Inthe event a derivative previouslyaccounted for as a
hedge ®s retained and did not qualifyor hedge accounting, changes in the fair value suld be recognied in the
statenent of operations currentlys anadjustnent tointerest epense.

Fuel Hedges

The Conpanymayuse derivative instrunents to hedge sone or all of the Conpany projected diesel fuel
and unl eaded gasoline purchases. These derivative instrunents relate to fuel used in the Conpany deli veryfleet
and other vehicles. The Conpanypay a fee for these instrunents hich is anortied over the corresponding
period of the instrunent. The Conpanyccounts for its fuel hedges on a nark-t o-narket basis Wth anyepense or
incone reflected as an adjust nent of fuel costs hichareincludedin S,D&A epenses.

Aluminum Hedges

The Conpanymayuse derivative instrunents to hedge sone or all of the Conpany projected al um num
purchases. The Conpanypay a fee for these instrunents hichis anortied over the corresponding period of the
instrunents. The Conpanyaccounts for its alum numhedges on a mark-to-market basis Wwth anyepense or
incone beingreflected as an adjustnent to cost of sales.

Risk Management Programs

The Conpanyuses various insurance structures to manage its wrkers’conpensation, auto liabilitynedical
and ot her insurable risks. These structures consist of retentions, deductibles,linits and a di verse group of insure
that serve to strategicallytransfer and mtigate the financial inpact of losses. The Conpanyuses commercial
insurance for clains as a risk reduction strategyto nmininme catastrophic losses. Losses are accrued using
assunptions and procedures followd in the insurance industry adjusted for conpanyspecific historyand
epectations.

Cost of Sales

The foll oing epenses are included in cost of sales: rawmterial costs, nanufacturing labor, nanufacturing
overhead including depreciation epense, manufacturing srehousing costs and shipping and handling costs
related tothe novenent of finished goods fromnanufacturinglocations tosales distributioncenters.

Selling, Delivery and Administrative Expenses

The folloing epenses are included in S,D&A epenses: sales managenent labor costs, distribution costs
fromsales distribution centers to custoner locations, sales distribution center ®rehouse costs, depreciatio
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epense related to sales centers, deliveryvehicles and cold drink equi pnent, point-of-sale epenses, advertising
epenses, cold drink equi pnent repair costs, anortiation of intangibles and administrative support labor and
operating costs such as treasurylegal ,infornmation services, accounting, internal control services, hunanresources
and egcutive managenent costs.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shi ppi ng and handling costs rel ated to the novenent of finished goods frommanufacturing locations tosales
distribution centers are included in cost of sales. Shipping and handling costs related to the novenent of finished
goods fromsales distribution centers to custoner locations are included in S,D&A epenses and sre $191.9
mllion, $187.2nillion and $188.9 m1lionin 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel y

The Conpany ecorded deli veryees innet sales of $7.1 m1lion, $7.5 m1lion and $7.8 nmillionin 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectivel yThese fees are used to of fset a portion of the Conpany deli ver yand handl i ng costs.

Stock Compensation with Contingent Vesting

Oh April 29, 2008, the st ockhol ders of the Conpanypproved a Perfornance thit Asrd Agreenent for J. Frank
Harrison, I11, the Conpany Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer, consisting of 400,000
perfornance units (thits). Each Lhit represents the right to receive one share of the Conpany Class B Common
Stock, subject to certain terns and conditions. The lhits vest in annual increnents over a ten-yar period starting in
fiscal gar 2009. The nunber of Thits that vest eachgar il equal the product of 40,000 mul tiplied byhe overall goal
achievenent factor (not toegeed 100%) under t he Conpany Annual Bonus Pl an.

Each annual 40,000 unit tranche has anindependent perfornance requirenent, as it is not establisheduntil the
Conpany Annual Bonus Plan targets are approved each gar byt he Conpensation Conmittee of the Board of
Directors. As aresult, each 40,000 unit tranche is considered to have its owservice inception date, grant-date and
requisite service period. The Conpany Annual Bonus Plan targets, hich establish the perfornance
requirenents for the Perfornance lhit Asrd Agreenent, are approved byt he Conpensation Committee in the
first quarter of each gar. The Perfornance Lhit Asrd Agreenent does not entitle M. Harrison, IIT to participate
in dividends or voting rights until each installnent has vested and the shares are issued. If requested by
M. Harrison, I1I, a portion of the Lhits W1 be settled in cash to neet the nmaknumst at ut or yt axiwt hhol di ng
requirenent s. The Conpanyrecogni gs conpensation epense over the requisite service period (one fiscal gar)
based on the Conpany stock price at the end of each accounting period, unless the achievenent of the
performance requirenent for the fiscal gar is consideredunlikely

See Note 16 to the consolidated financial statenents for additional information on M. Harrison, IT118 stock
conpensation program

Net Income Per Share

The Conpanyapplies the twrclass nethod for calculating and presenting net incone per share. The
torclass nethod is an earnings allocation formila that determines earnings per share for each class of common
stock according to dividends declared (or accumil ated) and participation rights in undistributed earnings. Uhder
this net hod:

(a) Incone fromcontinuing operations (fiet incone)is reduced byt he anount of dividends declared
inthe current period for eachclass of stock and byt he contractual anount of di vi dends that nust be
paidfor the current period.

(b) The remnining earnings (Undistributed earnings) are allocated to Common Stock and Class B
Common St ock to the ekent that each securitymyhare inearnings asif all of the earnings for the
period had been distributed. The total earnings allocated to each securityis determned byaddi ng
together the anount allocated for di vidends and the anount allocated for a participationfeature.
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(c) The total earnings allocated toeachsecurityis then divided byt he nunber of outstanding shares of
the securitytohichthe earnings are allocated to deternine the earnings per share for the security

(d) Basic anddilutedearnings per share (EPSydata are presented for each class of common st ock.

In appl yng the twrclass nethod, the Conpanydetermnined that undistributed earnings should be allocated
equallyon a per share basis betwen the Common Stock and Class B Common Stock due to the aggregate
participation rights of the Class B Common Stock (i.e., the voting and conversion rights) and the Conpany
hi st or yof payng di vidends equall yon a per share basis onthe Common St ock and Cl ass B Common St ock.
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3. Inventories

Inventories sre summaried as foll ow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands 2012 2011
Finished products . ... ... $33,394 $36,484
Mnufacturing materials .. ... .. 14,061 10,619
Plastic shells, plastic pallets and other inventories.......................... 18,703 17,767
Tot al INVENEOTT €S« v ot ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e $66,158 $64,870

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

The principal categories and estinated useful 1ives of propertyplant and equi pnent @re as fol l ow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2, Estimated
M 2012 2011 Useful Lives
Land ... $ 12,537 $ 12,965
Bui ldings. . ... 118,603 119,471 10-50 yars
Mchineryand equi pnent . ........ ... 138,268 136,821 5-20 gars
Transportation eqUIPNBNL. . . ... v ittt 153,252 147,960  4-17 gars
Furniture and fiKUres .. ... e 41,170 37,120  4-10wgars
Colddrinkdispensing equi pment. .. ........c.oouueuneenenneenon.. 312,221 312,176 5-15wgars
Leaseholdandlandinprovenents. .............covntvrvneninnnn .. 74,500 69,996  5-20 gars
Softsre for internal USE. ...... ...t 70,648 70,891 3-10 yars
ConStruCtiON iN PrOZIeSS . ¢ vttt ettt et e 3,796 8,733
Tot al propertyplant and equipnent,at cost........................ 924,995 916,133
Less: Accumul ated depreciation and anortiation.................. 612,206 593,990
Propertyplant andequipnent, net. . ............oirniinennernenn... $312,789 $322,143

Depreciation and anortiation epense s $61.7 m11ion, $58.7 mi1lion and $60.5 m11ionin 2011, 2010 and
2009, respecti vel yThese anount s i ncl uded anortiation epense for leased propertyunder capital leases.

During 2011, the Conpanyperforned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent and determ ned there ms
no inpairnent to be recorded.

During 2010, t he Conpanyperforned a reviewf propertyplant and equi pnent. As a result of this review
$9million s recorded to inpairnent epense for five Conpansomed sales distribution centers hel d-for-sale.
The Conpanyal so recorded accel erated depreciation of $.5million for certain other propertyplant and equi pnent
hich s replaced in the first quarter of 2011. During 2010, the Conpanyalso determ ned the srehouse
operations in Sunter, South Carolina wuld be relocated to other facilities and recorded inpairnent and
accelerated depreciation of $2.2 million for the value of equipnent and real estate related to the Sunter, South
Carolina property

The Conpanychanged the estinate of the useful lives of certain cold drink dispensing equi pnent from
thirteentofifteenyars inthe first quarter of 2009 to better reflect actual useful 1ives. The change in the estin
of the useful 1ives reduced depreciationepense byp4.4 nillionin 2009.
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5. Leased Property Under Capital Leases

Leased propertynder capital leases & summaried as fol ]l ow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2, Estimated
In thousands 2012 2011 Useful Lives
Leased propertynder capital leases ..............o i, $95,509 $76,877 3-20 gars
Less: Accumulated anortidtion. ... 35,705 30,021
Leased propertyunder capital leases,net................oouvuneeon... $59,804 $46,856

As of Januaryl, 2012, real estate represented $59.6 nillion of the 1eased propertyunder capital leases and
$40.9 nillion of this real estate is leased fromrelated parties as describedin Note 18 to the consolidated financi
statenents.

Inthe first quarter of 2011, the Conpanyenteredintoleases for twsales distributioncenters. Eachlease has
a termof fifteen gars Wth various nonthl yrental pagents. The twleases added $18.6 nmillion, at inception, to
the leased propert yunder capital leases balance.

The Conpanynodified a related partyl ease and terninated a second lease inthe first quarter of 2009. See
Note 18 tothe consolidated financial statenents for additional infornationonthe lease nodification.

The Conpany out st andi ng 1 ease obligations for these capital leases sre $74.1 million and $59.2 nillion as
of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011.
6. Franchise Rights and Goodwill

Franchise rights and goodil | ere sunmaried as follow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands 2012 2011
Franchise ri ghts ... e e $520,672 $520,672
GoodI I 102,049 102,049
Total franchiserights and goodidl. ... ... ... ... . . i, $622,721 $622,721

The Conpanyperforned its annual inpairnent test of franchise rights and goodill as of the first dayf the
fourth quarter of 2011, 2010 and 2009 and determined there s no inpairnent of the carryng value of these
assets. There has been no i npai rnent of franchise rights or goodil1 since acquisition.

There ms no activityfor franchise rights or goodinl1 in 2011 or 2010.
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7. Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

Qher identifiable intangible assets sre summaried as follow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2, Estimated

In thousands 2012 2011 Useful Lives
Qher identifiableintangible assets...........cooouiiiiiin.... $8,557 $8,675 1-20 gars
Less: Accumulated anortidation. .. ..o 4,118 3,804
Gher identifiable intangible assets,net............oouieiunneonn... $4.439 $4.871

Qher identifiable intangible assets prinmarilyrepresent custoner relationships and distribution right
Anortiation epense related toother identifiable intangible assets ss $.4 mllion, $.5mllion and $.6 millionin
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively Assuming no inpairment of these other identifiable intangible assets,
anortiation epense in future gars based upon recorded anounts as of Januaryl, 2012 w1 be $.4 mi11ion, $.3
mllion,$3mllion,$.3mllion,and $.3 m1lionfor 2012 through 2016, respectively

8. Other Accrued Liabilities

(G her accruedliabilities sre summaried as fol 1l ow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands 2012 2011
Accrued mMarket i ng COSLS « .ttt e e e e e $16,743 $15,894
AcCrUed I NSUIANCE COSES vttt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 18,880 18,005
Accruedtags (other thaninCon® ta®S) ... ...ttt 1,636 2,023
Enploge benefit planaccrual s. .. ... ... . e 12,348 9,790
AcCCrued INCONE LAES . . oottt ettt e e e e e e e e — 4,839
Checks and transfers gt tobe presented for pagent fromero bal ance cash accounts. 8,608 8,532
All other accrued ERENSES. . . . v\ vttt ettt ettt e e e 8,707 10,388
Total other accrued liabi I Lties ... .. $66,922 $69.471
9. Debt
Debt ss sunmaried as foll osw
Interest Interest Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
M Maturity Rate Paid 2012 2011
Sentor NOteS. ..o 2012 5.00% Semni-annually $150,000 $150,000
Senior NOteS. ..o 2015 5.30% Semni-annually 100,000 100,000
Sentor NOteS. ..o 2016 5.00% Sem -annually 164,757 164,757
Senmior NOtES. .ottt e 2019 7.00% Semi-annually 110,000 110,000
Thanortied di scount on Senior Notes. . .......... (1,538) (1,694)
523,219 523,063
Less: Current portionof debt.................. 120,000 —
Long-termdebt ..............coiiiiiiiiii.... $403,219 $523,063
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The principal maturities of debt outstanding onJanuaryl, 2012 wre as fol l ow

In thousands

200 $150,000
2003 e —
20 —
20 LS e 100,000
2000 164,757
Thereaft en .. oo 108,462
Total debt. . .ot $523,219

The Conpanyhas obtained the najorityof its long-termdebt financing, other than capital leases, fromthe
public markets. As of Januaryl, 2012, the Conpany total outstanding balance of debt and capital lease
obligations as $597.3 mi11ion of kich $523.2 m11ion ss financed t hrough publicl yffered debt. The Conpany
had capital lease obligations of $74.1 million as of Januaryl, 2012. The Conpanymi tigates its financing risk by
using nultiple financial institutions and enters into credit arrangenents onlyiwth institutions Wwh investnent
grade credit ratings. The Conpanymoni tors counterpartyredit ratings on an ongoing basis.

(n Septenber 21, 2011, t he Conpanyentered into a nev$200 mi11ion fi ve-gar unsecured revol ving credit
agreenment ($200 million facilityreplacing the Conpany eksting $200 mil1lion five-gar unsecured revol vi ng
credit facilitydated Mrch 8, 2007 scheduled to mature in Mrch 2012. The new$200 nillion facilityhas a
schedul ed maturitydate of Septenber 21, 2016 and up to $25 million is available for the issuance of letters of
credit. Borroings under the agreenent W1 bear interest at a floating base rate or a floating Eurodollar rate plus
aninterest rate spread, dependent on t he Conpany credit rating at the tine of borroing. The Conpanymst pay
an annual facilityfee of .175% of the lenders’aggregate conm tnents under the facilityThe $200 m1lion facility
contains twfinancial covenants: a cash flo#fi&d charges ratio (fi&d charges coverage ratio) and a funded
indebtedness/cash flowatio (8perating cash flowatio), each as defined in the credit agreenent. The fiad
charges coverage ratiorequires the Conpanyto miintain a consolidated cash flowo fi&d charges ratioof 1.5to
1.0 or hi gher. The operating cash flowatiorequires the Conpanyto maintain a debt to operating cash flowatio
of 6.0 to 1.0 or lowr. The Conpanyis currentlyin conpliance ith these covenants. These covenants do not
currentlyand the Conpanydoes not anticipate theywl, restrict its liquidityor capital resources. Ch Januaryl,
2012 and Januar y2, 2011, t he Conpanshad no out st andi ng borr oisngs on ei ther $200 million facility

The Conpanyhas $150 million of Senior Notes hi ch mature in Novenber 2012. The Conpanyepects to
use a conbination of available cash on hand, borroings on the uncomm tted line of credit and borroings under
the $200 million facilityto repaythe notes hen due. The Conpanyhas classified $30 million of these Senior
Notes due Novenber 2012 as 1ong-termrepresenting the portion the Conpanyepects to be paid using the $200
mllionfacility

In April 2009, the Conpanyi ssued $110 ni1lion of unsecured 7% Seni or Notes due 2019. The proceeds pl us
cashonhand ere used torepayhe $119.3 ni1lion debt naturityon Myl, 2009.

(n Februaryl0, 2010, t he Conpanyentered into an agreenent for an uncommitted line of credit. Under this
agreenent, the Conpanynayborrowyp to a total of $20 million for periods of 7 day, 30 day, 60 day or 90
day at the discretion of the participating bank. Oh Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, the Conpanyhad no
out st andi ng borr oings under the uncomnmitted line of credit.

The Conpanycurrentlyprovides financing for Piednont under an agreenent that epires on Decenber 31,
2015. Pi ednont pay the Conpanyinterest onits borroings at the Conpany average cost of funds plus 0.50%.
The 1 oan bal ance at Januaryl, 2012 s $17.8 nillion. The loan and interest sre elininatedin consolidation.
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As of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, the Conpanyhad a @i ghted average interest rate of 5.9% and
5.8%, respectivel yfor its outstanding debt and capital lease obligations. The Conpany overall wi ghted average
interest rate on its debt and capital lease obligations & 6.0%, 5.9% and 5.8% for 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectivel yAs of Januaryl, 2012, none of the Conpany debt and capital lease obligations of $597.3 million
wre subject tochanges inshort-terminterest rates.

The Conpany public debt is not subject to financial covenants but does limt the incurrence of certainliens
and encunbrances as wll as the incurrence of indebtedness bythe Conpany subsidiaries in exess of certain
anounts.

All of the outstanding long-termdebt has been i ssued byt he Conpanyit h none being i ssued byanyof t he
Conpany subsidiaries. There are no guarantees of the Conpany debt .

10. Derivative Financial Instruments
Interest

The Conpanyperiodicallyuses interest rate hedging products to nodi fyrisk frominterest rate fluctuations.
The Conpanyhas historicallylteredits fiad/floating rate mased upon anticipated cash flowfromoperations
relative tothe Conpany debt 1evel and the potential inpact of changes ininterest rates onthe Conpany overall
financial condition. Sensitivityanalyes are perforned to reviewhe inpact on the Conpany financial position
and coverage of various interest rate novenents. The Conpanydoes not use derivative financial instrunents for
trading purposes nor does it use leveraged financial instrunents.

(nh Septenber 18, 2008, the Conpanytermnated sixoutstanding interest rate sap agreenents wth a
notional anount of $225 nillion receiving $6.2 nillion in cash proceeds including $1.1 nillion for previously
accrued interest receivable. After accounting for previouslyaccrued interest receivable, the Conpanybegan
anortizng a gain of $5.1 nmillion over the remnining termof the underlyng debt. The remaini ng anount to be
anortiedis $1.5nm1lion. All of the Conpany interest rate sap agreenents sre LI BOR-based.

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, t he Conpanyanortied deferred gains related to previousl ytermnatedinterest
rate ssp agreenents and forswrd interest rate agreenents, hi ch reduced interest epense by$1.2 m1lion, $1.2
mllionand $2.1 million, respectivel yInterest epense Wl be reduced bythe anortiation of these deferred gains
in 2012 t hrough 2015 as follow $1.1 million, $0.5nillion, $0.6 nillion and $0.1 mi1lion, respectively

The Conpanshad nointerest rate ssp agreenents out st andi ng at Januaryl, 2012 and Januar y2, 2011.

Commodities

The Conpanyi s subject tothe risk of loss arising fromadverse changes in comodi typrices. In the nornal
course of business, the Conpanymanages these risks through a varietyof strategies, including the use of
derivative instrunents. The Conpanydoes not use derivative instrunents for trading or speculative purposes. All
derivative instrunents are recorded at fair value as either assets or liabilities in the Conpany consolidatec
bal ance sheets. These derivative instrunents are not designated as hedging i nstrunents under GAAP and are used
as &cononi ¢ hedgest o nmanage certain commodityrisk. At Januaryl, 2012, the Conpanyhad no derivative
instrunents to hedge its projected diesel fuel, unl eaded gasoline and al umi numpurchase requirenents. Derivative
instrunents held are marked t o nmarket on a nont hl ybasis and recogni gd i n earnings consistent wth the epense
classification of the underlyng hedgeditem Settlenents of derivative agreenents are includedin cash flowfrom
operatingactivities onthe Conpany consolidated statenents of cash flow

The Conpanyuses several different financial institutions for commodityderivative instrunents, tomninie
the concentration of credit risk. Wiile the Conpanyis eposed to credit 1oss in the event of nonperfornance by
these counterparties, t he Conpanydoes not anticipate nonper fornance byt hese parties.
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The Conpanyhas master agreenents wth the counterparties to its derivative financial agreenents that
provide for net settlenent of derivative transactions.

The Conpanyused derivative instrunents to hedge essentiallyall of its diesel fuel purchases for 2009 and
2010 and used derivative instrunents to hedge all of the Conpany projected diesel fuel and unl eaded gasoline
purchases for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2011. These derivative instrunents related to diesel fuel and
unl eaded gasoline used byt he Conpany deliveryfleet and other vehicles. During the first quarter of 2009, t he
Conpanybegan using derivative instrunents to hedge approknatel y75% of the Conpany projected 2010
al um num purchase requirenents. During the second quarter of 2009, the Conpanyentered into derivative
agreenent s t o hedge approkmt el /5% of t he Conpany projected 2011 al umi numpur chase requirenents.

There ®re no out st andi ng derivative agreenents as of Januaryl, 2012.

The folloimng summaries 2011, 2010 and 2009 net gains and losses on the Conpany fuel and al uni num
derivative financial instrunents and the classification, either as cost of sales or S,D&A epenses, of such net gai ns
and losses inthe consolidated statenents of operations:

Fiscal Year

In thousands Classification of Gain (Loss) 2011 2010 2009
Fuel hedges -contract prem umand contract

settlement. ... ... ... . .. S,D&A epenses $ (460) $ (267) $(1,189)
Fuel hedges -mark-to-market adjustnent. ........... S.D&A epenses (171) (1,445) 3,601
Al umi numhedges -€ontract prem umand contract

settlenent. .. ..o Cost of sales 4,400 1,158 385
Al umi numhedges -nark-t o-narket adjustnent....... Cost of sales (6,666) (3,786) 10,452
Total Net in(LoSS). . oo v e $(2,897) $(4,340) $13,249

The folloing sunmaries the fair values and classification in the consolidated bal ance sheets of derivative
instrunents hel d byt he Conpanys of Januaryl, 2012 and Januar y2, 2011:

Balance Sheet Jan. 1, Jan. 2,

In thousands Classification 2012 2011
Assets
Fuel hedges at fair market value......... Prepaidepenses and other current assets $ — $ 171
Al umi numhedges at fair market value. . ... Prepaid epenses and ot her current assets — 6,666
lhanortied cost of al um numhedgi ng

AGIEENBNLS. . v vt vttt e e Prepaid epenses and ot her current assets — 2453
Total. ..o $ —  $9,290

11. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The folloing nethods and assunptions ®re used bythe Conpanyin estimating the fair values of its
financial instrunents:

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts pagble
approkmat e carryng val ues due to the short maturityof theseitens.

Public Debt Securities

The fair values of the Conpany public debt securities are based onestinated current narket prices.
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Non-Public Variable Rate Debt

The carryng anount s of the Conpany variable rate borroings approkmate their fair values.

Deferred Compensation Plan Assets/Liabilities

The fair values of deferred conpensation plan assets andliabilities, lsichare heldinmtual funds, are based
upon t he quot ed narket value of the securities held it hinthe mitual funds.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair values for the Conpany fuel hedging and al um numhedging agreenents are based on current
settlenent values. The fair values of the fuel hedgi ng and al umi numhedgi ng agreenent s at each bal ance sheet date
represent the estimated anounts t he Conpanywul d have recei ved or paid upon ternination of these agreenents.

Credit risk related to the derivative financial instrunents is managed byrequiring high standards for its
counterparties and periodic settlenments. The Conpanyonsiders nonperfornance riskindetermningthe fair value
of derivative financial instrunents.

The carryng anounts and fair values of the Conpany debt, deferred conpensation plan assets and
liabilities and derivative financial instrunents sre as foll ow

Jan. 1, 2012 Jan. 2, 2011
Carrying Carrying

In thousands Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Public debt securities..............ooouuuuiunnnenn... $(523,219) $(576,127) $(523,063) $(564,671)
Deferred conpensationplanassets.................... 10,709 10,709 9,780 9,780
Deferred conpensationplanliabilities............... (10,709) (10,709) (9,780) (9,780)
Fuel hedgingagreenentsS.............covvuiuvninenn... — — 171 171
Alumi numhedging agreenents. . ........................ — — 6,666 6,666

The fair value of the fuel hedging and al umi numhedging agreenents at January2, 2011 represented the
estimated anount the Conpanywul d have recei ved upon termnation of these agreenents. There wre no fuel
hedgi ng or al umi numhedgi ng agreenent s out st andi ng at Januaryl, 2012.

In Decenber 2009, the Conpanyterm nated certain 2010 al umi numhedging agreenents resulting in a net
gain of $0.4 mi1lion. The agreenents ®sre termnated to balance the risk of future prices and projected al uni num
requirenents of the Conpany

GAAP requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of tl
folloing categories:

Level 1: Quoted narket prices inactive markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: (bservabl e market based inputs or unobservabl e i nputs that are corroborated bymarket data.

Level 3: Thobservable inputs that are not corroborated bymarket data.
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The folloing table summaries, byassets and liabilities, the valuation of the Conpany deferred
conpensation plan, fuel hedgi ng agreenents and al unmi numhedgi ng agreenents:

Jan. 1, 2012 Jan. 2, 2011
M Level 1 Level2 Levell Level2
Assets
Deferred conpensationplanassets . ...........c.ouiuiininenan.... $10,709 $9,780
Fuel hedgingagreenents .. ..... ..o, $ — $ 171
Al um numhedgi ng agreenm®ents. .. .....o.vuuninninnene.. — 6,666
Liabilities
Deferred conpensationplanliabilities......................... 10,709 9,780

The Conpanymaintains a non-qualified deferred conpensation plan for certain escutives and ot her highly
conpensated enpl oges. The investnent assets are held in nutual funds. The fair value of the mitual funds is
based on the quoted market value of the securities held wthin the funds (Level 1). The related deferred
conpensationliabilityepresents the fair value of the invest nent assets.

The Conpany fuel hedging agreenents wre based on NYMEX rates that are observable and quoted
periodicallyver the full termof the agreenent and are considered Level 2itens.

The Conpany al umi numhedging agreenents wre based upon LME rates that are observable and quoted
periodicallyver the full termof the agreenents and are considered Level 2itens.

The Conpanydoes not have Level 3 assets or liabilities. Also, there sre no transfers of assets or liabilities
betwen Level 1 and Level 2 for 2011, 2010 or 2009.

78



COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Other Liabilities

Qher liabilities sre summaried as foll ow

Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands 2012 2011
Accrual s for egcutive benefit plans .............. .. i $ 96,242 $ 90,906
L6 0115 PP 18,060 18,976
Total other I1abi lities. ..o e e $114,302 $109,882

The accruals for escutive benefit plans relate to four benefit prograns for eligible excutives of the
Conpany These benefit prograns are the Supplenental Savings Incentive Plan (Supplenental Savings Plan),
the Officer Retention Plan (Retention Plan), a replacenent benefit plan and a Long-TermPerformance Plan
(Per fornance Pl an).

Pursuant to the Supplenental Savings Plan, as anended, eligible participants mayelect to defer a portion of
their annual salaryand bonus. Participants are immediatel yvested in all deferred contributions theymake and
becone fullyvested in Conpanycontributions upon conpletion of five yars of service, termination of
enpl ogent due to death, retirenent or a change incontrol. Participant deferrals and Conpanyontributions nade
ingars prior to 2006 are deened investedineither a fiad benefit optionor certaininvestnent funds specified by
the ConpanyIn 2009, t he Conpanynat ched 50% of the first 6% of sal ary(e&l udi ng bonuses) deferred byt he
participant. The Conpanyal so nade additional contributions during 2009 of 20% of a participant$ annual salary
(exl udi ng bonuses). Begi nning in 2010, the Conpanynayelect at its discretion to match up to 50% of the first
6% of sal ary(egl udi ng bonuses) deferred byt he participant. During 2011 and 2010, t he Conpanynat ched up to
50% of the first 6% of salary(ezluding bonus) deferred bythe participant. The Conpanynayalso nake
discretionarycontributions to participants’accounts. The long-termliabilityunder this planss $58.1 nillion and
$55.6 million as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel yThe current liabilityunder this plan =s
$4.8 millionand $4.6 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respecti vel y

Uhder the Retention Plan, as anended effective Januaryl, 2007, eligible participants nayelect toreceive an
annui t ypagble in equal nonthlyinstallnents over a 10, 15 or 20-gar period commencing at retirenent or, in
certain instances, upon ternination of enpl oyent. The benefits under the Retention Planincrease wth each yar
of participation as set forth in an agreenent bet®en the participant and the Conpany Benefits under the
Retention Plan are 50% vested until age 50. After age 50, the vesting percentage increases byan additional 5%
each yar until the benefits are full wested at age 60. The 1 ong-termliabilityunder this planss $33.2ni11ion and
$30.6 million as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel yThe current liabilityunder this plan =s
$22nillionand $2.0 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 and Januar 2, 2011.

In conjunction wth the elimnation in 2003 of a split-dollar life insurance benefit for officers of the
Conpany a replacenent benefit plan ®ms established. The replacenent benefit plan provides a supplenental
benefit to eligible participants that increases Wwh each additional gar of service and is conparable to benefit:
providedtoeligible participants previouslythroughcertainsplit-dollar life insurance agreenents. Upon separati
fromthe Conpanyparticipants receive an annuitypagble inup to ten annual installnents or a lunp sum The
long-termliabilityss $.8 million under this plan as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011. The current liability
under this planss $.1 nm1lion as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011.

Uhder the Perfornance Plan, adopted as of Januaryl, 2007, the Conpensation Comnm ttee of the Conpany
Board of Directors establishes dollar anobunts to hich a participant shall be entitled upon attainnent of the
applicable perfornance neasures. Bonus amrds under the Performance Plan are nade based on the relative
achievenent of perfornance neasures interns of the Conpanysponsored objectives or objectives related to the
performance of the individual participants or of the subsidiarydivision, departnent, region or function in hich
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the participant is enplogd. The long-termliabilityunder this plan s $4.1 nillion and $3.9 nillion as of
Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel yThe current liabilitynder this plan ss $3.6 nillion and $3.0
mllionas of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel y

13.  Commitments and Contingencies

Rental epense incurred for noncancellable operating leases ss $5.2 nillion, $5.0 nillion and $4.5 mi11ion
during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel ySee Note 5 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statenents for
additional informationregardingleased propertynder capital leases.

The Conpanyl eases office and srehouse space, nachineryand other equi pnent under noncancellable
operating lease agreenents hich epire at various dates through 2021. These leases generall ycontain schedul ed
rent increases or escalation clauses, renesl options, or in sone cases, purchase options. The Conpanyl eases
certain swrehouse space and ot her equi pnent under capital lease agreenents hichepire at various dates through
2026. These leases contain schedul ed rent increases or escalation clauses. Anortiation of assets recorded under
capital leases is includedin depreciationepense.

The folloing is a summaryof future minimmlease pagents for all capital leases and noncancellable
operatingleases as of Januaryl, 2012.

In thousands Capital Leases Operating Leases Total
200 $ 9,581 $ 4,930 $ 14,511
2003 9,685 4,300 13,985
2004 9,852 3,492 13,344
20 LS 9,976 2,682 12,658
2000 10,126 2,563 12,689
Thereafter . ... 55,380 11,599 66,979
Total mnimumlease Pagents .........c.oveiuernnennennenn... 104,600 $29,566 $134,166
Less: Anbunts representinginterest. ............oouevuen... 30,546

Present value of minimumlease pagents. ..................... 74,054

Less: Current portion of obligations under capital. leases.... 4,574

Long-termportion of obligations under capital leases........ $ 69,480

Future m ni muml ease payents for noncancellable operating leases in the preceding table include renesl
options the Conpanshas determninedto be reasonabl yassured.

Inthe first quarter of 2011, the Conpanyentered into capital leases for twsales distribution centers. Each
lease has a termof 15 gars. The capitalied value for the twleases s $11.3 million and $7.3 mllion,
respectively

The Conpanyi s a nenber of South Atlantic Canners, Inc. (SAC), a mnufacturing cooperative fromhich
it is obligated to purchase 17.5 million cases of finished product on an annual basis through My2014. The
Conpanyis also a nenber of Southeastern Container (Southeastern), a plastic bottle manufacturing
cooperative, fromhichit is obligated to purchase at least 80% of its requirenents of plastic bottles for certai
designated territories. See Note 18 to the consolidated financial statenents for additional infornation concerni:
SAC and Sout heastern.

The Conpanyguarantees a portion of SACS and Sout heasternd debt and lease obligations. The anounts
guaranteed sre $38.3 nillion and $29.0 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respecti vel y The
Conpanyhol ds no assets as collateral against these guarantees, the fair value of hich ms immterial. The
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guarantees relate to debt and lease obligations of SAC and Southeastern, hich resulted prinarilyfromthe
purchase of production equiprment and facilities. These guarantees epire at various tines through 2021. The
nmenbers of both cooperatives consist solelyof Coca-Cola bottlers. The Conpanydoes not anticipate either of
these cooperatives Wl fail tofulfill their comm tnents. The Conpanyfurther believes each of these cooperatives
has sufficient assets, including production equipnent, facilities and wrking capital, and the abilityto adjust
selling prices of its products toadequatel ymtigate the risk of material 1oss fromthe Conpany guarantees. Inthe
event either of these cooperatives fail tofulfill their comm tnents under the related debt and 1 ease obligations, t
Conpanypul d be responsible for pagents tothe lenders up tothe level of the guarantees. If these cooperati ves

had borrowd up to their aggregate borrowng capacityt he Conpany makmumeposur e under these guarantees

on Januaryl, 2012 gul d have been $23.9 nillion for SAC and $25.3 nillion for Southeastern and t he Conpany
mkmumtotal eposure, including its equityinvestnent, suld have been $28.0 million for SAC and $43.2
mllionfor Southeastern.

The Conpanyhas been purchasing plastic bottles fromSoutheastern and finished products fromSAC for
nore than ten gars and has never had to payagainst these guarantees.

The Conpanyhas an equityomership in each of the entities in addition to the guarantees of certain
indebtedness and records its investnent in each under the equitynethod. As of Januaryl, 2012, SAC had t ot al
assets of approkmatel 46 nmillion and total debt of approkmatel y¥$23 nillion. SAC had total revenues for 2011
of approknatel Y178 million. As of Januaryl, 2012, Sout heastern had total assets of approknatel ¥$375 million
and total debt of approkmatel y$183 nillion. Southeastern had total revenue for 2011 of approkmatel y$693
mllion.

The Conpanyhas standbyletters of credit, primarilyelatedtoits propertyand casualtyi nsurance prograns.
(n Januaryl, 2012, these letters of credit totaled $20.8 mi1lion. The Conpanyss required to nuintain $4.5
mllion of restricted cash for letters of credit beginning in the second quarter of 2009 Wi ch s reduced to $3.5
nillioninthe second quarter of 2010 andto $3.0nillionin the second quarter of 2011. As of Januaryl, 2012, t he
Conpanynaint ained $3.0 nillion of restricted cash for these letters of credit. The requirenent to naintain
restricted cashfor theseletters of credit has beenelininatedinthe first quarter of 2012.

The Conpanyparticipates inlong-termnarketing contractual arrangenents th certain prestige properties,
athletic venues and other locations. The future papents related to these contractual arrangenents as of Januaryl,
2012 anounted to $22.2 nillion and epire at various dates t hrough 2020.

During My2010, Nashville, Tennessee eperienced a severe rain stormhich caused ekensive flood
danmage in the area. The Conpanyhas a production/sales distribution facilitylocated in the flooded area. Due to
damage incurred during this flood, t he Conpanyrecorded a 1 oss of approkmatel y$.2 mi11ion on uninsured cold
drink equipnent. This loss & of fset bygains of approkmatel y$1.1 million for the exess of insurance proceeds
recei ved as conpared to the net book val ue of equi pnent danmaged as a result of the flood. In 2010, t he Conpany
received $7.1 millionininsurance proceeds related toinsuredlosses fromthe flood. All receivables ®re recorded
for insuredlosses during fiscal 2010 and ®re collectedin 2010.

The Conpanyi s invol ved in various clains and legal proceedings hi ch have arisenin the ordinaryourse of
its business. Although it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcone of these clains and legal proceedings
managenent believes the ultinate disposition of these matters W1 not have a nmaterial adverse effect on the
financial condition, cash flowor results of operations of the ConpanyNo material anount of loss in egess of
recorded anpunts is believed to be reasonabl ypossible as aresult of these clains andlegal proceedings.

The Conpanyis subject to audit bytaxauthorities injurisdictions kere it conducts business. These audits
mayresult in assessnents that are subsequentlyresol ved ith the authorities or potentiallythrough the courts.
Mnagenent believes the Conpanyhas adequatel yprovided for anyassessnents that are likelyto result from
these audits; hoswer, final assessnents, if anycould be different than the anounts recorded in the consolidated
financial statenents.
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14. Income Taxes

The current incone taxprovision represents the estinmated anount of incone taxs paid or pagble for the
yar, as ®l 1 as changes inestimates fromprior yars. The deferred i ncone taxprovision represents the change in
deferred taxliabilities and assets. The folloing table presents the significant conponents of the provision for
incone tags for 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Fiscal Year

In thousands 2011 2010 2009
Current:

Federal . ... $ 9,295 $25,988 $ 8,657

R B I 2,345 567 291
Total current Provi SLOM ... ...o.ut ettt $11,640 $26,555 $ 8,948
Deferred:

Federal . ... $ 6,636 $(6,695) $ 6,349

R 1,252 1,789 1,284
Total deferred provision(benefit).......... ... ..., $ 7,888 $(4,906) $ 7,633
INCOMB L AXRENSE ottt ettt e et ettt e e ettt e e e $19,528 $21,649 $16,581

The Conpany effective incone taxrate, as calcul ated bydi viding i ncone taxepense byi ncone before
incone tags, for 2011, 2010 and 2009 as 37.9%, 35.4% and 29.0%, respectivel yThe Conpany effective tax
rate, as calcul ated bydi vi ding incone taxepense bythe difference of incone before incone tags mnus net
incone attributable to noncontrolling interest, for 2011, 2010 and 2009 as 40.6%, 37.5% and 30.3%,
respectivel yThe folloing table provides a reconciliation of incone taxepense at the statutoryfederal rate to
actual incone taxpense.

Fiscal Year

M 2011 2010 2009
StAtULOTYERENSE . o oo vttt et e ettt ettt et e $16,848 $20,197 $19,151
State incone tags, net of federal benefit........... ... ... .. .. .. .. . .. ... 2,096 2,516 2,315
Adjustnents for uncertaintaypositions. ............ouuiniiiiinn.... (221) (985) (6,266)
Valuationallomnce change . ........ . ... i 445 (56) %)
Mnufacturing deductionbenefit ....... ... .. .. . i (1,190)  (1,995) (420)
Mals andentertai NBNL . . ...ttt e e e e 1,113 1,008 871
G her, Nt . oo 437 964 935
INCOMB t AXRENSE .+ttt ettt e e et et e e et e e e e e $19,528 $21,649 $16,581

As of Januaryl, 2012, t he Conpanshad $4.7 mi 111 on of uncertain taxpositions,including accruedinterest, of
Wich $2.3 nillionwuldaffect the Conpany effective rate if recognied. As of January2, 2011, the Conpany
had $4.8 million of uncertain taxpositions, including accrued interest, of Wich $2.5 million wuld affect the
Conpany effective taxrate if recognied. Wiile it is epected that the anount of uncertain taxpositions may
change in the nex 12 nont hs, t he Conpanydoes not epect such change wuld have a significant inpact on the
consolidated financial statenents.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total ampunts of uncertain taxpositions
(exludes accruedinterest)is as follow

Fiscal Year
M 2011 2010 2009
Goss uncertaintaxositions at the beginningof thegar.................. $4,386 $ 4,649 $ 8,000
Increase as aresult of taxpositions takenduringa prior.period.......... 28 — —
Decrease as aresult of taxyositions takeninaprior.period.............. — — (214)
Increase as aresult of taxpositions takeninthe current.period.......... 641 769 2,535
Decrease relatingtosettlenents ithtaxuthorities .................... — — (594)
Reductionas aresult of alapse of the applicable statute of linmtations.. (774)  (1,032) (5,078)
Goss uncertaintaxositions at theendof thegar........................ $4,281 $4,386 $ 4,649

The Conpanyrecognigs potential interest and penalties related to uncertain taxpositions in incone tax
epense. As of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, the Conpanyhad approkmatel y$.4 million of accrued
interest related to uncertain taxpositions. Incone taxepense included an interest credit of $15,000 in 2011, an
interest credit of $.5mllionin 2010 andinterest credit of $1.6 m11ionin 2009 prinarilydue tothe reductionin the
liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Fealth Care and Education Reconciliation Act of
2010 include provisions that W1 reduce the taxbenefits available to enplogrs that receive Mdicare Part D
subsidies. As a result, during the first quarter of 2010, the Conpanyrecorded taxepense totaling $.5 million
related to changes nade to the taxeductibilityf Mdicare Part D subsidies.

Taxgars from2008 renain open t o eam nation by he Internal Revenue Service, and various taxars from
1993 remain open to eam nation bycertain state taxurisdictions to hich the Conpanyis subject due to loss
carrforards.

The Conpany incone taxassets and liabilities are subject to adjustnent in future periods based on the
Conpany ongoi ng eval uations of such assets and liabilities and newnformation that becones available to the
Conpany

In the first quarter of 2009, the Conpanyreached an agreenent #wth a taxauthorityto settle prior tax
positions for hich the Conpanyhad previousl yprovided a liabilitydue to uncertaintyf resolution. As aresult,
the Conpany educed the liabilityor uncertain taxpositions by$l.7 nillion. The net effect of the adjust nent s
a decrease inincone taxepense in 2009 of approkmatel y$1.7 mi 111 on.

Inthe third quarter of 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Conpanyeduced its liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions by
$54mllion,$1.7millionand $.9 nmillion, respectivel yThe net effect of the adjustnents ss a decrease toincone
taxepense in 2009, 2010 and 2011 by$5.4 mllion, $1.7 m1lion and $.9 m11ion, respectivel yThe reduction of
the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions during these yars & due mainlyto the 1apse of the applicable statute of
limtations.

The valuation allosnce increase in 2011 and the decreases in 2010 and 2009 sre due to the Conpany
assessnents of its abilityouse certainnet operatingloss carrjorards.
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Deferred incone tags are recorded based upon tenporarydifferences bet®sen the financial statenent and
taxbases of assets and liabilities and available net operating loss and taxcredit carrforsrds. Tenporary
differences and carrforswds that conprised deferredincone taxssets andliabilities sre as follow

M Jan. 1,2012 Jan. 2, 2011
Intangi bl e ASSet S, . oottt et e e $ 123,995 $ 122,963
Depreciation. ... ... 76,758 70,226
Investnent inPiednont. . ....... ... e 41,504 41,755
Debt exhange premUm ... ...ttt 2,099 2,634
InVent OT Y. . .ot 9,511 6,173
Deferredincone tadiabi l1taes. ...ttt e 253,867 243,751
Net operatingloss carr§orsrds. .. ... (5,527) (5,706)
Deferred compensatiQn . ... ..ottt e (38,398) (36,322)
Postretirenent benefits. . ... ... . i e (25,666) (22,950)
Capital 1ease agreenBnlsS . . ..ottt e e e e (5,567) (4,830)
Pension (MONUNTI ON). . ..ottt ettt e e e et e e et e (29,412) (22,608)
Pension (UNiON) . ...ttt e (3,550) (3,671)
QL RET (9,837) (7,732)
Deferred inConme tamSSel.S. .. vttt et e e e e (117,957) (103,819)
Valuation allosnce for deferredtasssets. ..., 1,464 499
Total deferredincone taXiability ..... ..o, 137,374 140,431
Net current deferred inCon® taxasSSel. ... ..ottt (4,886) (3,531)
Net noncurrent deferredincone tadiability........... ... .. ... .. .. .. ...... $ 142260 $ 143,962

Note: Net current deferred incone taxasset fromthe table is included in prepaid epenses and other current
assets on the consolidated bal ance sheets.

Deferred taxssets are recognigd for the tasbenefit of deductible tenporarydifferences and for federal and
state net operating loss and taxcredit carrforsrds. Valuation allosmnces are recognied on these assets if the
Conpanybelieves that it is nore likel ythan not that sone or all of the deferred taxssets W1 not be realied. The
Conpanybelieves the majorityf the deferred taxassets W1 be realied due to the reversal of certain significant
tenporaryli fferences and anticipated future taable i ncone fromoperations.

In addition to a valuation allosnce related to net operating loss carrforards, the Conpanyrecords
liabilities for uncertaintaxpositions relatedtocertainincone taxpositions. These liabilities reflect the Conpar
best estimate of the ultinate incone taxXiabilityased oncurrentlsknowfacts andinfornmation. Mterial changes
infacts or information as w1 as the epiration of statute and/or settlenents wth individual taxurisdictions my
result inmaterial adjustnents tothese estimates inthe future.

The valuation allosnce of $1.5 million as of Januaryl, 2012 and $.5 million as of January2, 2011,
respectively s established primarilyfor certain net operating loss carrforswds kich epire in varyng
anount s t hr ough 2030.
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15.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumul ated other conprehensive loss is conprised of adjustnents relative to the Conpany pension and
postretirenent nedical benefit plans, foreign currencytranslation adjustnents required for a subsidiaryof the
Conpanythat perforns data analyis and provides consulting services outside the UThited States and the
Conpany share of Southeastern$ ot her conprehensive 1 oss.

A sunmar yof accumul ated ot her conprehensive loss is as follow

Jan. 2, Pre-tax Tax Jan. 1,

M 2011 Activity Effect 2012
Net pensionactivity

Actuarial 10SS. . ... $(51,822) $(21,385) $ 8,418 $(64,789)

Prior service CoStS. ... ..ot (43) 2) 1 44)
Net postretirenent benefits activity

Actuarial 10SS. ... o (17,875)  (5,555) 2,186 (21,244)

Prior SErvicCe COStS. o v vttt 6,292 (1,717) 676 5,251

Transitionasset .. ... ...t 11 (18) 7 —
Foreigncurrencytranslationadjustnent . ................... 4 4 2) 6
Total. .o $(63,433) $(28,673) $11,286 $(80,820)

Jan. 3, Pre-tax Tax Jan. 2,

In thousands 2010 Activity Effect 2011
Net pensionactivity

Actuarial 10SS. ..ottt $(40,626) $(18,423) $ 7,227 $(51,822)

Prior Service COStS. . o vttt e (37 (10) 4 43)
Net postretirenent benefits activity

Actuarial 10ss. ... (13,470)  (8,036) 3,631 (17,875)

Prior SErvicCe COSES. .o vttt e e 7,376 (1,784) 700 6,292

Transition asSet ..ot 26 (25) 10 11
Quer ship share of SoutheasternOCL ........................ 49) 81 32) —
Foreigncurrencytranslationadjustnent . ................... 13 (15) 6 4
Total. .o $(46,767) $(28,212) $11,546 $(63,433)
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16. Capital Transactions

The Conpanyhas twclasses of common stock outstanding, Common Stock and Class B Conmon St ock.
The Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQQ obal Select Mrketunder the sybol COKE. There is no
established public trading market for the Class B Common Stock. Shares of the Class B Common Stock are
convertible on a share-for-share basis into shares of Common Stock at anytine at the option of the holders of
Class B Comon St ock.

No cash di vidend or dividend of propertyor stock other than stock of the Conpanyas specificallyescribed
in the Conpany certificate of incorporation, mybe declared and paid on the Class B Common St ock unless an
equal or greater dividendis declared and paid on the Common St ock. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, di vi dends of
$1.00 per share sre decl ared and pai d on bot h Common St ock and Cl ass B Comnmon St ock.

Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share and each share of Class B Common Stock is
entitled to 20 votes per share at all neetings of shareholders. Exept as otherise required byl aghol ders of the
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock vote together as a single class on all matters brought before the
Conpany st ockhol ders. Inthe event of liquidation,thereis nopreference betwenthe twclasses of commn st ock.

On Februaryl9, 2009, the Conpanyentered into an Anended and Restated Stock Ri ghts and Restrictions
Agreenent (the Anmended Rights and Restrictions Agreenment) wth The Coca-Cola Conpanyand J. Frank
Harrison, 111, the Conpany Chairman and Chief Ezcutive (fficer. The Anmended Rights and Restrictions
Agreenent provides, anong ot her things, (1) that solong as no person or group controls nore of the Conpany
voting powr thanis controlled byM. Harrison, I11, trustees under the W1 of J. Frank Harrison, Jr. and anytrust
that holds shares of the Conpany stock for the benefit of descendents of J. Frank Harrison, Jr. (collectivel ythe
Fhrrison Fanily, The Coca-Cola Conpanyil! not acquire additional shares of the Conpanyitt hout the
Conpany consent and the Conpanywl 1 have a right of first refusal Wth respect to anyproposed sale bylhe
Coca-Col a Conpanyof shares of Conpanytock; (2) the Conpanyhas the ri ght through January2019 to redeem
shares of the Conpany stock to reduce The Coca-Col a Conpany equi t yomership to 20% at a price not less
than $42.50 per share; (3) registrationrights for the shares of Conpantock omed bylhe Coca-Col a Conpany
and (4) certainrights to The Coca-Col a Conpany egarding the el ection of a desi gnee on t he Conpany Board of
Directors. The Anended Ri ghts and Restrictions Agreenent also provides The Coca-Col a Conpanyt he right to
convert its 497,670 shares of the Conpany Common Stock into shares of the Conpany Class B Comon
Stock in the event anyperson or group acquires nore of the Conpany voting powr than is controlled bythe
Harrison Fanily

On April 29, 2008, the stockhol ders of the Conpanyapproved a Perfornmance Uhit Asrd Agreenent for
M. Harrison, I11 consisting of 400,000 perfornance units (Chits). Each Lhit represents the right toreceive one
share of the Conpany Class B Common St ock, subject tocertainterns and conditions. The Lhits are subject to
vestinginannual increnents over aten-gar periodstartinginfiscal gar 2009. The nunber of Lhits that vest each
yar equal the product of 40,000 multiplied bythe overall goal achievenent factor (not toexeed 100%) under the
Conpany Annual Bonus Pl an.

Each annual 40,000 unit tranche has anindependent performance requirenent as it is not established until the
Conpany Annual Bonus Plan targets are approved each gar bythe Conpensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. As aresult, each 40,000 unit tranche is consideredtohave its owservice inception date, grant-date and
requisite service period. The Conpany Annual Bonus Plan targets, hich establish the perfornance
requirenents for the Performance thit Asrd Agreenent, are approved bythe Conpensation Committee in the
first quarter of each gar. The Performance thit Asrd Agreenent does not entitle M. Harrison, I1I to participate
in dividends or voting rights until each installnent has vested and the shares are issued. M. Harrison, I1I may
satisfytaxat hholding requirenents inhole or inpart byequiringthe Conpanyosettle incash such nunber of
Lhits otheriwe pagble in Class B Common St ock to neet t he maknumst at ut or yt axiast hhol di ng requi renent s.
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Conpensation epense for the Perfornmance Uhit Asrd Agreenent recognied in 2011 a8 $2.3 nillion,
i ch s based upon a share price of $58.55 on Decenber 30, 2011 (the last trading date prior to Januaryl,
2012). Conpensation epense for the Performance thit Asrd Agreenent recognied in 2010 & $2.2 nillion
i ch s based upon a share price of $55.58 on Decenber 31, 2010. Conpensation epense for the Perfornance
Lhit Asrd Agreenent recognied in 2009 ss $2.2 nillion hich ss based upon a share price of $54.02 on
Decenber 31, 2009.

(h Mirch 6, 2012, Mirch 8, 2011 and Mrch 9, 2010, t he Conpensation Committee determnined t hat 40,000
shares of the Conpany Class B Common St ock should be issued in each gar pursuant to a Perfornance Uhit
Awrd Agreenent to J. Frank Harrison, II1, in connection th his services in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel y
as Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer of the ConpanyAs permtted under the terns
of the Performance Lhit Asrd Agreenent, 17,680 of such shares sre settledincashineachyar tosatisfyax
Wt hhol di ng obli gations in connectionith the vesting of the perfornance units.

(On Februaryl9, 2009, The Coca-Col a Conpanyonverted all of its 497,670 shares of the Conpany Class
B Common St ock i nt o an equi val ent nunber of shares of the Common St ock of t he Conpany

The increase in the nunber of shares outstanding in 2011 and 2010 ss due to the i ssuance of 22,320 shares
of Class B Common Stock related tothe Performance Uhit Asrd Agreenent in each yar, respectively
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17. Benefit Plans
Pension Plans

Retirenent benefits under the twConpanysponsored pension plans are based on the enpl oged length of
service, average conpensation over the five consecutive gars hich gives the hi ghest average conpensation and
the average of the Social Securitytaable sge base during the 35-yar period before a participant reaches Soci al
Securityetirenent age. Contributions tothe plans are based on the projected unit credit actuarial funding nethod
and are limted to the anounts currentlydeductible for incone taxpurposes. Oh February22, 2006, t he Board of
Directors of the Conpanyapproved an anendnent to the principal Conpanysponsored pension plan covering
nonuni on enpl oges to cease further benefit accrual s under the planeffective June 30, 2006.

The fol 1 oimng tables set forth pertinent infornation for the twConpanysponsored pension plans:

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligation

Fiscal Year

M 2011 2010
Projected benefit obligationat beginningof gar............................. $227,784  $193,583
SETVICE COSL. o ottt ettt et e e e e e e e e 96 79
It Er St COSt o ottt e e 12,340 11,441
Actuarial L oSS, ... e 11,570 29,105
Benefits paid. ... ..o (6,819) (6,449)
Change inplan Provi STONS . . ...ttt et e e e e 19 25
Projected benefit obligationat endof gar............. ... ... ... ... ... .... $244,990 $227,784

The Conpanyrecogni gd an actuarial 1oss of $18.4 nillionin 2010 prinarilydue to a change in the di scount
rate from6.0% in 2009 to 5.5% in 2010 and a change inthe nortalityssunption tables. The actuarial 1oss, net of
taxss alsorecorded in other conprehensive loss. The Conpany ecognied an actuarial loss of $21.4 mllionin
2011 primarilydue to a change in the discount rate from5.5% in 2010 to 5.18% in 2011 and l oer than epected
investnent returnon planassets. The actuarial 1oss, net of taxss recordedin other conprehensive loss.

The projected benefit obligations and accumul ated benefit obligations for both of the Conpany pension
plans ®re in egess of plan assets at Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011. The accumul ated benefit obligation
#s $245.0ni11ion and $227.8 nillion at Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respecti vel y

Change in Plan Assets

In thousands 2011 2010

Fair value of planassets at beginningof. gar............. .. ... .. .. ... ...... $166,130 $146,564
Actual return on plan asSelS . .o v vttt e (262) 16,485
Enpl ogr contributions. . .......on ittt e e 9,453 9,530
Benefits paid. ... ... (6,819) (6,449)
Fair value of planassetsat endof gar........... ... ... ... iiiiiiiiinninno.. $168,502 $166,130
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Funded Status
In thousands

Projectedbenefit obligation........ ... i

Planassets at fair valiue . ... ... ...

Net funded Status. . ..ottt e

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands

Current 1iabilities. ...t e

Noncurrent liabilities. ... e

Net anmount 1€COZNIBd . ..ottt

Net Periodic Pension Cost

In thousands

eI VI CE COST. . et ettt et ettt e e e e e e
Interest COStL. ... o
Epectedreturnon planasselrs. .. .....vuntnen e,
Anortiationof prior SErvice COoSt. ... ..ot
Recognied net actuarial lass ........ ... ..

Net periodic pensSion COSL. ..o vvet ittt

Significant Assumptions Used

Projected benefit obligation at the neasurenent date:

Discount rate . ....... ...

Wighted average rate of conpensationincrease.................

Net periodic pensioncost for the fiscal gar:

Discount rat@ .. ... ...ttt
Wi ghted average epected long-termrate of returnonplanassets....

Wighted average rate of conpensationincrease.................... NA NA NA

89

Jan. 1,2012 Jan. 2, 2011

..... $(244,990) $(227,784)
..... 168,502 166,130

..... $ (76,488) $ (61,654)

Jan. 1,2012 Jan. 2, 2011

...... $ —3%  —
...... (76,488)  (61,654)

...... $(76,488) $(61,654)

Fiscal Year

2011 2010 2009

$ 9% $ 79 % 71

12,340 11441 11,136
(11,684) (11,525) (9,342)
18 14 13
2,130 5723 9327

$ 2,900 $ 5,732 $11,205

2011 2010 2009

... 5.18% 5.50% 6.00%
... NA NA NA

... 550% 6.00% 6.00%

7.00% 8.00% 8.00%
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Cash Flows
In thousands

Anticipated future pension benefit pagents for the fiscal gars:

202 $ 7,489
203 7,921
2014 8,343
20 8,797
2006 9,342
20017 2021 57,212

Anticipated contributions for the t wConpansysponsored pension plans il be inthe range of $18 nillionto
$21 nillionin 2012.

Plan Assets

The Conpany pension plans target asset allocation for 2012, actual asset allocation at Januaryl, 2012 and

January?, 2011 and the epect ed @i ghted average long-termrate of return bysset categorwre as fol l ow
Percentage of

Plan .
Assets at VXSLgrggf
Target F'chlngear' Expected

Allocation ___ — - Long-Term

2012 2011 2010 Rate of Return - 2011
US.large capitaliationequityecurities................ 40% 41% 42% 3.5%
US. small/md-capitaliationequitysecurities............ 5% 4% 4% 0.4%
International equityecurities......................... 15% 11% 12% 1.4%
Debt Securities. .. .o.vutn i 40%  44% 42% 1.7%
Total. ... 100%  100% 100% 7.0%

All of the assets in the Conpany pension plans include investnents in institutional investnent funds
managed byprofessional investnent advisors kich hold US. equities, international equities and debt securities.
The objective of the Conpany investnent philosophyis to earn the plans’targeted rate of return over 1onger
periods Wthout assuming exess investnent risk. The general guidelines for plan investnents include
30% 50% in large capitaliation equitysecurities, 0% 20% in US. small and nid-capitaliation equity
securities, 0% 20% in international equitysecurities and 10% 50% in debt securities. The Conpany
currentlyhas 56% of its planinvestnents inequityecurities and 44% indebt securities.

US. large capitaliation equitysecurities include donestic based conpanies that are generallyincluded in
common narket indices such as the S&P 500%hd t he Russell 1000™US. snall and mid-capitaliationequity
securities include small donestic equities as represented bythe Russell 2000T¥ndex International equity
securities include conpanies fromdevel oped narkets outside of the Lhited States. Debt securities at Januaryl,
2012 are conprised of investnents in tw institutional bond funds wh a w®ighted average duration of
approkmatel ythree gars.

The ®i ght ed average epected l ong-termrate of return of plan assets of 7% and 8% ss used in det er m ni ng
net periodic pension cost in 2011 and 2010, respectivel yThis rate reflects an estinate of long-termfuture returns
for the pension plan assets. This estinmate is prinarilya function of the asset classes (equities versus fi&dincone)
in kich the pension plan assets are invested and the analyis of past perfornance of these asset classes over a
long period of tine. This analyis includes epected long-terminflation and the risk premuns associated ith
equityinvestnents and fi&d incone i nvestnents.
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The folloing table summaries the Conpany pension plan assets neasured at fair value on a recurring
basis (at least annuallyat Januaryl, 2012:

Quoted Prices in
Active Market for ~ Significant Other
Identical Assets  Observable Input

M (Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Cashequi valents(1)
Comon/collective trust funds......................... $ — $ 453 453
Equityecurities(2)
US.largecapitaliation...............coviuiinenn... 10,620 — 10,620
US.md-capitaliation ......... ... ... ... ... 2,007 — 2,007
International ......... ... ... ... . ... ... . .. . ... ... .. .... 1,181 — 1,181
Common/collective trust funds(3)....................... — 79,041 79,041
A her o 584 — 584
Fi&d i ncone
Common/collective trust funds(3)....................... — 74,616 74,616
Total . .. $14,392 $154,110 $168,502

(1) Cashequivalents are val ued at $100/uni t ki ch approkmates fair val ue.

(2) Equitwecurities other than common/collective trust funds consist prinarilyof common stock. Investnents in
conmon st ocks are val ued using quot ed narket prices mul tiplied byt he nunber of shares omed.

(3) The underlyng investnents held in common/collective trust funds are activel yrmanaged equitysecurities and
fied incone investnent vehicles that are valued at the net asset value per share mul tiplied byt he nunber of

shares held as of the neasurenent date.

The followng table summarigs the Conpany pension plan assets neasured at fair value on a recurring

basis (at 1east annuallyat January2, 2011:

Quoted Prices in
Active Market for
ldentical Assets

Significant Other
Observable Input

M (Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Cash equi valent s(1)
Common/col lective trust funds......................... $ — $ 871 871
Equityecurities(2)
US.largecapitaliation........... ... ..., 19,395 — 19,395
US.md-capitaliation ........... .. .. .. ..., 4,186 — 4,186
International ........ ... ... . . . . . . . . . 2,123 — 2,123
Common/collective trust funds(3)....................... — 69,916 69,916
A her .. 1,053 — 1,053
Fi&d i ncone
Common/collective trust funds(3)....................... — 68,586 68,586
Total. ... $26,757 $139,373 $166,130
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(1) Cashequivalents are valued at $100/uni t ki ch approknates fair val ue.

(2) Equitwecurities other than conmon/collective trust funds consist prinarilyf common stock. Investnents in
conmon st ocks are val ued using quot ed market prices mul tiplied byt he nunber of shares omed.

(3) The underlynginvestnments heldin comon/collective trust funds are activel yranaged equitysecurities and
fizd incone invest nent vehicles that are valued at the net asset value per share miltiplied byt he nunber of
shares held as of the neasurenent date.

The Conpanydoes not have anyunobservabl e i nputs (Level 3) pension plan assets.

401(k) Savings Plan

The Conpanyprovides a 401(k) Savings Plan for substantiallyall of its enploges ho are not part of
collective bargaining agreenents. The Conpanysuspended matching contributions to its 401(k) Savings Plan
effective April 1, 2009, hile muintaining the option to match participants’401(k) Savings Plan contributions
based on the financial results for 2009. The Conpanysubsequent | ydeci ded to match the first 5% of participants’
contributions (consistent wh the first quarter of 2009 matching contribution percentage) for the entire yar of
2009.

The Conpanynatched the first 3% of participants’contributions for 2010, ki le nuintaining the optionto
increase the matching contributions anadditional 2%, for a total of 5%, for the Conpany enpl oges based on t he
financial results for 2010. Based on the Conpany financial results, the Conpanydecided to increase the
matching contributions for the additional 2% for the entire gar of 2010. The Conpanynade these additional
contribution pagents for each quarter in2010in the folloing quarter concluding ixth the fourth quarter of 2010
payent being nmade in the first quarter of 2011. The Conpanyhad accrued $.7 nillion in the fourth quarter for
the payent inthe first quarter of 2011.

The Conpanynatched the first 3% of participants’contributions for 2011, ki le naintaining the optionto
increase the matching contributions anadditional 2%, for a total of 5%, for the Conpany enpl oges based on t he
financial results for 2011. The 2% natching contributions ®re accrued during 2011 for a total accrual of $2.8
mllion. Based on the Conpany financial results, the Conpanydecided to increase the matching contributions
for the additional 2% for the entire gar of 2011. The Conpanynade this additional contribution papent for
2011 inthe first quarter of 2012.

The total epense for this benefit ss $8.5 million, $8.7 mil1lion and $8.6 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively

During the first quarter of 2012, the Conpanydecided to change the Conpany nmatching fromfiad to
discretionaryand nolonger match the first 3% of participants’contributions. The Conpanymintains the optionto
nmake mat ching contributions for eligible participants of upto 5% based on the Conpany financial results inthe
future.

Postretirement Benefits

The Conpanyprovides postretirenent benefits for a portion of its current enploges. The Conpany
recogniegs the cost of postretirenent benefits, ich consist principallyof nedical benefits, during enpl oges’
periods of active service. The Conpanydoes not pre-fund these benefits and has the right to nodifyor termnate
certainof these benefits inthe future.
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The folloing tables set forth areconciliation of the beginning and endi ng bal ances of the benefit obligation,
a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets and funded status of the
Conpany postretirenent benefit plan:

Fiscal Year

M 2011 2010
Benefit obligationat beginningofigar...... ... .. $55,311 $44,811
SETVICE COSL. « ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e 961 752
It EreSt COSt . ottt 2,926 2,521
Plan participants’contributions. .. ... .. ..ottt 568 548
Actuarial 1 0SS, . oo 7,901 9,539
Benefits paid. ... ... (3,095) (2,963)
Mdicare Part Dsubsidyeinbursenent. ........ ... . . i 124 103
Benefit obligationat endof gar.......... ... . i $64,696 $55,311
Fair value of planassets at beginningof. gar........... ... ... .. .. ... .. ...... $8 -5 —
Enplogr contributions. . ... ...t e e e e 2,403 2,312
Planparticipants’contributions. . ........ ... i 568 548
Benefits paid. ... ... (3,095)  (2,963)
Mdicare Part Dsubsidyeinbursenent. ........... ... ... 124 103
Fair value of planassets at endof gar............ ... it iiineiinnennn... $8 - —
Jan. 1, Jan. 2,
In thousands 2012 2011
Current 1iabi litdes. ... i $ (3,028) $ (2,802)
Noncurrent liabilities. ... . e (61,668) (52,509)
Accruedliabilityat endof gar. .......... .o it $(64,696) $(55,311)

The conponent s of net periodic postretirenent benefit cost are as fol l ow

Fiscal Year

M 2011 2010 2009

SEI VI CE COSE . v vttt e et e e e e e e $ 91 $ 752 $ 617
Interest COS. .o 2,926 2,521 2,295
Anortiation of unrecogniedtransitional assets........................ (18) (25) (25)
Recognied net actuarial 10SS...... ... i 2,345 1,502 1,043
Anortiation of prior Service COSt. ... ou ittt ee e (1,717)  (1,784) (1,784)
Net periodic postretirenent benefit.cost ............. .. ... .. ... ...... $4,497 $2966 $ 2,146
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Significant Assumptions Used 2011 2010 2009

Benefit obligationat the neasurenent date:

Discount rate . ... ...t 4.94% 5.25% 5.75%
Net periodic postretirenent benefit cost for the fiscal yar:
Discount rate . ... ...t 5.25% 5.75% 6.25%

The wi ghted average health care cost trend used in neasuring the postretirenent benefit epense in 2011
#s 10% graded dowto an ultimate rate of 5% by2015. The wi ghted average heal th care cost trend used in
neasuring the postretirenent benefit epense in 2010 w6 9% graded dowto anultimate rate of 5% by2014. The
wi ghted average health care cost trend used in neasuring the postretirenent benefit epense in 2009 &s 9%
graded dowtoanultinmate rate of 5% by013.

A 1% increase or decrease in this annual health care cost trend wuld have inpacted the postretirenent
benefit obligationandservice cost andinterest cost of the Conpany postretirenent benefit planas follosw

In thousands 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Increase (decrease)in:

Postretirenent benefit obligationat Januaryl,2012............ $7,671 $(6,880)
Service cost andinterest cost in20L1l........................ 481 477
Cash Flows

In thousands

Anticipated future postretirenent benefit pagyents reflecting epected future service for the fiscal yars:

202 $ 3,028
2003 3,090
2014 3,323
200 3,552
2006 3,824
2007 202 e 22,966

Anticipated future postretirenent benefit papents are show net of Mdicare Part D subsidy
reinbursenents, ki ch are not material.
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The anount s in accumul ated ot her conprehensive 10ss that have not gt been recognied as conponents of
net periodic benefit cost at January2, 2011, the activityduring 2011, and the bal ances at Januaryl, 2012 are as
follow

Actuarial Reclassification
In thousands Jan. 2,2011  Gain (Loss) Adjustments  Jan. 1, 2012

Pension Pl ans:

Actuarial 10SS. ... ..ot $ (85,622) $(23,516) $ 2,130 $(107,008)

Prior servicecost (credit)....................... (71) (20) 18 (73)
Postretirenent Mdical:

Actuarial 10SS. ... ..ot (30,268) (7,900) 2,345 (35,823)

Prior servicecost (credit)....................... 10,417 — (1,717) 8,700

Transitionasset. ............oiutiniennennenn.n.. 18 — (18) —

$(105,526) $(31,436) $ 2,758 $(134,204)

The anounts in accumil ated ot her conprehensive 1oss that are epected to be recogni gd as conponent s of
net periodic cost during 2012 are as follow
Pension  Postretirement

In thousands Plans Medical Total
Actuarial 1oSS. ...t $2,771 $ 2,448 $ 5,219
Prior service cost (Credif). .....ouuiriinn e 17 (1,513) (1,496)

$2,788 $ 935 $ 3,723

Multi-Employer Benefits

The Conpanycurrentlyparticipates in one multi-enplogr defined benefit pension plan covering certain
enpl oges hose enpl oyent is covered under collective bargaining agreenents. The risks of participatinginthis
multi-enplogr plan are different fromsingle-enplogr plans in that assets contributed are pool ed and naybe
used to provide benefits to enploges of other participating enplogrs. If a participating enplogr stops
contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan naybe borne bythe remmining participating
enplogrs. If the Conpanychooses to stop participating in the nulti-enplogr plan, the Conpanycould be
required to payhe plan a iwthdrasl liabilitybased on the underfunded status of the plan. The Conpanyst opped
participationinone milti-enplogr defined pension planin 2008. See bel owor additional infornation.

The Conpany participationinthe planis outlined in the table bel owlhe nost recent Pension Protection
Act (PPAYwne status available in 2011 and 20101s for the pl an gars ending at Decenber 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectivel yThe planis in the green mne hi ch represents at least 80% funded and does not require a financial
inprovenent plan (FIPyor arehabilitation plan (RP).

Contribution
(In thousands)

Pension Protection
Act Zone Status

FIP/RP Status

bl Pending/ Surcharge
Pension Fund 2011 2010 Implemented 2011 2010 2009 Imposed
Enpl ogr-Teansters Local Nos. 175 & 505
Pensi on Trust Fund (EI NPension Pl an
No. 55-6021850) . ... Geen Geen No $555 $481 $516 No
Gher mlti-enplogr plans ................ 264 247 273

$819 $728 $789
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For the plan gars ended Decenber 31, 2010 and Decenber 31, 2009, respectivel ythe Conpanyss not
listed in Enpl ogr-Teansters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pension Trust Fund Forns 5500 as provi ding nore than 5%
of the total contributions for the plan. At the date these financial statenments ®re issued, Forns 5500 sre not
available for the plan yar endi ng Decenber 31, 2011.

The collective bargaining agreenents covering the Enpl ogr-Teansters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pensi on Trust
Fund i 1 epire on Jul 22,2012 and April 27,2014, respectively

The Conpanyentered into a newgreenent inthe third quarter of 2008 after one of its collective bargaining
contracts epired in Jul y2008. The newagreenent allowd the Conpanyto freez its liabilityto Southeast and
Sout hest Areas Pension Plan (Central States), a nul ti-enpl ogr defined benefit pension fund, hile preserving
the pension benefits previouslyearned byt he enpl oges. As aresult of freezng the Conpany liabilityto Central
States, the Conpanyrecorded a charge of $13.6 nillion in 2008. The Conpanypaid $3.0 nillion in 2008 to the
Southern States Savings and Retirenent Plan (Southern States) under the agreenent to freez Central States
liabilityThe remaining $10.6 nillionis the present val ue anount, using a di scount rate of 7%, that i1 be paidto
Central States and had beenrecordedinother liabilities. The Conpanyil 1 payapproknatel y$1 nillion annually
t hrough 2028. Including the $3.0 million paidto Southern States in 2008, t he Conpanshas paid $5.9 nillion from
the fourth quarter of 2008 through the end of 2011 and W1 payapproknatel y$1 nillion annuallyover the nek
17 gars.
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18. Related Party Transactions

The Conpany business consists primarilyof the production, marketing and distribution of nonal coholic
beverages of The Coca-Cola Conpanyhichis the sole omer of the secret formilas under hich the prinmary
conponent s (either concentrate or syup) of its soft drink products are manufactured. As of Januaryl, 2012, The
Coca-Col a Conpanyhad a 34.8% interest in the Conpany out st andi ng Common St ock, representing 5.1% of the
total voting powr of the Conpany Common St ock and Class B Common St ock voting together as a single class.

The Coca-Col a Conpanydoes not owanyhares of Class B Common St ock of t he Conpany

In August 2007, the Conpanyentered into a distribution agreenent wth EnergyBrands Inc. (Energy
Brands), a hol 1 yomed subsidi aryof The Coca-Col a Conpany Ener gyBrands, al so know as glacéu, is a
producer and distributor of branded enhanced beverages including vitam nster and snartster. The distribution
agreenent is effective Novenber 1, 2007 for a period of ten gars and, unless earlier termnated, W1 be
automaticallyrenesd for succeeding ten-gar terns, subject to a one yar non-renesl notification bythe
Conpany In conjunction wth the excution of the distribution agreenent, the Conpanyentered into an
agreenent wth The Coca-Col a Conpanyher ebyt he Conpanyagreed not to introduce newhird partybrands or
certainthird partybrand ekensions inthe lhited States through August 31,2010 unl ess mut ual 1 yagreed t o byt he
Conpanyand The Coca-Col a Conpany

The folloing table summariegs the significant transactions bet®en the Conpanyand The Coca-Col a
Conpany

Fiscal Year

W 2011 2010 2009
Pagent s byt he Conpanyfor concentrate, syup, seetener and ot her purchases.... $399.1 $393.5 $361.7
Mrketing funding support pagents tothe Conpany. ........................ 47.3) (45.1) (46.0)

Pagent s byt he Conpanyet of narketing funding support................... $351.8 $348.4 $315.7
Pagent s byt he Conpanyfor custoner marketing prograns .................... $ 514 $507 $ 520
Payent s byt he Conpanyfor colddrink equipnent parts....................... 9.3 8.6 7.2
Fount ai n del i ver yand equi pnent repair fees paidtothe Conpany............. 11.4 10.4 11.2
Presence marketing support provi ded bylhe Coca-Col a Conpanyon t he Conpany

behal f .. 4.1 4.4 4.5
Papents to the Conpanyto facilitate the distribution of certain brands and packages

toother Coca-Colabottlers ...... ... .. ... 2.0 2.8 1.0
Sales of finished products to The Coca-Cola Conpany...................... — A 1.1

The Conpanyhas a production arrangenent ith Coca-Cola Refreshnents SA, Inc. (CCR) to buyand
sell finished products at cost. The Coca-Cola Conpanyacquired Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc. (CCE) on
Cctober 2, 2010. In connection wth the transaction, CCE changed its nane to CCRand transferred its beverage
operations outside of North Anerica to an independent third party As a result of the transaction, the North
Anerican operations of CCE are nowncluded in CCR References to CCRYefer to CCRand CCE as it eksted
prior tothe acquisition bylhe Coca-Col a ConpanySal es t o CCRunder this agreenent sre $55.0 nillion, $48.5
nmllionand $50.0 nillionin 2011, 2010 and 2009, respecti vel yPurchases fromCCRunder this arrangenent wre
$23.4 mllion, $24.8 nillion and $22.9 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel yIn addition, CCR began
distributing one of the Conpany owbrands (TumE Yurmi es) in the first quarter of 2010. Total sales to CCR
for this brandere $16.8 nillionand $12.9 nillionin 2011 and 2010, respecti vel y

Along wth all the other Coca-Cola bottlers in the lhited States, the Conpanyis a nenber in Coca-Col a
Bottlers’ Sales and Services Conpany LIC (CCBSS), hich ss forned in 2003 for the purposes of
facilitating various procurenent functions and distributing certain specified beverage products of The Coca-Col:
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Conpanyit h the intention of enhancing the efficiencyand conpetitiveness of the Coca-Cola bottling sytemin
the Uhited States. CCBSS negotiates the procurenent for the majorityf the Conpany rawaterials (exluding
concentrate). The Conpanypay an admnistrative fee to CCBSS for its services. Admnistrative fees to CCBSS
for its services mre $.4 nmllion, $.5 mllion and $.5 m1lion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respecti vel y Anount s due
fromCCBSS for rebates on rawaterial purchases wre $5.2nillion and $3.6 nillion as of Januaryl, 2012 and
January2, 2011, respectivel yCCRis al so a nenber of CCBSS.

The Conpanyl eases fromHarrison Lim ted Partnership Che (FLP) the Sngler Production Center (SPCY
and an adj acent sales facilityhicharelocatedin Charlotte, North Carolina. HPis directlyndindirect]ymed
bytrusts of hich J. Frank Harrison, IT1I, Chairnan of the Board of Directors and Chief Ezcutive (fficer of the
Conpanyand Deborah H Everhart, a director of the Conpanyare trustees and beneficiaries. Mrgan H Everett,
a director of the Conpanyis a permssible, discretionarybeneficiaryof the trusts that directlyor indirectlyow
HP. The original lease epired on Decenber 31, 2010. Oh Mirch 23, 2009, the Conpanynodi fied the lease
agreenent (newerns began Januaryl, 2011) isth HP related to the SPC 1ease. The nodified lease wul d not
have changed the classification of the eksting lease had it been in effect in the first quarter of 2002, hen the
capital lease ®s recorded, as the Conpanyreceived a renesl option to ekend the termof the lease, hichit
epected to egrcise. The nodified lease did not ekend the termof the eksting lease (remaining lease termss
reduced fromapproknatel y22 gars to approkmatel yl2 gars). Accordingl ythe present value of the leased
propertyunder capital leases and capital lease obligations ®s adjusted byan anmpbunt equal to the difference
betwen the future mininumlease papents under the nodified lease agreenent and the present value of the
eksting obligation on the nodification date. The capital lease obligations and leased propertyinder capital leases
wre both decreased by$7.5 million in Mrch 2009. The annual base rent the Conpanyi s obligated to payunder
the nodified lease is subject to an adjustnent for aninflation factor. The prior 1ease annual base rent ® subject
to adjustnent for an inflation factor and for increases or decreases in interest rates, using LIBCR as the
neasurenent device. The principal balance outstanding under this capital lease as of Januaryl, 2012 s $25.8
mllion.

The mi ni numrental s and contingent rental pagents that relatetothis lease sre as foll ow

Fiscal Year
In millions 2011 2010 2009
Mnimumrentals . ... $3.4 $49 $48
Contingent rentals. ... ... ... e — (1.7 1.4
Total rental PARBNLS. . ..o\ttt ettt et e $34 $32 $34

The contingent rentals in 2010 and 2009 reduce the mnimumrentals as a result of changes ininterest rates,
using LIBRas the neasurenent device. Increases or decreases inlease pagents that result fromchanges in the
interest rate factor sre recorded as adjustnents tointerest epense.

The Conpanyl eases fromBeacon Investnent Corporation (Beacon) the Conpany headquarters office
facilityand an adjacent office facilityThe lease epires on Decenber 31, 2021. Beacon$ sole shareholder is
J. Frank Harrison, IT1. The principal balance outstanding under this capital lease as of Januaryl, 2012 ss $27.1
mllion. The annual base rent the Conpanyis obligated to payunder the lease is subject to adjustnent for
increases inthe Consuner Price Index
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The mi ni numrental s and contingent rental pagents that relatetothis lease sre as foll ow

Fiscal Year
In millions 2011 2010 2009
Mnimumrentals. . ... oo $35 $3.6 $3.6
Contingent rentals. .. ... ... .. .. 4 2 1
Total rental PAFENLS ... ...ttt ettt $39 $3.8 $3.7

The contingent rentals in 2011, 2010 and 2009 are a result of changes in the Consuner Price IndexIncreases
or decreases inlease pagents that result fromchanges inthe Consuner Price Indesre recorded as adjustnents
tointerest egense.

The Conpanyi s a shareholder intwentities fromhichit purchases substantiallyll of its requirenents for
plastic bottles. Net purchases fromthese entities sre $83.9 million, $74.0 million and $68.3 million in 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively In conjunction wh the Conpany participation in one of these entities,
Sout heastern, the Conpanyhas guaranteed a portion of the entity debt. Such guarantee amounted to $15.2
nmllion as of Januaryl, 2012. The Conpany equityinvestnent in Southeastern s $17.9 million and $15.7
mllion as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectively and @& recorded in other assets on the
Conpany consol i dat ed bal ance sheets.

The Conpanyis a nenber of SAC, a manufacturing cooperative. SAC sells finished products to the
Conpanyand Pi ednont at cost. Purchases fromSAC byt he Conpanyand Pi ednont for finished products sre
$134 million, $131 mllion and $131 nmillion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respecti vel yThe Conpanyal so manages
the operations of SAC pursuant to a managenent agreenent. Mnagenent fees earned fromSAC wre $1.6
mllion, $1.5mllion and $1.2 m1lionin 2011, 2010 and 2009, respecti vel yThe Conpanyhas al so guaranteed a
portion of debt for SAC. Such guarantee anounted to $23.1 million as of Januaryl, 2012. The Conpany equi ty
investment in SAC ss $4.1 mi1lion and $5.6 m11ion on Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel y

The Conpanyholds no assets as collateral against the Southeastern or SAC guarantees, the fair value of
hichis immaterial.

The Conpanymnitors its investnents in cooperatives and suld be requiredtomite dowits investnent if
an inpairnent is identified and the Conpanydetermned it to be other than tenporaryNo inpairnent of the
Conpany i nvestnents in cooperatives has beenidentified as of Januaryl, 2012 nor ®s there any npairnent in
2011, 2010 and 2009.
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19. Net Sales by Product Category

Net sales inthe last three fiscal yars byroduct categoryre as follow

Fiscal Year

In thousands 2011 2010 2009
Bottle/cansales:

Sparkling beverages (including energyroducts).............. $1,052,164 $1,031,423 $1,006,356

Still beverages .. ...vuv 219,628 213,570 202,079
Total bottle/cansales...... ... ... 1,271,792 1,244,993 1,208,435
QG her sales:

Sales toother Coca-Colabottlers ..............coo. ... 150,274 140,807 131,153

Post-mizandother...... ... . ... . . 139,173 128,799 103,398
Total other sales. ... ... .. 289,447 269,606 234,551
Total net sales............ i e $1,561,239 $1,514,599 $1,442,986

Sparkling beverages are carbonated beverages and energyproducts hile still beverages are noncarbonated
beverages.
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20. Net Income Per Share

The folloing table sets forth the conputation of basic net incone per share and diluted net incone per share
under the torclass nethod. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statenents for additional informationrelated
tonet incone per share.

Fiscal Year
In thousands (except per share data) 2011 2010 2009
Ninerator for basic and diluted net i ncone per Conmon St ock and Cl ass B
Conmon St ock share:
Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola Bottling Co.Consolidated...... $28,608 $36,057 $38,136
Less di vidends:
Common St OCK . ..o 7,141 7,141 7,070
Class BCommon Stock . ... e 2,062 2,039 2,092
Total undistributedearnings ............c.ooviiuneiinnennnnann.. $19,405 $26,877 $28,974
Comon St ock undi stributed earnings basic........................ $15,056 $20,905 $22,360
Class B Common Stock undistributed earnings basic.................. 4,349 5,972 6,614
Total undistributedearnings ...............iiuiiiiineenann .. $19,405 $26,877 $28,974
Comon St ock undi stributed earnings -diluted....................... $14,990 $20.814 $22,279
Class B Common Stock undistributed earnings diluted. ............... 4,415 6,063 6,695
Total undistributedearnings -diluted.......................... $19,405 $26,877 $28,974
Nuinerator for basic net i ncone per Common St ock share:
Dividends on Common Stock. . ... ... .. . . $ 7,141 $ 7,141 $ 7,070
Conmon Stock undistributedearnings basic......... ... ... ... 15,056 20,905 22,360
Ninerator for basic net i ncone per Common St ock share............ $22,197 $28,046 $29,430
Nuner at or for basic net incone per Class B Common St ock share:
Dividends on Class BCommon Stock . ... oot $ 2,062 $ 2,039 $ 2,092
Class B Common Stock undi stributed earnings -basic.................. 4,349 5,972 6,614
Nunerat or for basic net incone per Class B Common St ock shate.... $ 6,411 $ 8,011 $ 8,706
Ninerator for diluted net i ncone per Conmon St ock share:
Dividends on Common StOCK. . .. oottt $ 7,141 $ 7,141 $ 7,070
Di vi dends on Class B Common St ock assuned converted t o Common St ock ... 2,062 2,039 2,092
Comon St ock undi stributed earnings diluted....................... 19,405 26,877 28,974
Ninerator for diluted net incone per Common St ock share.......... $28,608 $36,057 $38,136
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Fiscal Year

In thousands (Except Per Share Data) 2011 2010 2009
Ninerator for dilutednet incone per Class B Common St ock share:

Dividends on Class BCommon Stock . .......... ... . ... ... ... . ... . ....... $2,062 $2,039 $2,092

Class B Common Stock undistributed earnings diluted. .................. 4415 6,063 6,695

Ninerator for dilutednet incone per Class B Common St ock shate....... $6,477 $8,102 $8,787

Denomni nat or for basic net i ncone per Conmon St ock and Cl ass B Common St ock

share:

Conmon St ock wi ght ed average shares outstanding basic................. 7,141 7,141 7,072

Class B Common St ock &i ght ed average shares outstanding -basic.......... 2,063 2,040 2,092
Denomni nator for dilutednet i ncone per Common St ock and Cl ass B Common St ock

share:

Comon St ock ®i ght ed average shares out st andi ng -t 1 ut ed (assunes

conversion of Class B Common St ockto Common Stock).................. 9,244 9221 9,197

Class B Common St ock &i ght ed average shares outstanding diluted........ 2,103 2,080 2,125
Basic net incone per share:

Comdn SEOCK .. oot $ 311 $393 $ 416

Class BCommon Stock . ...t $ 311 $393 §$ 416
Diluted net incone per share:

Common St OCK ...t $ 3.09 $ 391 $4.15

Class B Comon Stock .. ... $ 308 $390 $4.13

NOIES TOTABLE
(1) For purposes of the diluted net incone per share conputation for Common St ock, shares of Class B Common
Stock are assuned t o be converted; therefore, 100% of undi stributed earnings is allocated to Common St ock.

(2) For purposes of the diluted net incone per share conputation for Class B Common St ock, @i ghted average
shares of Class B Common St ock are assuned to be out st anding for the entire period and not converted.

(3) Denominator for diluted net incone per share for Common St ock and Class B Common St ock includes the
dilutedeffect of shares relative tothe Perfornmance thit Asrd.
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21. Risks and Uncertainties

Approkmt el y88% of the Conpany 2011 bottle/can volune toretail custoners are products of The Coca-
Cola Conpany hich is the sole supplier of these products or of the concentrates or syups required to
manufacture these products. The remaining 12% of the Conpany 2011 bottle/can volune toretail custoners are
products of other beverage conpanies or those omed byt he ConpanyThe Conpanyhas beverage agreenents
under hich it has various requirenents to neet. Failure to neet the requirenents of these beverage agreenents
couldresult inthe loss of distributionrights for the respective product.

The Conpany products are sold and distributed directlybyits enploges toretail stores and other outlets.
During 2011, approknatel y69% of the Conpany bottle/can volune to retail custoners @s sold for future
consunption, hile the remaining bottle/can volune to retail custoners of approkmatel y31% ms sold for
imedi ate consunpt i on. The Conpany l argest custoners, Vil -Mrt Stores, Inc. and Food Li on, LLC, account ed
for approkmatel y21% and 9%, respectivel yof the Conpany total bottle/can volune toretail custoners during
2011; accounted for approknatel 24% and 10%, respectivel yof the Conpany total bottle/can volune toretail
custoners during 2010; and accounted for approkmatel yl9% and 12%, respectivel y of the Conpany total
bottle/can vol une during 2009. Wl -Mrt Stores, Inc. accounted for approkmatel yl5%, 17% and 15% of the
Conpany total net sales during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel yNo other custoner represented greater than
10% of the Conpany total net sales for anyars presented.

The Conpanyobtains all of its al um numcans fromtwdonestic suppliers. The Conpanyurrent] yobt ai ns
all of its plastic bottles fromtw donestic entities. See Note 13 and Note 18 of the consolidated financial
staterments for additional infornation.

The Conpanyis eposed to price risk on such comodities as alum num corn and resin hich affects the
cost of rawmterials usedin the production of finished products. The Conpanybot h produces and procures these
finished products. Eanples of the rawmaterials affected are aluminum cans and plastic bottles used for
packaging and high fructose corn syup used as a product ingredient. Further, the Conpanyis eposed to
comodi typrice riskoncrude oil Wi chinpacts the Conpany cost of fuel usedinthe novenent and deli ver yof
the Conpany products. The Conpanyparticipates in commodityhedging and risk mitigation programs
adm nistered both byCCBSS and byt he ConpanylIn addition, there is nolinit on the price The Coca-Cola
Conpanynd ot her beverage conpani es can charge for concentrate.

Certain liabilities of the Conpanyare subject to risk of changes in both long-termand short-terminterest
rates. These liabilities include floating rate debt, retirenent benefit obligations and the Conpany pension
liability

Approkmatel y7% of the Conpany labor force is covered bycollective bargaining agreenents. T
collective bargaining agreenents covering approkmtel yo% of the Conpany enpl oyes epired during 2011
and the Conpanyentered into newagreenents in 2011. (he collective bargaining agreenent covering
appr oknat el y4% of the Conpany enpl oges w1 epire during 2012.
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COCA-COLABOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

As discussedinNote 1 of the consolidated financial statenments, a revision ss nade to the 2010 conparati ve
staterments of cash flowto correct animmterial error. This revision has been applied to the 2010 anounts in the
tabl e bel ow

Changes incurrent assets and current liabilities affecting cashwere as follow

Fiscal Year

M 2011 2010 2009

Accounts receivable, trade,net............. .. $(8,728) $(4,015) $ 7,122
Account s recei vabl e fromThe Coca-Cola Conpany. .. .................... 3,642  (7,972) (655)
Accounts receivable,other. ...... ... ... .. .. . . . . 45) (1,875) (4,015)
InVent Ord €S . oot (1,288) (7,887) 6,375
Prepaid epenses and other current assefs............coouiiiiiinenann... 3,707 9,142  (13,963)
Accounts pagble,trade...... ... 4,514 6,252  (17,218)
Account s pagble to The Coca-Cola Conpany. ...........couvivuenenenn... 9,092  (2,822)  (7,431)
Gher accrued liabi L1tLesS ..ottt (2,549) 7,487 4,474
Accrued conpensation . ... ...ttt e (2,741) 3,608 517
Accruedinterest pagble. . ... ... (75) 2 (2,618)
(Increase) decreaseincurrent assets less current Liabilities......... $5529 $1,920 $(27,412)

Non-cash activity

Additions to propertyplant and equi pnent of $6.2 nillion and $10.4 mi11ion have been accrued but not paid
and are recorded in accounts pagble, trade as of Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, respectivel yAdditions to
propertypl ant and equi pnent included $1.5m1lionfor atrade-inallosnce on manufacturing equi pnent in 2010.

Cash payents for interest and incone tags re as fol l ow

Fiscal Year
M 2011 2010 2009
It eI St . o $34,989 $34,117 $39,268
INCOMB tABS .. oottt 20,414 14,117 13,825
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23.  New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Pronouncements

In January2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASBY issued nevguidance related to the
disclosures about transfers into and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value classifications and separate disclosures abo
purchases, sales, i ssuances and settlenments relating to the Level 3 fair value classification. The newui dance al so
clarifies eksting fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and val uation techni quc
used to neasure the fair val ue. The newui dance ws effective for the Conpanyinthe first quarter of 2010 exept
for the requirenent to provide the Level 3 activityof purchases, sales, issuances and settlenents on a gross basis,
hich ms effective for the Conpanyin the first quarter of 2011. The Conpany adoption of this newgui dance
didnot have a mterial inpact onthe Conpany consolidated financial statenents.

In Septenber 2011, t he FASB i ssued newui dance ki chrequires additional disclosures about an enpl ogrs$
participating in multi-enpl ogr pension plans. The newguidance is effective for annual periods ending after
Decenber 15, 2011. The Conpany adoption of this newguidance did not have a material inpact on the
Conpany consol i dated financial statenments.

Recently Issued Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB amended its guidance on the presentation of conprehensive incone in financial
statenents to inprove the conparabilityconsistencyand transparencyof financial reporting and to increase the
promnence of itens that are recorded in other conprehensive incone. The nevaccounting gui dance requires
entities toreport conponents of conprehensive incone ineither a continuous statenent of conprehensive i ncone
or twseparate but consecutive statenents. The provisions of this newuidance are effective for fiscal gars, and
interimperiods Wwhin those yars, beginning after Decenber 15, 2011. The Conpanyepects that a new
statenent of conprehensive incone W1 be presented in future consolidated financial statenents instead of the
current reporting of conprehensive incone inthe consolidatedstatenent of stockholders’equity

In Septenber 2011, the FASB issued nevguidance relative to the test for goodii1 inpairnent. The new
guidance pernmits anentityofirst assess qualitative factors todeternmine hether it is nore likel st han not that the
fair value of areportingunit is less thanits carryng anount as a basis for deternmining lether it is necessaryto
performthe tesstep goodill inpairnment test. The nevguidance is effective for annual and interimgoodii |
inpairnent tests perforned for fiscal gars beginning after Decenber 15, 2011 ith earlyearlyadoption
perm tted. The Conpanydoes not epect the requirenents of this newgui dance to have a material inpact on the
Conpany consol i dated financial statenments.
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24. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Set forth beloware unaudited quarterlyfinancial data for the fiscal gars ended Januaryl, 2012 and
January2, 2011.

Quarter
Year Ended January 1, 2012 10 20) 3034 45)
In thousands (except per share data)
Nt Sal @S oottt $359,629 $422,893 $405,858 $372,859
GroSS MATZI M. oottt e e e e e et 149,161 165,573 162,716 151,793
Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated .. 5,913 11,101 9,768 1,826

Basic net incone per share based onnet incone attributable to
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:
Common Stock ... $ .64
Class BCommon Stock. ...t $ .64

Diluted net incone per share based on net incone attributable to
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:

121 $ 106 $ .20
121 $ 106 $ .20

&L P

Common StOCK ... $ 64§ 120 $ 1.06 $ .20
Class BComon Stock............cooiiieaoi.. $ 64 % 120 $ 105 $ .19
Quarter

Year Ended January 2, 2011 160) 2()(®)(9) 3(10)(11)(12) 4(13)
In thousands (except per share data)
Nt Sal @S oo ot $347,498 $417,361 $395,364 $354,376
GrOoSS MATZI M. o vttt e et 146,703 168,008 173,117 152,988
Net incone attributable to Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated .. 4,660 12,043 15,533 3,821

Basic net incone per share based onnet incone attributable to
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:
Common Stock ... ... $ S1
Class BCommon Stock. ..., $ Sl

Diluted net incone per share based on net incone attributable to
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:
Comon SEOCK .+ oo $ S1% 131 $ 168 § A1
Class BCommon Stock. ..., $ S50 $ 130 $ 168 § A1

131 ' $ 169 § 42
131 ' $ 169 § 42

& P

Sales are seasonal ith the hi ghest sales vol une occurringin MyJune, Jul yand August.

See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statenents for information concerning the revision of prior period
financial statenents.

(1) Net incone inthe first quarter of 2011 included a $0.5 mi1lion ($0.3 mi1lion, net of taxor $0.03 per basic
common share) debit for a mark-t o-market adjustnent related to the Conpany al um numhedgi ng program

(2) Net incone inthe second quarter of 2011 included a $1.7 mi1lion ($1.0 mi11lion, net of taxor $0.11 per basic
common share) debit for a mark-t o-narket adjustnent related tothe Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program

(3) Net incone for the third quarter of 2011 included a $1.8 million ($1.2 million, net of taxor $0.10 per basic
conmon share) debit for a nark-t o-narket adjustnent related to the Conpany al unmi numhedgi ng program

(4) Net incone inthe third quarter of 2011 included a $0.9 nillion credit toincone taxgense ($0.10 per basic
conmon share) related to the reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions due mainlyto the lapse of
applicable statute of limtations.
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(5) Net incone inthe fourth quarter of 2011 included a $2.6 million ($1.6 mi11ion, net of taxor $0.17 per basic
common share) debit for a nark-t o-narket adjustnent related tothe Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program

(6) Net incone inthe first quarter of 2010 included a $0.5 nillion debit to incone taxepense ($0.05 per basic
common share) related to the change in tax awlininating the taxdeduction available for Mdicare Part D
subsidy

(7) Net incone in the second quarter of 2010 included a $1.1 nillion ($0.7 mi11lion, net of taxor $0.07 per basic
common share) debit for a mark-t o-market adjustnent related to the Conpany fuel hedgi ng program

(8) Net incone inthe second quarter of 2010 included a $6.7 mi1lion ($4.1 mi1lion, net of taxor $0.45 per basic
common share) debit for a mark-t o-market adjustnent relatedto the Conpany al umi numhedgi ng program

(9) Net incone inthe second quarter of 2010 included a $0.8 million ($0.5 mi11lion, net of taxor $0.05 per basic
common share) credit relatedtothe gainonthe replacenent of flood danaged production equi pnent .

(10) Net incone in the third quarter of 2010 included a $3.0 nillion ($1.8 nillion, net of taxor $0.20 per basic
common share) credit for a mark-t o-narket adjustnent related to the Conpany al uni numhedgi ng program

(11) Net incone in the third quarter of 2010 included a $0.8 mil1lion ($0.5 nillion, net of taxor $0.05 per basic
common share) debit related to the i npai rnent/accel erated depreciation of propertyplant and equi pnent .

(12) Net incone inthe third quarter of 2010 includeda $1.7 nillion credit toincone taxpense ($0.18 per basic
common share) related to the reduction of the liabilityfor uncertain taxpositions due muinlyto the lapse of
applicable statute of limtations.

(13) Net incone in the fourth quarter of 2010 included a $2.9 million ($1.7 mi11ion, net of taxor $0.19 per basic
common share) debit related to the i npai rnent/accel erated depreciation of propertyplant and equi pnent .
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Mnagenent of Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated (the Conpanyis responsible for establishing and
maintai ni ng adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exhange Act. The Conpany internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision of the Conpany chief ezcutive and chief financial officers to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliabilityof financial reporting and the preparation of the Conpany consolidated financial
statemnents for ekernal purposes in accordance wth the US. generallyaccepted accounting principles. The
Conpany internal control over financial reportingincludes policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyand fairlyreflect
transactions and dispositions of assets of the Conpany

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessaryto pernit preparation of
financial statenents in accordance wth US. generall yaccepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
ependitures are being nade onlyin accordance Wt h aut horiations of mnagenent and the directors of the
Conpanyand

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tinelydetection of unauthoried acquisition,
use or disposition of the Conpany assets that could have a material effect on the Conpany financial
statenents.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting maynot prevent or detect all
msstatenents. Also, projections of anyevaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk tha
control s maybecone i nadequate due to changes in conditions, or that the degree of conpliance wth the policies
or procedures mayleteriorate.

As of Januaryl, 2012, managenent assessed the effectiveness of the Conpany internal control over
financial reporting based on the framewrk establishadrunl Control — Integrated Framework i ssued byt he
Committee of Sponsoring (rganiations of the TreadwyCommission (CC80. Based on this assessnent,
managenent determned that the Conpany internal control over financial reporting as of Januaryl, 2012 ms
effective.

The effectiveness of the Conpany internal control over financial reporting as of Januaryl, 2012, has been
audi ted byPricesterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their
report appearing on page 109.

Mrch 16, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and St ockhol ders of Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated:

In our opinion,the consolidated financial statemnents listedinthe indexappearing under Iteml5(a)(1) present
fairlyinall material respects, the financial position of Coca-Cola Bottling Co.Consolidatedandits subsidiarie:
Januaryl, 2012 and January2, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flowfor each of the three
yars in the period ended Januaryl, 2012 in conformtyith accounting principles generallyaccepted in the
Lhited States of Anerica.Inaddition,inour opinion,the financial statenent schedule listedin the indexppearing
under Iteml5(a)(2) presents fairlyin all material respects, the information set forth therein ken read in
conjunctioniththe related consolidated financial statements. Alsoin our opinion, the Conpanymaintained,inall
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of Januaryl, 2012, based on criteria
established ¥mrernal Control—Integrated Framework issued bythe Comm ttee of Sponsoring (rganiations of
the TreadsyConmi ssion (COBO). The Conpany managenent is responsible for these financial statenents and
the financial statenent schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the acconpaniyng
Mnagenent$ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibilityis to epress opinions on
these financial statenents, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Conpany internal control over
financial reporting based onour integrated audits. W conducted our audits in accordance i h the standards of the
Publ i c ConpanyAccounting Oversi ght Board (Lhited States). Those standards require that splan and perform
the audits to obtainreasonable assurance about hether the financial statenents are free of material msstatenent
and hether effective internal control over financial reporting @ maintainedinall material respects. Qur audits
of the financial statenents included eam ning, on a test basis, evidence supporting the anounts and disclosures in
the financial statenents, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estinmates nade bymanagenent,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporti
included obt ai ni ng an underst andi ng of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a materi
wakness eksts, and testing and eval uating the desi gn and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Qur audits also included performng such other procedures as w considered necessaryin the
circunstances. W believe that our audits provide a reasonabl e basis for our opini ons.

A conpany internal control over financial reportingis a process designed to provide reasonabl e assurance
regarding the reliabilityof financial reporting and the preparation of financial statenents for ekernal purposes
accordance wh generallyaccepted accounting principles. A conpany internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail
accuratel yand fairlyeflect the transactions and di spositions of the assets of the conpany(ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessaryto pernit preparation of financial statenents in accordance
it h generallyaccepted accounting principles, and that receipts and ependi tures of the conpanyare bei ng made
onl yi n accordance it h aut horiations of managenent and directors of the conpanyand (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or tinelydetection of unauthoried acquisition, use, or disposition of the
conpany assets that could have a material effect onthe financial statenents.

Because of its inherent limtations, internal control over financial reporting nmaynot prevent or detect
msstatenents. Also, projections of anyevaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk tha
controls naybecone inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of conpliance th the
policies or procedures maydeteriorate.

fww Lt

Charlotte, North Carolina
Mrch 16, 2012
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The financial statenent schedul e required byRegul ation S-Xis set forthinresponse tolteml5 bel ow

The suppl enent arydata required byltem302 of Regulation S-Kis set forthin Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statenents.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered bythis report, the Conpanycarried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and wth the participation of the Conpany nanagenent, i ncluding the Conpany Chief Egcutive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Conpany tisclosure
controls and procedures”(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exhange Act of 1934 (the Exhange
Act)) pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exhange Act. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Ezcutive (fficer
and Chi ef Financial Officer concluded that the Conpany disclosure controls and procedures sre effective as of
Januaryl, 2012.

See page 108 for Mnagenent$ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.See page 109 for the
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”

There has been no change in the Conpany i nternal control over financial reporting duringthe quarter ended
Januaryl, 2012 that has materiallyaffected, or is reasonablylikelyto materiallyaffect, the Conpany internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

For information wth respect to the ezcutive officers of the Conpanysee Ezcutive (fficers of the
Conpanyincluded as a separate itemat the end of Part I of this Report. For information ith respect to the
Directors of the Conpanysee the Proposal 1: Election of Directors’section of the Proytatenent for the 2012
Annual Meting of Stockholders, hich is incorporated herein byreference. For information wth respect to
Section 16 reports, see the Additional Information About Directors and Ezcutive (fficers —Section 16(a)
Beneficial Gaership Reporting Conpliance”section of the ProxStatenent for the 2012 Annual Meting of
St ockhol ders, hichis incorporated herein byreference. For infornation ith respect tothe Audit Commttee of
the Board of Directors, see the Corporate Governance -Board Committees’section of the ProyStatenent for
the 2012 Annual Meting of Stockholders, hichis incorporatedhereinbyeference.

The Conpanyhas adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial (fficers, hichis intended to qualifyas a
tode of ethics’ithin the neaning of Item406 of Regul ation S-Kof the Ezhange Act (the Code of Ethics).
The Code of Ethics applies to the Conpany Chief Ezcutive (Officer; Chief (perating (fficer; Chief Financial
Officer; Chief Accounting (fficer; Vice President and Treasurer and anyother person performing simlar
functions. The Code of Ethics is available on the Conpany ®bsite at wokeconsolidated.com The
Conpanyi ntends to disclose anyubstantive anendnents to, or & vers fromits Code of Ethics onits sbsite or
inareport on Form8-K

Item 11. Executive Compensation

For information wth respect to escutive and director conpensation, see the Ezcutive Conpensation
Tabl es,”Addi tional Information About Directors and Excutive (fficers -Conpensation Committee Interlocks
and Insider Participation,”Conpensation Committee Report,”Director Conpensation”and Corporate
Governance -Fthe Board$ Role in Risk Oversi ght sections of the Proytatenent for the 2012 Annual Meting
of Stockhol ders, ki ch are incorporated herein byeference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

For information th respect to securityomership of certain beneficial omers and managenent, see the
Principal Stockholders”and SecurityOuership of Directors and Excutive (fficers”sections of the Prox
Statenent for the 2012 Annual Meting of Stockholders, hich are incorporated herein byreference. For
information Wwh respect to securities authoried for issuance under equityconpensation plans, see the Equity
Conpensation Plan Information”section of the ProyStatenent for the 2012 Annual Meting of Stockholders,
hichis incorporatedhereinbyeference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

For information Wth respect to certain relationships and related transactions, see the Related Person
Transactions’section of the ProyStatenent for the 2012 Annual Meting of Stockholders, kichis incorporated
herein byreference. For certain information Wth respect to director independence, see the disclosures in the
Corporate Governancesection of the ProyStatenent for the 2012 Annual Meting of Stockhol ders regarding
director independence, i ch are i ncorporated herein byeference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

For information Wwth respect to principal accountant fees and services, see Proposal 2: Ratification of
Appoi ntnent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firniof the ProxStatenent for the 2012 Annual
Meting of Stockholders, hichis incorporated hereinbyeference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) List of docunents filedas part of this report.
1. Financial Statements

Consolidated Statenents of (perations

Consol i dated Bal ance Sheet s

Consolidated Statenents of Cash Fl ow

Consolidated Statenents of Changes in St ockhol ders’Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statenents

Mnagenent § Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

2. Financial Statement Schedule
Schedul e IT Val uation and Qualifyng Accounts and Reser ves

All other financial statenents and schedules not listed have been omitted because the required
informationis includedin the consolidated financial statenents or the notes thereto, or is not applicabl
or required.

3. Listing of Exhibits

The agreenents includedinthe followwngekibits tothis report are included to provide informtionregarding
their terns and are not intended to provide anyther factual or disclosure infornation about the Conpanyor the
other parties to the agreenents. Sone of the agreenents contain representations and srranties byeach of the
parties tothe applicable agreenents. These representations and srranties have been nade sol el yfor the benefit of
the other parties tothe applicable agreenents and:

eshouldnot inall instances be treated as categorical statenents of fact, but rather as a syof allocating the
risktoone of the parties if those statenents prove t o be i naccurate;

e mayhave been qualified bydisclosures that wre nade to the other partyin connection th the
negotiation of the applicable agreenent, i chdisclosures are not necessarilyeflectedinthe agreenent;

e mayappl ywtandards of naterialityina sythat is different fromhat naye viewd as naterial to yu or
other investors; and

e wre nade onl yas of the date of the applicable agreenent or such other date or dates as naybe specified
inthe agreenent and are subject tonmore recent devel opnents.

Accordingl ythese representations and srranties maynot describe the actual state of affairs as of the date
theysr e nade or at anyt her tine.
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Exhibit Index

Incorporated by Reference
Number Description or Filed Herewith

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Conpany Ekibit 3.1 tothe Conpany
QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
for the quarter ended June 29,
2003 (File No. 0-9286).

3.2) Anended and Rest at ed Byawof t he Conpany Ekibit 3.1 tothe Conpany
Current Report on Form§8-K
filed on Decenber 10, 2007
(File No. 0-9286).

4.1 Specinen of Common St ock Certificate. Ehibit 4.1 to the Conpany
Registration Statenent (File
No. 2-97822) on For mS-1 as
filed on My31, 1985.

4.2) Suppl enent al Indenture, dated as of Mrch 3, 1995, bet sen t he Ekibit 4.2 to the Conpany
Conpanyand Ci tibank, NA. (as successor to NationsBank of Annual Report on For m10-K
Georgia, National Association,theinitial trustee). for the fiscal gar ended

Decenber 29, 2002
(File No. 0-9286).

4.3) Officers’Certificate pursuant to Sections 102 and 301 of the Ekibit 4.2 to the Conpan¥
Indenture, dated as of Jul 20, 1994, as suppl enented and restated Qyarterl yReport on Form10-Q
t he Suppl enent al Indenture, dated as of Mirch 3, 1995, betwen t he for the quarter ended Jul ¥,
Conpanyand The Bank of Nework M11on Trust ConpanyNA., 2010 (File No. 0-9286).
as successor trustee,relatingtothe establishnent of the Conpany
$110,000,000 aggregate principal anount of 7.00% Seni or Not es

due 2019.

4.4) Resol utions adopted byEgcutive Comnm ttee of the Board of Ehibit 4.3 to the Conpany
Directors of the Conpanyelatedtothe establishnent of the QuarterlyReport on For ml 0Q
Conpany $110,000,000 aggregate principal anount of 7.00% for the quarter ended Jul ¥,
Seni or Notes due 2019. 2010 (File No. 0-9286).

4.5) For mof t he Conpany 5.00% Seni or Notes due 2012. Ekibit 4.1 to the Conpany

Current Report on For m§8-K
filed on Novenber 21, 2002
(File No. 0-9286).

(4.6) For mof t he Conpany 5.30% Seni or Notes due 2015. Ekibit 4.1 to the Conpany
Current Report on Form8-K
filed on Mirch 27, 2003
(File No. 0-9286).

“4.7) For mof t he Conpany 5.00% Seni or Notes due 2016. Ehibit 4.1 to the Conpany
Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q
for the quarter ended Qct ober 2,
2005 (File No. 0-9286).

(4.8) For mof t he Conpany 7.00% Seni or Notes due 2019. Ekibit 4.1 to the Conpany
Current Report on FormS§- K
filed on April 7,2009
(File No. 0-9286).

4.9) Third Anended and Restated PronissoryNote, dated as of June 16, Ekibit 4.1 tothe Conpan¥y
2010, byand bet ®en t he Conpanyand Pi ednont Coca-Col a QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
Bottling Partnership. for the quarter ended Jul ¥,

2010 (File No. 0-9286).
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Number

Incorporated by Reference
Description or Filed Herewith

(4.10)

(10.1)

(10.2)

(10.3)

(10.4)

(10.5)

(10.6)

(10.7)

(10.8)

(10.9)

The registrant, byigning this report,agrees tofurnishthe Securities
and Exhange Commi ssion, uponits request, a copyf any nstrunent

i ch defines the rights of holders of 1 ong-termdebt of the registrant
andits consolidated subsidiaries hichauthories atotal anount of
securities not inexess of 10 percent of the total assets of the
registrant andits subsidiaries ona consolidated basis.

US. $200,000,000 Credit Agreenent, dated as of Septenber 21, 2011Ekibit 10.1 to t he Conpany

byand anong t he Conpanyt he banks naned t herein and JP Mr gan Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q

Chase Bank, NA., as Adnministrative Agent. for the quarter ended Qct ober 2,
2011 (File No. 0-9286).

Anended and Rest at ed Gaar ant yAgreenent , effective as of Jul yi5, Ekibit 10.10 t o t he Conpany
1993, nade byt he Conpanyand each of the ot her guarantor parties Annual Report on For m10-K
theretoinfavor of Trust ConpanyBank and Teachers Insurance andor the fiscal gar ended

Annui t yAssoci ation of Anerica. Decenber 29, 2002

(File No. 0-9286).
Anended and Rest at ed Giarant yAgreenent , dated as of Myl8, Ekibit 10.17 t o t he Conpany
2000, made byt he Conpanyi n favor of Wichovi a Bank, NA. Annual Report on For m10-K

for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 30, 2001
(File No. 0-9286).

Guar ant yAgreenent , dated as of Decenber 1, 2001, nade byt he Ekibit 10.18 to t he Conpany
Conpanyi n favor of Wchovi a, Bank, NA. Annual Report on Form10-K
for the fiscal yar ended
Decenber 30, 2001
(File No. 0-9286).

Anended and Rest ated St ock Ri ghts and Restrictions Agreenent, Ekibit 10.1 to t he Conpany
dat ed Februaryl9, 2009, byand anong t he ConpanyThe Coca-Col a Current Report on For m§8-K
ConpanyCarol i na Coca-Col a Bottling Investnents, Inc. and J. Frafiik ed on Februaryl19, 2009

Harrison, ITI. (File No. 0-9286).
Termination of Irrevocabl e Proxand Voting Agreenent, dated Ekibit 10.2 to the Conpany
Februaryl9, 2009, byand bet sen The Coca-Col a Conpany Current Report on For m§8-K
and J. Frank Harrison, I11. filed on Februaryl9, 2009

(File No. 0-9286).

For mof Mister Bottle Contract (Col a Beverage Agreenent ), nade Ekibit 10.1 to t he Conpany

and enteredinto, effective January27, 1989, bet sen The Coca-Col aQuarterl yReport on Form10-Q
Conpanyand t he Conpanyt oget her it h For mof Fbne Mir ket for the quarter ended Cct ober 3,
Anendnent to Mster Bottle Contract, effective as of 2010 (File No. 0-9286).

Qct ober 29, 1999.

Formof Allied Bottle Contract (Allied Beverage Agreenent ), nabdki bit 10.2 t o t he Conpany
andenteredinto, effective Januaryl 1, 1990, bet wen The Coca-Col aQuarter] yReport on Form10-Q

Conpanyand t he Conpanyas successor to Coca-Col a Bottling for the quarter ended Cct ober 3,
Conpanyf Anderson, S.C.). 2010 (File No. 0-9286).

Letter Agreenent, dated January27, 1989, bet wen The Coca-Cola Ekibit 10.3 to the Conpany
Conpanyand t he Conpanynodi fiyng t he Col a Beverage QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
Agreenents and Allied Beverage Agreenents. for the quarter ended Cct ober 3,

2010 (File No. 0-9286).
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Incorporated by Reference
Description or Filed Herewith

(10.10)

(10.11)

(10.12)

(10.13)

(10.14)

(10.15)

(10.16)

(10.17)

(10.18)

(10.19)

(10.20)

For mof Mrketing and Distribution Agreenent (Still Beverage Ekibit 10.4to the Conpany
Agreenent ), made and entered into effective Gctober 1, 2000, QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
bet wen The Coca-Col a Conpanynd t he Conpanyas successor to  for the quarter ended (et ober 3,

Mtrolina Bottling Conpany, ithrespect to Dasani. 2010 (File No. 0-9286).

Formof Letter Agreenent, dated Decenber 10, 2001, betwen The  Ekibit 10.5 t o t he Conpany
Coca-Col a Conpanyand t he Conpanyt oget her it h Letter Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q
Agreenent, dated Decenber 14, 1994, nodi fyng the Still Beveragefor the quarter ended Oct ober 3,
Agreenents. 2010 (File No. 0-9286).

Incidence Pricing Letter Agreenent (Pricing Agreenent ), dated Ekibit 10.6 t o t he Conpany

Mr ch 16, 2009, bet men The Coca-Col a Conpanybyand t hr ough QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
its Coca-Cola North Anerica division, and t he Conpany** for the quarter ended Cct ober 3,

2010 (File No. 0-9286).

Anendnent No. 2 to Pricing Agreenent, dated Decenber 15,2011, Ekibit 10.1 to the Conpany

bet wen t he Conpanyand The Coca-Col a Conpanybyand t hr ough Current Report on For m§8-K

its Coca-Cola North Anerica di vi sion. filed on Decenber 22, 2011
(File No. 0-9286).

Letter Agreenent, dated as of Mrch 10, 2008, byand bet ®en t he Ekibit 10.1 to t he Conpany

Conpanynd The Coca-Col a Conpany** Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q
for the quarter ended Mrch 30,
2008 (File No. 0-9286).

Lease, dated as of Januaryl, 1999, byand bet ®en t he Conpany Ekibit 10.5 to the Conpany
and Ragl and Cor por ation. Annual Report on Form10-K
for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 31, 2000
(File No. 0-9286).

First Anendnent to Lease and First Anendnent to Mmorandum  Ekibit 10.33 to t he Conpany

of Lease, dated as of August 30, 2002, bet ®en t he Conpanyand Annual Report on For m10-K

Ragl and Cor poration. for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 29, 2002
(File No. 0-9286).

Lease Agreenent, dated as of Mirch 23,2009, bet wen t he Conpany Ekibit 10.1 t o t he Conpany

and Harrison Li m ted Partnership Che. Current Report on For m§8-K
filed on Mirrch 26, 2009
(File No. 0-9286).

Lease Agreenent, dated as of Decenber 18, 2006, betsen CCBCC Ekibit 10.1 t o t he Conpany

(perations, LLC and Beacon Invest nent Cor porati on. Current Report on For m§-K
filed on Decenber 21, 2006
(File No. 0-9286).

LimtedLiabilityConpanyperating Agreenent of Coca-Col a Ekibit 10.35to t he Conpany
Bottlers’Sales & Services ConpanyLLC, nade as of Januaryl, Annual Report on Form10-K
2003, byand bet sen Coca-Col a Bottlers’Sales & Services Conpanyfor the fiscal gar ended
LLC and Consol i dated Beverage Co., a kol ] yomed subsi di ar yof Decenber 29, 2002

t he Conpany (File No. 0-9286).
Partnership Agreenent of Piednont Coca-Col a Bottling Partnerslhipbit 10.7 t o t he Conpany
(fornerl yknowas Carolina Coca-Col a Bottling Partnership), dat édinnual Report on Form10-K
as of Jul 2, 1993, byand anong Car ol i na Coca-Col a Bott1ing for the fiscal yar ended
Investnents, Inc., Coca-Cola Ventures, Inc., Coca-Col a Bot t1ing Oacenber 29, 2002
Affiliated, Inc., Fagtteville Coca-Cola Bottling Conpanyand (File No. 0-9286).

Pal net t o Bott1ing Conpany
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Number Description or Filed Herewith

(10.21) Mster Anendnent to Partnership Agreenent, Minagenent Ekibit 10.1 to the Conpany
Agreenent and Definitionand Adjustnent Agreenent, dated as ofCurrent Report on For m8-K
January2, 2002, byand anong Pi ednont Coca-Col a Bottling filed on Januaryl4, 2002

(10.22)

(10.23)

(10.24)

(10.25)

(10.26)

(10.27)

(10.28)

(10.29)

(10.30)

(10.31)

Partnershi p, CCBC of W1 m ngton, Inc., The Coca-Col a Conpany (File No. 0-9286).

Pi ednont Partnership Bl di ng ConpanyCoca-Col a Ventures, Inc.

and t he Conpany

Fourth Anendnent to Partnership Agreenent, dated as of Mrch 28Ekibit 4.2 to t he Conpany
2003, byand anong Pi ednont Coca-Col a Bottling Partnership, Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q
Pi ednont Partnership Bl di ng Conpanyand Coca-Col a Ventures, for the quarter ended Mrch 30,
Inc. 2003 (File No. 0-9286).
Mnagenent Agreenent, dated as of Jul 2, 1993, byand anong the  Ekibit 10.8 t o t he Conpany
ConpanyPi ednont Coca-Col a Bottling Partnership (fornerl jknowAnnual Report on Form10-K
as Carolina Coca-Col a Bottling Partnership), CCBC of Wl ningtfoor; the fiscal gar ended
Inc., Carolina Coca-Col a Bottling Investnents, Inc., Coca-Cola Decenber 29, 2002

Ventures, Inc. and Pal nett o Bot t1i ng Conpany (File No. 0-9286).
First Anendnent to Mnagenent Agreenent (relatingtothe Ekibit 10.14 t o t he Conpany
Mnagenent Agreenent designated as Ekibit 10.23 of this Eki bit Annual Report on For m10-K
Indexeffective as of Januaryl, 2001. for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 31, 2000
(File No. 0-9286).
Mnagenent Agreenent, dated as of June 1, 2004, byand anong Ekibit 10.1 to t he Conpany
CCBCC (perations, LLC, a kol | yomed subsi di aryof the Quarterl yReport on Form10-Q
Conpanyand South Atlantic Canners, Inc. for the quarter ended June 27,
2004 (File No. 0-9286).
Agreenent, dated as of Mirch 1, 1994, bet wen t he Conpanyand Ekibit 10.12 t o t he Conpany
South Atlantic Canners, Inc. Annual Report on For m10-K
for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 29, 2002
(File No. 0-9286).
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated Anended and Rest at ed Annwhppendi B t o t he Conpany

Bonus Plan, effective Januaryl, 2007.* ProySt atenent for the 2007
Annual Meting of
St ockhol ders (File No. 0-9286).
Coca-Col a Bott1ing Co. Consolidated Long-Ter mPer f or nance Pl addppendi C t o t he Conpany
effective Januaryl, 2007.* Proytatenent for the 2007
Annual Meting of
St ockhol ders (File No. 0-9286).
For mof Long-Ter mPer for nance Pl an Bonus Aswrd Agreenent .* Ekibit 10.2 tothe Conpany
QuarterlyReport on Form10-Q
for the quarter ended Jul ¥4,
2010 (File No. 0-9286).
Performance thit Asrd Agreenent, dated February27, 2008.* Appendi XA t o t he Conpany
ProySt atenent for the 2008
Annual Meting of
St ockhol ders (File No. 0-9286).
Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated Suppl enent al Savings Incehiled hereirt h.
Pl an, as anended andrestated effective Novenber 1, 2011.%*
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Incorporated by Reference

Number Description or Filed Herewith
(10.32) Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated Director Deferral Plan, Ekibit 10.17 to t he Conpany
effective Januaryl, 2005.* Annual Report on Form10-K

for the fiscal gar ended
Januaryl, 2006
(File No. 0-9286).
(10.33) Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated (fficer Retention Plan, asEkibit 10.4 t o t he Conpany
amended and restated effecti ve Januaryl, 2007.* QuarterlyReport on Forml10-Q
for the quarter ended April 1,
2007 (File No. 0-9286).
(10.34) Anendnent No. 1 to Coca-Col a Bottling Co. Consolidated OfficerEkibit 10.32 t o t he Conpany
Retention Plan, as anended and restated effective Januaryl, 2009.Annual Report on For m10-K
for the fiscal gar ended
Decenber 28, 2008
(File No. 0-9286).
(10.35) Life Insurance Benefit Agreenent, effective as of Decenber 28, BBd®it 10.37 t o t he Conpany
byand bet ®en t he Conpanyand Jan MHarrison, Trustee under the  Annual Report on For m10-K
J.Frank Harrison, ITI 2003 Irrevocabl e Trust, John R Mr gan, for the fiscal gar ended

Trustee under the Harrison Fam 12003 Irrevocabl e Trust, Decenber 28, 2003
and J. Frank Harrison, ITI.* (File No. 0-9286).

(10.36) Formof Anended and Restated Split-Dollar and Deferred Ekibit 10.24 t o t he Conpany
Conpensation Repl acenent Benefit Agreenent, effective as of Annual Report on Form10-K
Novenber 1, 2005, bet ®en t he Conpanyand el i gi bl e enpl oges for the fiscal gar ended
of the Conpany* Januaryl, 2006

(File No. 0-9286).
(10.37) Formof Split-Dollar and Deferred Conpensation Replacenent  Ekibit 10.1to the Conpan¥y

Benefit Agreenent El ection Formand Agreenent Anendnent, Current Report on For m§-K
effective as of June 20, 2005, bet wen t he Conpanyand certain filed on June 24, 2005
ezcutive of ficers of the Conpany* (File No. 0-9286).

(12) Ratio of earnings to fiadcharges. Filed hereit h.

201 List of subsidiaries. Filed hereith.

(31.1)  Certificationpursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- CkeyAct of Xi(2%ed hereint h.
(31.2)  Certificationpursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- CkeyAct of 2(2%d hereirt h.

32) Certificationpursuant to 18 US.C. Section 1350, as adopt ed pur suaiki t ed her et h.
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-CkeyAct of 2002.
101 Financial statenent fromthe annual report on Forml0-Kof Coca-Col a
Bottling Co. Consolidated for the fiscal gar ended Januaryl, 2012, filed
on Mrch 16,2012, fornat ted i n XBRL (Ekensi bl e Business Reporting
Language): (i) the Consolidated Statenents of (perations; (ii)the
Consolidated Bal ance Sheets; (iii)the Consolidated Statenents of
Changes in Equi t y(i v) t he Consol i dated St atenent s of Cash Fl osvand
(v) the Notes tothe Consolidated Financial Statenents tagged as bl ocks
of tek.

Mnagenent contracts and conpensatorypl ans and arrangenents required tobe filed as ekibits tothis form
pursuant toIteml5(c) of this report.

*#*% Certain portions of the ekibit have been onitted and filed separatel yith the Securities and Ezhange
Commi ssion. Confidential treatnent has beenrequested for such portions of the ekibit.

(b) Ekibits.
See Iteml5(a)3

(c) Financial Statenent Schedul es.
See [teml5(a)2
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Fiscal gar ended Januaryl, 2012
Fiscal gar ended January?, 2011
Fiscal gar ended January3, 2010

Fiscal gar ended Januaryl, 2012
Fiscal gar ended January2, 2011
Fiscal gar ended January3, 2010

Schedule 11
COCA-COLA BOTTLING CO. CONSOLIDATED
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Deferred Income Tax Valuation Allowance

118

Additions
Balance at Charged to Balance
Beginning  Costs and at End
of Year Expenses  Deductions  of Year
$1,300 $ 518 $297 $1,521
$2,187  $ (445) $442  $1,300
$1,188 $1,593 $594 $2,187
Additions
Balanceat Chargedto  Additions Balance
Beginning  Costsand  Charged to at End
of Year Expenses Other Deductions  of Year
$499 $707 $286 $28  $1,464
$530 $ 25 $— 856 $ 499
$535 $ 41 $ — %46 $ 530
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Pursuant tothe requirenents of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exhange Act of 1934, the registrant has
dul ycaused this report tobe signed onits behal f byt he undersi gned, t her eunt o dul yaut hori ed.
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(REGQ STRANT )

Date: Mirch 16, 2012 By /s/ J.Frank Harrison, I11
J. Frank Harrison, 111
Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
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William H. Jones
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James H. Morgan
By /s/ J oN WM WRrey , 111 Director Mrch 16, 2012
John W. Murrey, 111
By /s/ D ENNS A. WICKER Director Mrch 16, 2012
Dennis A. Wicker
By /s/ J aMes E. HARRIS Seni or M ce President, Shared Services and Mrch 16, 2012
James E. Harris Chief Financial (fficer
By /s/ W I1LLIAMJ. BILLI ARD M ce President, (perations Finance and  Mrch 16, 2012
William J. Billiard Chi ef Accounting (fficer
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BOTTLING Co.

CONSOLIDATED

CORP(RATE I NFCRVATI ON

Transfer Agent and Dividend Disbursing Agent

The Company's transfer agent is responsible for stockholder records, issuance of stock certificates
and distribution of dividend payments and IRS Form 1099s. The transfer agent also administers plans
for dividend reinvestment and direct deposit. Stockholder requests and inquiries concerning these
matters are most efficiently answered by corresponding directly with American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, LLC, 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219. Communication may also be made by
telephone Toll-Free (866) 627-2648 or via the Internet at www.amstock.com.

Stock Listing
The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (Global Select Market)
NASDAQ Symbol - COKE

Company Website

www.cokeconsolidated.com

The Company makes available free of charge through its Internet website its Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to
those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Corporate Office
The corporate office is located at 4100 Coca-Cola Plaza, Charlotte, North Carolina 28211. The
mailing address is Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated, P. O. Box 31487, Charlotte, NC 28231.

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated will be held at the
Marriott SouthPark, 2200 Rexford Road, Charlotte, NC 28211 on Tuesday, May 8, 2012, at 9:00 a.m.,
local time.

Form 10-K and Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

A copy of the Company’s Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission (Form 10-K)
and its Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers is available to stockholders without charge
upon written request to James E. Harris, Senior Vice President, Shared Services and Chief
Financial Officer, Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidated, P. O. Box 31487, Charlotte, North
Carolina 28231. This information may also be obtained from the Company’s website listed
above.
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